Strengthening interventions for people after stroke

Davide Gabriel de Sousa Bachelor of Science (Hons) (Physiotherapy)

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of **Doctor of Philosophy**

John Walsh Centre for Rehabilitation Research Sydney Medical School - Northern The University of Sydney

2020

Candidate's statement

I, Davide Gabriel de Sousa, hereby declare that this submission is my own work and that it does not contain material that has been accepted for the award of another degree.

I, Davide Gabriel de Sousa understand that if I am awarded a higher degree for my thesis entitled "Strengthening interventions for people after stroke" being lodged herewith for examination, the thesis will be lodged in the university library and will be available immediately for use. I agree that the university librarian (or in the case of a departmental library, the head of department) may supply a photocopy or microform of the thesis to an individual for research or study or to a library.

Signed

Date: 30-Aug-2019

As supervisor of Davide Gabriel de Sousa's doctoral work, I certify that I consider this thesis "Strengthening interventions for people after stroke" to be suitable for examination.

Professor Lisa Anne Harvey, Primary Supervisor, John Walsh Centre for Rehabilitation Research, Faculty of Medicine, The University of Sydney.

Signed

Date: 30-Aug-2019

Dr Simone Dorsch, Secondary Supervisor, Faculty of Health Sciences, Australian Catholic University.

Signed

Date: 30-Aug-2019

Abstract

Stroke is one of the leading causes of death and disability. Muscle weakness (or loss of voluntary muscle strength) in the paretic arm and leg is one of the most common impairments after stroke. Muscle weakness has been identified as one of the main contributors to activity limitations (such as walking or reaching and manipulation) and participation restrictions. Many people who are very weak and immobile after stroke have few options for exercising independently and few studies have specifically investigated this issue. Many people after stroke also have difficulty standing up due to weakness and poor coordination. The inability to stand up can be very disabling and can lead to increased burden of care. Again, few studies have specifically investigated this issue in people who are very weak and immobile.

This thesis includes a systematic review that investigated the effects of commonly-used interventions to improve strength and activity after stroke. This thesis also includes a randomised controlled trial investigating the effects of providing a strengthening intervention (Functional Electrical Stimulation cycling) that can provide more opportunities for people who are very weak and immobile after acquired brain injury to exercise independently, and a randomised controlled trial investigating if intensive sit-to-stand training improves lower limb strength and the ability to stand up in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke.

Study one was a systematic review of 52 randomised controlled trials with meta-analysis, investigating if interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke, and if any improvements in strength are accompanied by improvements in activity. Forty-six studies with a total of 1928 participants investigated the effects of repetitive practice on strength. The

overall SMD of repetitive practice on strength when the upper and lower limb studies were combined was 0.25 SD (95% CI 0.16 to 0.34, $I^2 = 44\%$) in favour of repetitive practice. These results indicate that interventions involving repetitive practice *do* improve strength after stroke, and improvements in strength *are* accompanied by improvements in activity.

Study two was an assessor-blinded, multi-centre randomised controlled trial investigating the effects of Functional Electrical Stimulation (FES) cycling on mobility and strength after acquired brain injury caused by stroke or trauma. Forty patients from three hospitals with recently acquired brain injury were randomised to an experimental group which received four weeks of FES cycling in addition to usual care, or a control group which received usual care only. The mean between-group differences (95% CI) for mobility and strength of the knee extensors of the paretic lower limb were -0.3/21 points (-3.2 to 2.7) and 7.5 Nm (-5.1 to 20.2), respectively, where positive values favoured the experimental group. These results indicate that FES cycling does not improve mobility in people with acquired brain injury and its effects on strength are unclear.

Study three was an assessor-blinded, multi-centre randomised controlled trial investigating the effects of intensive sit-to-stand training on sit-to-stand ability and gross lower limb extension strength in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke. Thirty patients from two hospitals, less than three months after stroke were randomised to an experimental group which received two weeks of intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care, or a control group which received usual care only. The mean between-group differences (95% CI) for clinicians' impressions of sit-to-stand change and gross lower limb extension strength were 1.57/15 points (0.02 to 3.11) and 6.2 degrees (0.5 to 11.9), respectively. These results indicate that two weeks of intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand Page 5 of 118

ability and gross lower limb extension strength in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke.

The results from this research program suggest that:

- Interventions involving repetitive practice should be prioritised in stroke rehabilitation programs because these interventions can improve both strength and activity after stroke.
- 2. Functional Electrical Stimulation cycling in addition to usual care may provide more opportunities for people who are very weak and immobile after acquired brain injury caused by stroke or trauma to improve lower limb strength, but there are no accompanied improvements in mobility.
- 3. Intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand ability and gross lower limb extension strength in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke.

More clinical trials are needed to better understand the effects of different amounts of strengthening interventions that promote repetitive practice for different tasks, and in different subgroups of people after stroke (i.e. weak versus very weak).

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to *Professor Lisa Harvey* for all the time, effort and encouragement throughout my candidature. I greatly admire your commitment to me (and your students). You have been extremely patient when I have asked the same question many times and you have carefully taken time to explain difficult concepts that I have not understood. You have also encouraged me to see beyond 'the hype' and conduct research in a clear, objective way. You have made a lasting impact on me and will always be remembered fondly and with great respect.

I would also like to thank *Dr Simone Dorsch* for your support and time you have invested into me. Your dedication to improving standards of care for people after stroke was one of the main inspirations for me undertaking a PhD. You have provided me with much needed insight into the content of my research, and at times prioritised assisting me despite your teaching commitments.

I would like to express my love and appreciation to all my friends and family who have cheered me on and celebrated my accomplishments. Specifically, I want to thank my dear mother *Annamaria de Sousa* for the constant encouragement and prayer. No one will ever fully comprehend what sacrifices you have made for me, but I know – Thank you. *Sarah Ewen* and *Wendy Auld*, you have both cheered me on and put up with my whinging (or moods) over the years – Thank you.

To the participants of this research program and to all people affected by stroke. I acknowledge your challenges and stand with you to regain your independence. This research is for you.

Contents

Page 8 of 118

Progressive Resistance Training41		
Summary47		
Dosage of motor training48		
Summary		
Chapter 3 Interv	rentions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke: a systematic	
review		
Chapter 4 Funct	tional electrical stimulation cycling does not improve mobility in people with	
acquired brain in	njury and its effects on strength are unclear: a randomised trial66	
Chapter 5 Two weeks of intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-		
to-stand in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke: a randomised trial74		
Chapter 6 Discussion		
Primary objectives of the research program		
Key findings of the research program		
Overview of the research program		
Study one: a systematic review		
Study two: a randomised controlled trial		
Study three: a randomised controlled trial90		
Chapter 7 Conclusion		
References		
Appendix A	Search strategy for study one106	
Appendix B	Details of interventions of the included studies for study one108	
Appendix C	Activity measures of the upper and lower limb for study one110	
Appendix D	Relative change from baseline strength for the upper and lower limb, early and	
	late after stroke for study one111 Page 9 of 118	

Appendix E	Sensitivity analyses exploring the effects of various methodological aspects of
	the included studies in the primary meta-analysis for strength for study one112
Appendix F	Relative change from baseline strength for the upper limb interventions for
	study one
Appendix G	Relative change from baseline strength for the lower limb interventions for
	study one114
Appendix H	The effect of repetitive practice versus no intervention or sham on upper limb
	strength for study one
Appendix I	The effect of repetitive practice versus no intervention or sham on lower limb
	<i>strength</i> for study one116
Appendix J	Individual participant data for study two117
Appendix K	Individual participant data for study three118

Chapter 1 Introduction

Background and rationale

Muscle weakness (or loss of voluntary muscle strength) after stroke is a common and important impairment. Some studies estimate a loss of 50 to 70% strength in the paretic upper and lower limbs when compared to aged-matched controls [1-4]. This loss of strength has been identified as one of the main contributors to activity limitations [5-7] (such as limitations in walking or reaching and manipulation) and participation restrictions [8] after stroke.

To regain the ability to use the paretic upper and lower limbs, people after stroke participate in repetitive practice of tasks such as walking or reaching and manipulation [9]. This repetitive practice is a major component of rehabilitation after stroke [10]. Some interventions used to promote repetitive practice include constraint-induced movement therapy, body weight supported treadmill walking, or robotic devices. There are systematic reviews [11-14] supporting the use of these interventions to improve *activity* of the paretic upper and lower limbs, however, less is known about the effects of repetitive practice on *strength* after stroke and no systematic reviews have specifically investigated this issue.

Therefore, the aim of study one (a systematic review) was to determine if interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke, and if any improvements in strength are accompanied by improvements in activity.

Whilst it is known that repetitive practice of walking in combination with strengthening interventions improves walking [9], many people after stroke never regain the ability to walk. One estimate indicates that 40% of people after stroke who are unable to walk on admission to Page 11 of 118

rehabilitation are still unable to walk at three months [15]. One reason for this could be because many patients who are very weak and immobile after stroke have few options for exercising independently and often require assistance from one or more physiotherapists, which is costly and time consuming. These patients often remain inactive for as much as 70% of the day [16-18] and have less opportunities to improve their lower limb strength, which is a major determinant of walking. Systematic reviews indicate that FES improves upper and lower limb strength and activity [19 20]. However, these reviews did not include trials investigating the effects of FES cycling. There are also very few randomised controlled trials investigating the effects of FES cycling on lower limb strength and mobility in people after stroke. The two trials that do exist have not conclusively answered this question, that is, one showed improvements in lower limb strength but not mobility [21], and the other showed improvements in mobility but not lower limb strength [22]. Additionally, few studies have specifically investigated ways of providing more opportunities for people who are very weak and immobile to exercise independently.

Therefore, the aim of study two (a randomised controlled trial) was to determine if four weeks FES cycling in addition to usual care improves mobility and strength in people with a sub-acute acquired brain injury caused by stroke or trauma. Functional Electrical Stimulation cycling is appealing to physiotherapists because it is a relatively inexpensive intervention that does not require direct assistance. Functional Electrical Stimulation cycling also allows people who are very weak and immobile after stroke to perform a strengthening intervention independently while physiotherapists assist other patients with their rehabilitation programs.

After stroke, many people have difficulty standing up due to weakness and poor coordination. The inability to stand up can be very disabling [23] and can lead to increased burden of care Page 12 of 118 [24]. There is some indication from systematic reviews that large amounts of repetitive practice improves functional outcomes after stroke [25-28]. However, there are very few randomised controlled trials investigating if large amounts of repetitive sit-to-stand training is effective in people after stroke. Trials investigating the effects of additional sit-to-stand training have not conclusively answered this question, because they recruited people who can already stand up independently [29-32] or had methodological issues affecting the validity of the results [33]. Furthermore, people in the early stages of rehabilitation after stroke may not be able to tolerate large amounts of repetitive sit-to-stand training and this has not been investigated.

Therefore, the aim of study three (a randomised controlled trial) was to determine if intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand ability in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke. Secondary aims were to determine if large amounts of sit-to-stand training are well tolerated in the early stages of stroke recovery, and if any improvements in sit-to-stand are accompanied by improvements in lower limb strength.

In summary, the primary objectives of this research program were:

- 1. To determine if interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke, and if any improvements in strength are accompanied by improvements in activity.
- 2. To determine if four weeks FES cycling in addition to usual care improves mobility and strength in people with a sub-acute acquired brain injury caused by stroke or trauma.
- To determine if intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand ability and gross lower limb extension strength in people who are very weak and immobile after stroke.

Outline of thesis

This thesis consists of six chapters.

Chapter 1

Background and rationale for this research program.

Chapter 2

A critical review of the literature relating to the loss of strength after stroke and interventions that improve strength and activity.

Chapter 3

A systematic review

Project title: Interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke: a systematic review.

Chapter 4

A randomised controlled trial

Project title: *Functional electrical stimulation cycling does not improve mobility in people with acquired brain injury and its effects on strength are unclear: a randomised trial.*

Chapter 5

A randomised controlled trial

Project title: *Two weeks of intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sitto-stand in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke: a randomised trial*

Chapter 6

A summary of the primary objectives and key findings of this research program and an overview of each study conducted in this research program including results, strengths, limitations and implications for future research.

Chapter 2 Literature Review

Overview of acquired brain injury

Acquired brain injury (ABI) refers to any damage to the brain that occurs after birth. This damage can be caused by stroke, trauma, infection, cancer, alcohol, drugs, or diseases affecting the brain like Parkinson's disease and Multiple Sclerosis [34]. It is estimated that over 700,000 Australians are living with ABI with three out of every four aged under 65 years and male [34].

Stroke is the leading cause of ABI and disability in Australia [<u>34</u> <u>35</u>]. Approximately 56,000 strokes occur each year in Australia, equating to over 1,000 strokes every week or one every 9 minutes [<u>35</u>]. Globally, stroke is the highest contributor of neurological disability-adjusted life years (DALYs: the sum of years of life lost and years lived with disability) (42.2% [<u>38.6–</u> 46.1])[<u>36</u>] and the second leading cause of DALYs [<u>37</u>].

As much as 65% of people following stroke have a disability that prevents them from carrying out daily living activities unassisted [35]. Activity limitation following stroke leads to participation restrictions and may impact on quality of life.

Classification of stroke

Strokes can be classified into two major categories: Ischaemic and Haemorrhagic. Both categories of stroke cause disruption of blood supply to the brain resulting in death to brain cells in the area of the infarct. This cell death commonly results in weakness and other impairments on the contralateral side of the body [38].

Ischaemic strokes are caused by interruption of the blood supply to the brain through four mechanisms:

- 1. Thrombosis (obstruction of a blood vessel by a blood clot forming locally)
- 2. Embolism (obstruction of a blood vessel by an embolus formed elsewhere in the body)
- 3. Systemic hypo-perfusion (systemic decrease in blood supply)
- 4. Cerebral venous sinus thrombosis (blood clot in the cerebral veins or sinuses)

Ischaemic strokes account for approximately 80% of all stroke episodes [<u>38</u>]. There are various classification systems for ischaemic stroke. The Bamford (or Oxford) classification system is commonly used and categorises stroke based on initial presenting symptoms and clinical signs [<u>39</u>]. A classification of stroke is assigned to people based on the findings of a clinical neurological examination and a brain computed tomography scan. The following classifications are assigned to people:

- Lacunar infarcts (LACI) A subcortical stroke (i.e. involving the basal ganglia or pons) occurring secondary to small vessel occlusion. Symptoms need to include <u>one</u> of the following:
 - Pure sensory impairment
 - Pure motor impairment
 - Sensory-motor impairment
 - Ataxia
- Total anterior circulation infarcts (TACI) A cortical stroke affecting areas of the brain supplied by both the middle and anterior cerebral arteries. Symptoms need to include <u>all</u> <u>three</u> of the following:
 - Unilateral weakness (and/or sensory impairment) of the face, arm and leg
 - Homonymous hemianopia

- Higher cerebral dysfunction (i.e. dysphasia or visuospatial disorder)
- Partial anterior circulation infarcts (PACI) A cortical stroke affecting areas of the brain supplied by the anterior cerebral artery. Symptoms need to include <u>two</u> of the following:
 - Unilateral weakness (and/or sensory impairment) of the face, arm and leg
 - Homonymous hemianopia
 - Higher cerebral dysfunction (i.e. dysphasia or visuospatial disorder)
- Posterior circulation infarcts (POCI) A stroke affecting areas of the brain supplied by the posterior cerebral artery. Symptoms need to include <u>one</u> of the following:
 - Cranial nerve palsy and contralateral motor sensory impairment
 - Bilateral motor/sensory impairment
 - Conjugate eye movement disorder
 - Cerebellar dysfunction (i.e. ataxia, nystagmus, vertigo)
 - Isolated homonymous hemianopia

Haemorrhagic strokes account for the remaining 20% of all stroke episodes and are most commonly caused by rupture of small aneurysms. These aneurysms are commonly caused by hypertensive small-vessel disease [40]. Other causes of aneurysms are from intracranial vascular malformations, cerebral amyloid angiopathy, or infarcts into which secondary haemorrhages have occurred [38]. Haemorrhages are divided into two sub-types: Intracerebral (bleeding that occurs within the brain) and subarachnoid (bleeding that occurs outside the brain tissue, between the pia mater and arachnoid mater). An intracerebral haemorrhage can occur within the brain tissue (intraparenchymal) or within the ventricles (intraventricular) [40].

Rehabilitation after stroke

In Australia, people after stroke are admitted to an acute hospital where they are medically stabilised and a confirmed medical diagnosis (using brain imaging and physical assessment) is provided. Further medical investigations and interventions such as thrombolysis or endovascular clot retrieval may be administered, provided these interventions are performed within a few hours after stroke. The gold standard for acute stroke care has been well established through research, and it is recommended that all people after stroke be cared for by a specialised team of health professionals in a stroke unit [41]. Once they have been medically stabilised in a stroke unit, some patients who have had a less severe stroke may be discharged home (ideally with involvement from a community team of health professionals), and other patients who have had a moderate to severe stroke will be transferred to a sub-acute rehabilitation unit for ongoing rehabilitation. The broad aims of rehabilitation after stroke are to provide the following: a multidisciplinary assessment of the person's sensorimotor impairments, activity limitations and participation restrictions; goal setting with patients and carers; provision of an intensive multidisciplinary rehabilitation program through one-to-one and/or group therapy (in line with evidence-based guidelines for best practice); education and training to patients and carers regarding self-management strategies and re-integration into the community. The rehabilitation program should be patient-centred and designed to assist patients achieve short and long-term participation goals [42].

The multidisciplinary rehabilitation team in Australia usually includes physiotherapists. Physiotherapists assess and treat people with sensorimotor impairments and activity limitations caused by stroke. To maximise physical recovery, it is recommended that people after stroke participate in an intensive program of task-specific training which addresses activity limitations [10]. However, many people after stroke cannot perform task-specific training due to profound muscle weakness, and therefore require interventions to improve strength prior to, or in combination with task-specific training. Physiotherapists typically provide these strengthening interventions aimed at restoring movement to weak limbs in combination with repetitive practice of tasks, such as standing up, walking, and reaching and manipulation.

Weakness after stroke

Weakness after stroke can be attributed to neural and muscular changes. The following sections will briefly discuss the causes of weakness, the neural and muscular changes associated with weakness, and the distribution of muscle weakness after stroke.

Neural changes

Neural changes after stroke are a consequence of the damage to upper motor neurones, following ischaemia in the brain. The damage to the upper motor neurones reduces excitability of lower motor neurones, which in turn, prevents the high frequency neural impulses required to produce tetanic muscle contractions that are needed to produce sufficient force to move a limb [43]. This has been called voluntary activation failure and has been observed in both the paretic and non-paretic limbs; however, voluntary activation failure is greater in the paretic limb/s after stroke [44 45]. As a consequence of voluntary activation failure, a significant amount of lower motor neurones innervating the paretic upper and lower limbs cease to function [46]. Voluntary activation failure has been observed to remain unchanged over six months, in a small sample of people after stroke [45]. Other neural changes include changes in order of motor unit recruitment and changes in firing rates of motor units [47-49]. For example, a loss of 37% [46] and 38% [50] of the motor units of the extensor digitorum brevis and

abductor pollicis brevis (respectively) on the paretic side have been observed in the first 2 to 6 months after stroke.

Muscular changes

Muscular changes after stroke can be a consequence of denervation of the motor units causing morphological and mechanical changes to muscle tissue [51]. For example, some studies have reported changes in lean muscle mass of the paretic lower limb as early as three weeks [52] and two months [53] after stroke. However, there is conflicting evidence from other studies that have not reported similar results [54]. A systematic review of studies with people at least 6 months after stroke helped to clarified this issue by providing estimates for lean muscle mass and cross-sectional area of muscles in the paretic upper and lower limbs [55]. This review found that there was 249g (95% CI 182 to 298) and 342g (95% CI 247 to 438) less lean muscle mass in the paretic upper and lower limbs, respectively, when compared to the non-paretic limbs [55]. There was also less cross-sectional area of the mid-thigh in the paretic lower limb when compared to the non-paretic lower limb (MD 15cm², 95% CI 14 to 17). A similar estimate of 20% less cross-sectional area of the mid-thigh in the paretic lower limb when compared to the non-paretic lower limb (MD 15cm², 95% CI 14 to 17). A similar estimate of a small cohort (n = 16) of people in the late stages of stroke recovery [56]. This study also found that intramuscular fat was much higher in the paretic lower limb when compared to the non-paretic lower limb when comparet is non-paretic lower limb when comparet lower limb when comparet to the non-paretic lower limb.

Another suggested cause for loss of muscle mass in people after stroke is the presence of spasticity [$46\ 57$]. The presence of spasticity can result in muscles remaining in a shortened position leading to soft tissue plastic changes, i.e. progressive loss of sarcomeres and contracture [$58\ 59$]. Muscle contracture resulting from these soft tissue plastic changes has been

proposed to further aggravate spasticity, thus perpetuating the cycle of immobilisation, contracture, and spasticity [<u>60</u>].

Decreased activity and disuse are also contributors to loss of muscle mass (atrophy) and weakness after stroke [$\underline{61}$ $\underline{62}$]. Muscle atrophy has been described as a decrease in muscle protein content and muscle fibre diameter, which in turn reduces force production and fatigue resistance of the muscle fibres [$\underline{63}$].

Distribution of muscle weakness

Historically it was assumed that distal muscle groups of the paretic upper and lower limbs were weaker than proximal after stroke (i.e. wrist extensors were weaker than shoulder abductors). This assumption was based on early studies investigating the distribution of muscle weakness [64 65]. However, since then, several studies have reported contradictory results, that is, either proximal muscle groups of the paretic upper and lower limbs were weaker than distal muscle groups [2 3], or there were no statistical differences between the proximal and distal muscle groups of the paretic limb [66 67]. The reasons for these contradictory results could be due to earlier studies recruiting small, non-representative samples or due to investigators not measuring the strength of all muscle groups in the paretic limb [66].

Relation between strength and activity

The relation between strength and activity has been investigated in older people without disability with an apparent association between the two. Buchner et al investigated this association in a large cross-sectional study (n = 409) of community dwelling older people (age = 60 to 90 years) without muscular pathology [68]. These investigators found that age-related loss of strength explained 17 – 22% of the decline in walking speed. Buchner et al also identified a curvilinear relationship between lower limb strength and walking speed, and

hypothesised that changes in strength have associated effects on activity in weaker adults; however, changes in strength have little or no effect on activity in stronger adults [68]. This curvilinear relationship can be seen in Figure 1 below. Area A represents no association between strength and walking speed as typically seen in strong young adults. Area B represents a strong association between strength and walking speed. This is what is typically seen in weaker and older adults. Area C represents profound weakness that prevents walking as typically seen in adults after stroke or older adults that are extremely weak.



Leg Strength

Figure 1. Hypothesized relationship between lower limb strength and walking speed. (Buchner et al, 1996)

In people after stroke with muscle weakness, it is reasonable to assume the association between strength and activity is larger than in older people without disability. A narrative review identified more than 50 studies with significant correlations between strength and activity after stroke [69]. Some of the studies included in this review found correlation co-efficients as high Page 22 of 118

as 0.85 [70-72]. However, all of these studies measured strength in different combinations of muscles and no study measured strength in *all* muscles of the upper or lower limb [73]. This may be an issue when prioritising which muscles to strengthen after stroke because different tasks will require different amounts of strength from the same muscle group. For example, walking may require less strength in the knee extensors than standing up [74-76]. Dorsch et al measured strength all main muscle groups in the paretic lower limb of 60 people, one to six years after stroke [73]. These investigators found that the ankle dorsiflexors accounted for 31% of the variance in walking speed [73]. Another observational study of similar size found comparable results between dorsiflexor strength and walking speed (r = 0.50 - 0.73) [77], suggesting there is a moderate correlation between lower limb strength and activity after stroke. Similar correlations between upper limb strength and activity have also been observed (r = 0.71 - 0.88) in other studies [78-80]. Faria-Fortini et al investigated the association between upper limb strength and activity have also been observed (r = 0.71 - 0.88) in other studies [78-80]. Faria-Fortini et al investigated the association between upper limb strength and activity have also been observed (r = 0.71 - 0.88) in other studies [78-80]. Faria-Fortini et al investigated the association between upper limb strength and activity have also been observed. This study found moderate to high correlations between hand-grip and lateral pinch strength, and activity (r = 0.50 - 0.82) [7].

These studies all suggest a moderate to strong relationship between the loss of strength and activity. However, many observational studies investigating the relationship between strength and activity are small, recruited samples of convenience, and do not measure strength in all muscle groups of the paretic limb being investigated. Therefore, these studies need to be interpreted with caution as they may not be representative of the population of people after stroke. More importantly, there may be confounding factors explaining the observed relationship between strength and activity that have not been controlled for in many observational studies.

In summary, studies in older people and people after stroke have concluded that there is a clear relationship between strength and activity. However, this relationship may not be as simple as depicted in Figure 1, because there may be possible confounders that were not considered in these studies. The findings of these studies do provide interim data that should be further explored in well-designed observational studies using more complex modelling that considers confounders. In absence of these data, the results of the reviewed studies have implications for people who are weak after stroke, because muscle weakness may lead to activity limitations and participation restrictions, which in turn, may lead to reduced quality of life. It is therefore important that people after stroke participate in strengthening interventions in rehabilitation programs, in conjunction with interventions that focus on improving activity.

Measurement of strength

There are a several ways to measure muscle strength ranging from simple methods involving no equipment to methods involving complex machinery. This section will define and discuss the two methods of strength measurement used in the clinical trials (studies two and three) associated with this research program: hand-held dynamometry and manual muscle testing. There will also be a discussion about why these strength measures were used and the different issues encountered whilst using these measures in this research program.

Hand-held dynamometry

Hand-held dynamometry involves using a portable device that measures force. Two types of tests can be used to measure muscle force: *Break tests* or *Make tests*. *Break tests* require the examiner to push against the subject's limb until the subject's maximal muscular effort is overcome and the limb gives way [81]. *Make tests* involve the examiner holding the dynamometer against the limb while the subject exerts maximal force against it [81]. In both

tests, torque is then calculated by multiplying the force by the perpendicular distance between the axis of rotation and the place at which force is measured. Torque is expressed in Newton Meters (Nm).

Hand-held dynamometry has been shown to have "very good" inter-rater reliability with patients in the rehabilitation setting [82], as well as "very good" intra-rater reliability for measurements of strength in patients with neurological conditions [83]. *Make* and *Break* tests have been tested for reliability in the elbow flexors and although *Break tests* were associated with higher force production, both tests were considered reliable, provided the examiner had sufficient strength to match the strength of the participant [81]. Wikholm and Bohannon (1991) found that the strength of the examiner affected the inter-rater reliability of hand-held dynamometry [84], therefore, a *Make test* was used in study two to improve inter-rater reliability with multiple assessors.

Manual Muscle Testing

Manual muscle testing is the most widely used method of measuring muscle strength in the clinical setting. Clinicians assign a score ranging from zero to five, where zero represents no muscle activation and five represents normal muscle strength [85]. Grades zero to three are examined in relation to the force of gravity acting against the limb, whereas, grades four and five are examined in relation to force applied to the limb by the tester [85]. One of the criticisms of manual muscle testing is its poor sensitivity to detect differences in muscle strength at grades four and five [86]. This is because grades four and five encompass a large range of possible strength measurements [87] and the amount of resistance provided by the tester for grades four and five can be variable and hard to quantify [88 89]. For this reason, the strength considered a grade five (normal strength) could be substantially lower when compared to normal strength

for that muscle group [86]. Despite this issue, the inter- and intra-rater reliability of manual muscle testing has shown to be mostly "very good" in a group of older individuals following stroke [90]. These investigators used a strict protocol for measurement in their study, which improves reliability; however, in clinical practice there are sometimes great differences between clinicians when performing manual muscle testing. Therefore, manual muscle testing may not be the most reliable method of testing muscle strength in clinical practice.

Hand-held dynamometry and manual muscle testing were used in studies two and three of this research program due to ease of use in a clinical setting. However, given the limitations of manual muscle testing it was used as a secondary outcome measure to explore possible mechanisms underlying the observed effects of the interventions on activity. In an attempt to improve intra- and inter-rater reliability of these measurements of strength a strict protocol was used in the two studies [85]. For example, to improve the intra- and inter-rater reliability of hand-held dynamometry with multiple assessors, a Make test was used in study two. Assessments were standardised by ensuring that participants were positioned in the same way for baseline and follow-up assessments. Assessors were positioned so that the dynamometer would remain still when force was applied by the participant. In study two it was identified that manual muscle testing is not sensitive enough to use as a screening tool to detect neurological weakness. Since one of the inclusion criteria for study two was hemiparesis (i.e. \leq grade 4), some patients may have been incorrectly classified as grade 5 and hence excluded from participation in the study when in fact they were grade 4. This is because, patients may have presented with neurological weakness that was undetectable with manual muscle testing alone. Furthermore, screening was performed over three hospital sites with multiple staff, and there may have been much inter-rater variability when conducting the screening. However, it would

Page 26 of 118

have been too time-consuming to use hand-held dynamometry when screening patients on a daily basis and training many staff over multiple sites was not feasible.

Management of weakness after stroke

This section will discuss five strengthening interventions to manage weakness after stroke. This is not an exhaustive list and only includes interventions most commonly used in stroke rehabilitation. Progressive Resistance Training (PRT) will be discussed as one of the five interventions and although PRT is not commonly used in stroke rehabilitation it is considered to be the most effective strengthening intervention for people without disability. For each intervention there will be a review and discussion of the studies investigating the effects of that intervention on *strength* and *activity*.

Studies that have reported effect sizes using SMD will be interpreted using Cohen's interpretation of effect size, i.e. effect size values of 0.00 to \leq 0.49 indicate a small effect size, values of 0.50 to \leq 0.79 indicate a medium effect size and values \geq 0.80 indicate large effect sizes [91].

Electrical Stimulation

Electrical stimulation (ES) is the application of an electrical current, usually via electrodes placed on the skin. Electrical stimulation can be broadly divided into two types based on whether the stimulation targets sensory neurones only, or both sensory and motor neurones to elicit a muscle contraction. The strength of the sensory stimulus and/or muscle contraction depends on the number of neurones stimulated, and also on the frequency, pulse width and intensity of the current [92]. There are many names given to ES, however, there is no consistency in the literature regarding the use of these names. Therefore, ES that only targets

sensory neurones will be called Transcutaneous Electrical Neuromuscular Stimulation and will not be discussed in this thesis. Electrical stimulation that targets both sensory and motor neurones will be called ES.

Electrical stimulation has been further divided into two categories: cyclical ES and Functional Electrical Stimulation (FES) [93]. Cyclical ES involves repeated electrical stimulation of an isolated muscle (or muscle group) at maximally tolerated levels of contraction, with the primary aim of strengthening that muscle [20]. Functional Electrical Stimulation involves electrical stimulation of a muscle (or several muscle groups) during the performance of an activity, with the primary aim of improving performance of that activity [94]. It is important to note that people can remain passive (i.e. not contract their muscles in synchrony with ES) with both cyclical ES and FES, because it is difficult to know if a person is consciously attempting to contract their muscles. However, it is thought that contracting or attempting to contract muscles in synchrony with ES results in better outcomes [19]. Therefore, in this thesis, the main differentiation between cyclical ES and FES is that FES is combined with an activity, whereas cyclical ES is not.

Electrical stimulation may be particularly useful for people who are very weak and who cannot voluntarily contract their own muscles. In this case, it is thought that ES stimulates the large diameter motor units (Type II), causing a tetanic contraction of the muscle [92]. This however is not the order of motor unit recruitment seen when muscles are voluntarily contracted. Type I motor units are usually recruited first as they are slow-twitch (slow to contract and relax) and are fatigue resistant [92]. Type II motor units are then recruited if more force is required or Type I motor units begin to fatigue. This is because Type II motor units are fast-twitch and produce large amounts of force (particularly useful when performing strenuous movements like Page 28 of 118

lifting heavy objects or climbing flights of stairs), but fatigue quickly and cannot be relied on for prolonged periods [92]. Thus, theoretically, ES used to produce muscle contractions will fatigue muscles faster than a normal physiological muscle contraction. For this reason, many clinicians will instruct patients to use ES for regular short periods of exercise or activity. Over time, ES may increase the activation of motor units and/or the cross sectional area of a muscle by increasing recruitment of muscle fibres [92].

Effects of electrical stimulation on strength after stroke

There is evidence that ES improves strength after stroke. A systematic review (Nascimento et al) investigating the effects of cyclical ES on muscle strength after stroke found a small effect on strength (SMD 0.47, 95% CI 0.26 to 0.68) in favour of ES, when ES was compared to no intervention/placebo [20]. The improvement in strength was maintained beyond the intervention period (SMD 0.33, 95% CI 0.07 to 0.60), although there is a fair amount of uncertainty associated with this estimate. This review was unable to pool studies comparing the effects of cyclical ES with other strengthening interventions due to insufficient postintervention data. However, interestingly, Nascimento et al was able to differentiate studies that recruited weak (able to move the paretic limb through full range of movement against gravity, but had less than normal strength) and very weak (unable to move the paretic limb through full range of movement against gravity) participants in the included studies. Meta-analyses on both of these sub-groups revealed that cyclical ES had a small effect on strength of very weak participants (SMD 0.40, 95% CI 0.17 to 0.65) and a moderate effect on weak participants (SMD 0.66, 95% CI 0.21 to 1.11). When trials were grouped according to time after stroke, cyclical ES had a moderate effect on strength (SMD 0.55, 95% CI 0.28 to 0.81) in people less than 6 months after stroke, and a small effect on strength (SMD 0.33, 95% CI -0.02 to 0.69) in people more than 6 months after stroke. Similar to the review conducted by Howlett et al, there was

potential for bias in the included studies. All but three of the included studies (13/16) did not conceal group allocation, and 6/16 did not blind assessors to intervention groups.

In summary, we can be fairly confident that there is a small to moderate effect of cyclical ES on strength after stroke, immediately after and beyond the intervention period. There appears to be larger effects on strength in people who are *weak* versus people who are *very weak*, and in people less than 6 months after stroke. However, there is insufficient evidence that cyclical ES is better than other strengthening interventions for improving strength and further trials are needed to investigate the effectiveness of ES versus other strengthening interventions after stroke.

Effects of electrical stimulation on activity after stroke

Two systematic reviews have investigated the effects of ES on activity in people after stroke [19 20]. Both of these reviews reported a small treatment effect when pooling studies that compared ES to no intervention/placebo. However, there was considerable uncertainty associated with both estimates (SMD 0.30, 95% CI 0.05 to 0.56) [20] (SMD 0.40, 95% CI, 0.08 to 0.72) [19] making it difficult to establish the effect size of ES on activity for the whole population of people after stroke. Both reviews also used SMD, making it difficult to interpret the clinical importance of these improvements on activity in real terms. One important difference between these two reviews is how the ES was applied to people. One review (Nascimento et al) included all studies that investigated the effects of cyclical ES on muscle strength [20], and did not state if the included studies required participants to actively contract their weak muscles. The other review (Howlett et al) *only* included studies investigating the effects of ES when combined with active (or attempts of active) practice of an activity (FES). [19] This distinction may be important because the former review may have included studies

where participants were not required to actively contract their weak muscles in synchrony with the ES (i.e. passive ES). Passive ES without attempts to perform an activity may not be the optimal way to improve activity, given our understanding of neuroplasticity and the contextspecific adaptions to the central nervous system that occur with active practice. Interestingly, when Howlett et al performed a meta-analysis on studies that compared FES with active practice versus active practice alone, the effect size was greater than the estimate comparing FES versus no intervention/placebo (SMD 0.56, 95% CI 0.21 to 0.92) versus (SMD 0.40, 95% CI 0.08 to 0.72). It is unclear why the effect size was greater in one analysis compared to the other. It would make more sense for the effect to be greater when FES is compared to no intervention/placebo, however this was not the case. One possible explanation is that there may be important differences in the studies included in these different analyses. For example, the analysis of FES versus no intervention/placebo included six trials of upper-limb training and two trials of lower-limb training, and all but one trial included participants in the late stage of stroke recovery. Whereas, the analysis of FES versus active practice alone included six trials of lower-limb training and three trials of upper-limb training, and only three of the nine trials included participants in the late stage of stroke recovery. There may be differences in the way people respond to FES depending on which limb (upper versus lower) or what stage of stroke recovery (early versus late). Therefore, the results of subgroup analyses may help clinicians decide when to use FES, particularly because FES is not always easy to apply or use, not always tolerated by people, and may not deliver clinically important outcomes when compared with active practice without FES. A very important issue with the review conducted by Howlett et al is the quality of the included studies. Over half of the included studies (10/18) did not conceal group allocation, and half (9/18) did not blind assessors to group allocation. These issues may have introduced bias into the included studies, which may have inflated the treatment effects.

In summary, there is uncertainty regarding the effects of cyclical ES or FES on activity due to the content of interventions (i.e. active ES or passive ES) of included studies in the review of cyclical ES, imprecision of estimates (reviews of cyclical ES and FES), and quality of the included studies (review of FES). There appears to be a small to moderate effect of FES when applied to weak muscles while practicing an activity [19]. However, it is not clear whether these estimates are clinically meaningful because results are expressed as SMD.

Robotics

Robotics or electromechanical training has been used in recent years to facilitate large amounts of repetitive training of the paretic upper and lower limbs after stroke. This intervention reduces dependency on therapists, particularly for people who are too weak and disabled to perform independent training. Robot-driven devices, such as exoskeletons or gait orthoses with a harness over a treadmill, are used to mechanically assist people move the paretic lower limb during gait training [95]. Other robotic devices assist people move the paretic upper limb during reaching activities or manipulation tasks, and can provide varying amounts of assistance, resistance to active movement, and greater amplitudes of movement [12].

Effects of robotics on strength after stroke

The effects of robotic-assisted or electromechanical training on strength after stroke has only been investigated in one recent systematic review of the upper limb [12]. This review found a small effect of robotic-assisted or electromechanical training on strength of the paretic upper limb (SMD 0.46, 95% CI 0.16 to 0.77), when compared to other interventions to improve ADLs or upper limb function. However, there was considerable statistical heterogeneity ($I^2 = 76\%$) in the studies included in this analysis suggesting that a meta-analyses was not appropriate. Therefore the results should be interpreted with caution. One interesting aspect of this review is the comparison, namely robotic-assisted or electromechanical training versus *any other* Page 32 of 118

intervention. As the authors identified, most studies in this review were dose-matched with an active control group. This means that robotic-assisted or electromechanical training was superior to other forms of active upper limb therapy. The reasons for this superiority could not be fully explored in the review due to the lack of reporting of the interventions in the included studies. However, the authors suggested that the robotic devices may have increased the amount of repetitions of active practice over the same amount of time as the other forms of therapy, thus increasing the dose of upper limb therapy delivered to participants.

In summary, there is some evidence to suggest that robotic-assisted or electromechanical training improves upper limb strength more than other therapies after stroke. The exact mechanism by which this happens is unclear, but may be due to a larger amount of repetitions of active practice facilitated by the robotic device.

Effects of robotics on activity after stroke

There are two Cochrane systematic reviews investigating the effects of robotic-assisted or electromechanical training on activity after stroke [11 12]. One review specifically investigated the effects of electromechanical-assisted training on walking [11]. This review found that when provided in addition to physiotherapy the odds of people becoming independent walkers increased (OR 1.94, 95% CI 1.39 to 2.71). However, there was no significant increase in walking velocity or walking capacity with this intervention. The other review investigated the effects of robotic-assisted or electromechanical training on activities of daily living (ADL), upper limb function and strength [12]. This review found that when compared to other interventions to improve ADLs or upper limb function, there is a small effect of robotic-assisted or electromechanical training on AJLs (SMD 0.31, 95% CI 0.09 to 0.52) and upper limb function (SMD 0.32, 95% CI 0.18 to 0.46). While these results both represent a small treatment

effect, they need to be interpreted with caution since 31/45 trials in the review did not report methods of concealed allocation and only 3/45 trials had reported all outcomes according to the registered protocol. These methodological issues in the included studies may have introduced bias and therefore we should have less confidence in the results.

In summary, there is some indication that robotic or electromechanical training of walking, in addition to usual physiotherapy, increases the odds of people becoming independent walkers. There is also evidence that ADLs and upper limb function are improved with robotic-assisted or electromechanical training. However, these results need to be interpreted with caution due to small sample sizes and methodological issues of the included studies. Further large high-quality trials are needed to clarify the effects of robotic or electromechanical training on activity after stroke.

Constraint-Induced Movement Therapy

Constraint-induced induced movement therapy (CIMT) of the upper limb is described as therapy consisting of two fundamental principles:

- Restraint of the non-paretic upper limb (i.e. using an arm sling and a resting hand splint).
 A behavioural contract is drawn up between the participant and therapist with the goal of restraining the non-paretic upper limb for approximately 90% of waking hours.
- Mass practice of the paretic upper limb over several hours per day, using a method called 'shaping'. The shaping procedure has been described as follows: (a) providing explicit verbal feedback and verbal reward for small improvements in task performance; (b) selecting tasks that are tailored to address the motor deficits of the individual patient; (c) helping the patient to carry out parts of a movement sequence, if they are incapable of

completing the movement on their own at first; and (d) systematically increasing the difficulty level of the task performed [96].

Constraint-induced movement therapy aims to overcome learned non-use of the paretic upper limb by forcing the person to use their paretic upper limb to perform motor tasks. Early studies of CIMT proposed between six and eight hours of training per day [97 98]. However, more recent studies have investigated modified approaches of delivering CIMT, i.e. reducing the amount of motor training while the restraint is in-situ, or restraining the non-paretic upper limb without additional motor training [99-102]. Clinical trials and systematic reviews have divided CIMT into three different types, based on the dosage or content of training. Studies that performed CIMT for more than three hours are considered to have provided usual CIMT. Studies that performed CIMT for less than three hours are considered to have provided modified CIMT (mCIMT), and studies that restrained the non-paretic upper limb without additional training of the paretic upper limb are considered to have provided Forced Use therapy [13].

Effects of constraint-induced movement therapy on strength after stroke

Prior to this research program, the effects of CIMT on muscle strength had not been investigated in a systematic review. One systematic review investigated the effects of CIMT on different aspects of motor impairment, but did not focus specifically on voluntary muscle strength, and combined data from different motor impairments in a SMD [13]. Unsurprisingly, there was considerable statistical heterogeneity in the analysis on motor impairment ($I^2 = 77\%$) in this review. This review also combined studies that provided an active control group with those that provided no intervention/placebo, making it difficult to determine the effects of CIMT alone. One randomised controlled trial compared six hours of CIMT per day with a 30 minute per day independent exercise program [103]. After two weeks, the mean between-group

difference (95% CI) for hand-grip strength was 0.8 kg (0.26 to 1.34) in favour of CIMT. This was a small study of 18 participants, and it is unclear if investigators or assessors were blinded to group allocation. Therefore, these results need to be interpreted with caution.

In summary, there appears to be evidence that CIMT improves upper limb strength more than providing an independent exercise program. However, the results of this small trial with unclear methods needs to be interpreted with caution. A systematic review including more trials will clarify the effects of CIMT on upper limb strength.

Effects of constraint-induced movement therapy on activity after stroke

A Cochrane systematic review comparing CIMT to usual care or no intervention found that CIMT improves upper limb motor function (SMD 0.34, 95% CI 0.12 to 0.55), motor impairment (SMD 0.82, 95% CI 0.31 to 1.34) and dexterity (SMD 0.42, 95% CI 0.04 to 0.79) [13]. Despite these improvements in impairment and motor function there was no reduction in disability (SMD 0.24, 95% CI -0.05 to 0.52). The results for disability were derived from 11 small studies of 344 participants. It is difficult to understand how CIMT can improve motor function of the upper limb, but have no impact on disability. There could be several reasons to explain this. Firstly, the insignificant estimate on disability may reflect how disability was measured in the review. The authors limited this outcome to the Functional Independence Measure and the Barthel Index. There may be other outcome measures that measure disability that were not included in the meta-analysis. Alternatively, there may not be an effect on disability with CIMT. However, the imprecise estimate on disability suggests that the sample size was too small (i.e. too few participants or too few studies) to attain a precise estimate of the treatment effect, indicating that the effect of CIMT on disability is inconclusive, rather than ineffective. Estimates from sub-group analyses were also imprecise in this review. For
example, when comparing studies that provided more than 30 hours of CIMT to those that provided less, there were only 3 studies with 91 participants that provided more than 30 hours of CIMT. However, there were 8 studies with 253 participants that provided less than 30 hours of CIMT. Whilst both estimates for these sub-groups were imprecise (>30 hours, SMD 0.25, 95% CI -0.18 to 0.67) versus (<30 hours, SMD 0.18, 95% CI -0.07 to 0.44), the estimate of the subgroup with more participants was more precise. Many studies in the analysis on disability were also dose-matched with an active control group performing functional training of the upper limb. This may have introduced clinical heterogeneity into the analysis, since people in the control groups of some studies could have performed large amounts of active practice, whilst people in other studies performed no active practice. The quality of included studies in this review was highly variable with many studies subject to high or uncertain amounts of bias.

In summary, there is evidence that CIMT improves upper limb activity more than usual care after stroke. However, there is still uncertainty regarding the effects of CIMT on disability. Further large high-quality trials comparing CIMT with usual care are needed to clarify the effects of CIMT on disability after stroke.

Task-specific training

Task-specific training is a term that has evolved from movement science and motor skill learning literature [104]. This type of training or therapy is where participants practice motor tasks whilst receiving feedback (i.e. visual or verbal feedback) [105]. The focus of task-specific training is on goal-directed practice and repetition of a task to improve performance of that task, rather than purely focusing on improving impairments, such as strength [105]. Task-specific training incorporates active cognitive involvement of the participant in tasks that are

relevant and meaningful (i.e. standing up or walking practice), and feedback of the performance of tasks to enhance motor skill acquisition [106 107].

Effects of task-specific training on strength after stroke

There is no systematic review specifically investigating the effects of task-specific training on strength after stroke. Systematic reviews on the topic have included studies of progressive resistance training [108-112] or an artificial drive of muscle contraction [20 113] (i.e. electrical stimulation without attempts to move a limb) as an intervention. Combining these interventions in a systematic review is problematic, since there may be differences in the mechanisms underlying the observed effects on strength. There may also be differences in the samples of the included studies of each review. For example, people participating in a clinical trial of progressive resistance training may be far stronger and less disabled than people who participate in a trial of task-specific training. This is due to the emphasis on low repetition and added resistance with progressive resistance training (see next section). Some people after stroke are too weak to contract their muscles against added resistance, and therefore cannot participate in a trial investigating the effects of progressive resistance training. One randomised controlled trial investigating the effects of a 52-week task-specific lower limb exercise class reported a non-significant mean between-group difference (95% CI) in knee extensor strength of 0.95 kg (-1.2 to 3.1) in favour of task-specific training (18.3 kg = mean baseline strength) [114]. This high-quality trial with minimal bias was conducted with 133 people, approximately 6 years after stroke and compared task-specific lower limb training to no intervention/placebo. Another randomised control trial investigating the effects of a four-week task-specific upper limb exercise program reported a statistically significant mean between-group difference (95% CI) in hand-grip strength of 2.1 kg (0.49 to 3.71) in favour of task-specific training (8.8 kg = mean baseline strength) [115]. This high-quality trial with minimal bias was conducted with

103 people, approximately less than one month after stroke and compared task-specific upper limb training to no intervention/placebo. Based on these two trials there are clear differences in the effects of task-specific training on strength. These differences in effects are probably due to the time after stroke (early versus late) and the limbs that were trained (lower limb versus upper limb). However, we would be more certain of the effects of task-specific training on strength if these results were repeated in other clinical trials or confirmed in a systematic review of multiple trials.

In summary, based on these trials, there appears to be evidence that task-specific training of the upper-limb improves hand-grip strength in the early stages of stroke recovery. There is also evidence that task-specific training does not improve lower limb strength in the late stages of stroke recovery. However, these results need to be interpreted with caution because they are only from two trials. A systematic review including more trials will clarify the effects of task-specific training on upper and lower limb strength, in the early and late stages of stroke recovery.

Effects of task-specific training on activity after stroke

Task-specific training of the paretic upper and lower limbs is recommended in evidenced-based guidelines as the primary therapy to improve activity and reduce disability after stroke [10]. These recommendations are based on multiple systematic reviews investigating the effects of repetitive task-specific training on various tasks after stroke. The reviews found improvements in upper limb activity (SMD 0.25, 95% CI 0.01 to 0.49) [9], walking distance (MD 35m, 95% CI 18 to 51) [9], walking speed (MD 0.06 m/s, 95% CI 0.03 to 0.09) [14], functional ambulation (SMD 0.35, 95% CI 0.04 to 0.66) [9] and sit-to-stand ability (OR 4.86, 95% CI 1.43 to 16.50) [116] with task-specific training. All but one [14] of these estimates refer to a comparison of

the task being trained versus no intervention/placebo. Each systematic review individually assessed the quality of the evidence based on the GRADE criteria, taking into consideration risk of bias, imprecision, inconsistency, indirectness, and publication bias of the included studies. Overall, the estimates for upper limb activity and sit-to-stand ability represent low and very low-quality evidence, respectively. Whereas, the estimates for walking distance, walking speed and functional ambulation represent moderate quality evidence. The main reasons for downgrading evidence to low and moderate quality were due to poor reporting of methods. For example, one review found that only eight of the 33 trials included in their meta-analysis, reported adequate methods of allocation concealment [9]. Another review, only found one trial investigating the effects of sit-to-stand training on sit-to-stand ability. The reviewers downgraded the evidence to very low-quality due to the high risk of bias in random sequence generation and allocation concealment in the trial [116]. These methodological issues need to be taken into consideration when deciding if task-specific training (or any other intervention) is effective for improving activity after stroke. As discussed in other sections, it is also important to consider the precision and clinical importance of these estimates. For example, it is easier to decide if the estimates for walking distance and walking speed are clinically worthwhile, since the estimates are reported as a MD. However, the imprecision of the estimates and the use of SMD (i.e. upper limb activity and functional ambulation) make it difficult to determine if task-specific training of those tasks is clinically worthwhile.

In summary, there is moderate quality evidence that task-specific training of walking improves walking. There is also low-quality evidence for task-specific upper limb training and very low-quality evidence for sit-to-stand training. Further clinical trials are needed to clarify the clinical importance of treatment effects for task-specific upper limb training and sit-to-stand training.

Progressive Resistance Training

Progressive resistance training (as defined by the American College of Sports Medicine) is characterised by muscles working at high loads with low repetitions, that is, a load of 8 to 12 repetitions of 60-70% of 1 repetition maximum, for at least two sets, with a progressive increase of the load [117]. Progressive resistance training can be performed using large machines, free weights, or rubber resistance bands, and commonly involves single- or multi-joint muscle groups [117 118].

Progressive resistance training is commonly used to improve strength in people without disability [117] and frail older people [119]. However, PRT is not commonly used in stroke rehabilitation despite the large improvements in strength that have been observed in frail older people and people without disability [119 120]. Therefore, this section will discuss the evidence for PRT in these three populations suggesting reasons why PRT may not be commonly utilised as a strengthening intervention after stroke.

People without disability

The American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) is considered by many as the leading authority on guidelines for prescription of PRT. The ACSM guidelines recommend that adults perform resistance training for each of the major muscle groups 2 to 3 times per week [117]. The evidence underpinning these guidelines comes from randomised controlled trials and systematic reviews about PRT in adults without disability. Interestingly, the systematic reviews referred to in the ACSM guidelines have largely compared doses of PRT regimes rather than investigating the effects of PRT versus no training [121-123]. A more recent systematic review not included in the ACSM guidelines investigated the effects of PRT versus no training in older (≥ 60 years) adults without disability [120]. This review of 25 randomised controlled trials and

a total of 819 participants reported a between-subject standardised mean difference (SMD_{bs}) of 1.57, 95 % CI 1.20 to 1.94 in favour of PRT when upper and lower limb studies were combined. Subgroup analyses of upper and lower limb were SMD_{bs} 1.61, 95 % CI 0.95 to 2.27 and SMD_{bs} 1.76, 95 % CI 1.20 to 2.31, respectively. These point estimates represent large effects of PRT on upper and lower limb strength in older adults without disability when compared to no training. However, these estimates need to be interpreted with caution due to the high levels of statistical heterogeneity in the analyses ($I^2 = 80$ % - upper and lower limb combined, $I^2 = 86$ % - upper limb, $I^2 = 87$ % - lower limb), suggesting that meta-analyses should not have been performed. Furthermore, most studies in this systematic review were of low methodological quality with an average PEDro scale rating of 4.6/10 points. Studies with low methodological quality may have introduced bias into the meta-analyses, therefore, this issue should also be taken into consideration when interpreting the results. Taken together, the results from this systematic review and the systematic reviews referred to in the ACSM guidelines suggest that PRT is an effective strengthening intervention for people without disability.

Older people

One systematic review investigating the effects of PRT in older people living in the community (including frail and disabled people) found a moderate to large improvement in strength (SMD 0.84, 95% CI 0.67 to 1.00) when PRT was compared to no intervention/placebo [119]. Interestingly, large improvements in strength with PRT translated into small reductions in disability (SMD 0.14, 95% CI 0.05 to 0.22) and small improvements in activity (walking speed = MD 0.08 m/s, 95% CI 0.04 to 0.12; mobility (TUG) = MD -0.69 secs, 95% CI -1.11 to -0.27; chair rise time = SMD -0.94, 95% CI -1.49 to -0.38). This finding supports the hypothesis of a curvilinear relationship between strength and activity, suggested by Buchner et al 1996, where small improvements in muscular strength in people who are weak translate into large

improvements in activity [68]. However, decisions regarding the clinical importance of effects on activity are subjective, dependent on the activity, and need to take into account clinical implications, such as harm, costs and inconvenience to participants and clinicians.

Effects of progressive resistance training on strength after stroke

The effect of PRT on strength after stroke has been investigated in several systematic reviews [109-112 124]. However, all but one of these reviews [124] included studies that did not follow a strict definition of PRT, as defined by the ACSM [117]. The systematic review by Dorsch et al 2018, compared PRT to no intervention/placebo. This review found large improvements in strength of the paretic upper and lower limbs with PRT (SMD 0.98, 95% CI 0.67 to 1.29). These results were from a meta-analysis of six trials (with an average methodical quality score of 5.8/10 (PEDro scale)) involving 163 participants. The precision of the point estimate was fairly wide but still ranged from a moderate to large treatment effect. One limitation of this review was that it excluded three trials because they did not report change data. Inclusion of these trials might have increased precision around the point estimate, thus providing a more precise estimate of PRT on strength. More importantly, excluding these three trials from the systematic review may have introduced bias into the analysis, because there may be important differences in these studies that should be included in the estimates. Another limitation of this review is generalisability. All but one of the studies in the meta-analysis on strength included participants more than one year after stroke. Therefore, these results can only be generalised to people in the later stages of stroke recovery. None-the-less, given these results from a highquality systematic review, we can be confident that PRT improves strength after stroke.

In summary, there is high-quality evidence that PRT improves strength after stroke. However, these results are only applicable to people in the late stages of recovery and cannot be generalised to people in the early stages.

Effects of progressive resistance training on activity after stroke

A recent systematic review investigating the effects of PRT on strength and activity after stroke found that PRT improved strength, but these improvements in strength did not translate into improvements in activity (SMD 0.42, 95% CI -0.08 to 0.91) [124]. It is difficult to understand how improvements in strength do not translate into improvements in activity, since people after stroke can be very disabled as a result of muscle weakness. However, there are a few issues to consider when interpreting these findings. Firstly, there is great imprecision around the point estimate on activity, therefore, we cannot rule out a treatment effect as these results appear to be inconclusive. Secondly, the primary outcome for this review was voluntary strength; therefore, studies that only measured activity were excluded from this review. Thirdly, the outcome measures used to measure activity in the included studies may not have accurately reflected the muscles that were trained with PRT. For example, improving knee extension strength in people who already have sufficient knee extension strength to weight-bear may not improve walking speed (a common measure of lower limb activity). Taken together, these issues suggest that there may be improvements in activity with PRT in people after stroke. Other important issues to consider when interpreting these results are 1) how the included studies administered PRT and 2) how activity was measured. For example, on closer examination of the three studies demonstrating a statistically significant treatment effect on activity, investigators from one study administered PRT as part of a package of exercises that included repetitive task training [125]. Repetitive task training is conceptually very different to PRT and it would be impossible to separate the effects of one intervention from the other when

measuring activity. In other words, the effects of PRT on activity in that study were from a package of repetitive task training and PRT combined, and not the effects of PRT alone. Another study [126] in this meta-analysis measured activity using an impairment scale which also measures voluntary muscle strength. This may have inflated the treatment effect of PRT on activity in this study, since PRT improves strength. The third study [127] demonstrating a treatment effect in the meta-analysis on activity measured activity with many other outcome measures and it was not clear what the primary outcome measure was or when it was determined. This issue may have purely been due to chance. These issues all affect the interpretation of the results from this meta-analysis causing more uncertainty regarding the effect of PRT on activity.

Finally, one other issue to consider is that it is possible that there are no improvements in activity with PRT after stroke. That is, it could be that people who are strong enough to participate in PRT may already have higher levels of activity. Therefore, merely improving muscle strength may not be enough to improve activity in those who are stronger after stroke. However, this explanation is difficult to reconcile with evidence from another large systematic review that found a treatment effect of PRT on activity in frail older people [119]. This is because it is possible that frail older people have higher levels of activity than people after stroke; therefore, improving muscle strength in a population that is less active is more likely to affect activity than improving strength in a population that is more active.

In summary, there is uncertainty regarding the therapeutic effects of PRT on activity after stroke. Evidence from systematic reviews is conflicting and trials have not conclusively answered this question. Further large trials with minimal bias are needed to clarify the effects of PRT on activity after stroke.

This section has reviewed the evidence for PRT after stroke. It is interesting that there are comparatively few studies (n = 9) investigating the effects of PRT, especially when large improvements in strength can be made in a population where muscular weakness is common. However, there may be several reasons for this. One reason could be due to the historical belief that effortful muscular contractions increased spasticity, which in turn increased activity limitations and disability [128]. This belief has since been disproven [108 109], however, it is possible that this belief still exists to some extent in clinical practice, despite the research evidence. It could also be that clinicians who once believed PRT increased spasticity do not know how to apply the principles of PRT. These clinicians then go on to train students and less experienced clinicians using incorrect principles and techniques. Another reason could be that PRT is difficult to perform correctly in people with very weak muscles. That is, due to neurological activation failure people may be too weak to move a limb against external resistance, or may not be able to consistently move a limb through full range of movement against gravity. These criteria are required to perform PRT as defined by the ACSM [118 129]. Therefore, studies investigating the effects of PRT would require participants to be strong enough to participate in the intervention. However, muscular weakness is often not the only impairment people experience after stroke and clinicians (or researchers) may choose to prioritise repetitive task training which incorporates strength, coordination, sensory input and cognitive demands, whilst training a task that is challenging for the participant. Unlike PRT, there is also an established evidence base from high-quality systematic reviews that repetitive task training improves activity after stroke. Therefore, clinicians may choose to prioritise repetitive task training in the clinic (or in research) over PRT as the most effective and efficient Page 46 of 118

intervention to improve activity. This prioritisation of repetitive task training may be appropriate for individuals who are too weak to participate in PRT, however, repetitive task training may not be the optimal intervention for people who are strong enough to participate in PRT. Since there is uncertainty regarding the effectiveness of PRT on activity, further large randomised controlled trials with minimal bias are needed to clarify the effects of PRT on activity in this group of people after stroke.

Summary

This section has critically reviewed five strengthening interventions in the management of weakness after stroke. Four of these interventions (ES, Robotics, CIMT, and Task-specific training) are commonly used in stroke rehabilitation programs because they can facilitate repetitive training in very weak muscles. These four interventions also have evidence from meta-analyses that they improve activity after stroke. However, there is less evidence that these interventions improve strength and systematic reviews have not investigated this issue for any of these interventions. Progressive resistance training on the other hand is not commonly used in stroke rehabilitation, probably because PRT is difficult to perform correctly in people with very weak muscles, and is conceptually very different to the other four interventions. That is, PRT requires low repetitions with muscles working against high loads with progressive overloading of the muscles being trained. Contrary to the other four interventions, there is strong evidence that PRT improves strength after stroke, however there is no clear evidence that PRT improves activity. All five interventions have systematic reviews of their effects on activity with robust methodologies, however, many of the included studies are subject to high or uncertain amounts of bias. Included studies are also small and estimates on activity are often imprecise. Few of the included studies reported how weak participants were or how many

repetitions of training participants performed. This lack of reporting prevented sub-group analyses in systematic reviews.

This literature review has highlighted the gap in current knowledge of the effects of repetitive practice on strength and the possible mechanisms underlying the observed improvement in activity after stroke. A systematic review of interventions involving repetitive practice is needed to determine if improvements in strength are accompanied by improvements in activity. This knowledge will assist therapists and healthcare providers when prioritising which interventions are more likely to improve both strength and activity in stroke rehabilitation programs.

Dosage of motor training

The dosage (amount) of motor training required to reduce activity limitation after stroke is difficult to determine. Systematic reviews have quantified dosage of training using time spent in therapy or practice [25-27 130 131]. However, time spent in therapy is a poor indicator of dosage. For example, an observational study in people after stroke found that the range of repetitions of exercise in 30-minute sessions of therapy was 4 to 369 repetitions [132]. Therefore, repetitions of active exercise (or movement) are a far better indicator of dosage of motor training than time spent in therapy.

To quantify the amount of repetitions required to reduce activity limitation, researchers initially performed studies in rats and monkeys [133-135]. These studies demonstrated structural neurological changes in the primary motor cortex of the brain and improvements in upper limb function with 400 to 600 repetitions of upper limb motor training per day. In humans, observational studies investigating the effects of repetitive upper limb motor training reported

improvements in upper limb function with 300 to 800 repetitions of motor training per session [136 137]. However, results from clinical trials of dosage have been conflicting. One trial in the early phase [138] and one trial in the late phase (>6 months) [139] after stroke did not demonstrate significant improvements in upper limb function with different doses of task-specific motor training. The intervention groups in the trial in the early phase ranged from usual therapy (control) to three hours of CIMT per day for two weeks, whereas the intervention groups in the trial in the late phase ranged from 100 repetitions to 300 repetitions of motor training per session over eight weeks. Similarly, another recent trial which randomised 45 participants into four intervention groups ranging from 0 to 60 hours of motor training in the late phase of stroke recovery, did not demonstrate improvements in upper limb function. Interestingly, this trial demonstrated improvements in upper limb *use*, rather than function, with 60 hours of motor training over three weeks [140]. There could be several reasons for the lack of a treatment effect in these trials, however, the most obvious reason could be that 3 hours of CIMT or 300 repetitions of upper limb motor training per session may not be sufficient to improve upper limb function.

In the lower limb, there are few studies that have reported amount of repetitions of motor training. Two randomised controlled trials investigating the effects of sitting balance training in the early [141] and late [142] phases of stroke recovery reported improved sitting balance with approximately 300 repetitions of sitting balance training per day for two weeks. A cohort study designed to predict walking outcomes after stroke found that people who performed more than 700 repetitions of lower limb exercises in the first week of rehabilitation were much more likely to walk 20 days after commencing rehabilitation than people who had not [143]. Furthermore, of those who performed more than 700 repetitions of lower limb exercise in the first week, 80% were able to walk independently at 20 days. However, in contrast, only 20% Page 49 of 118

of those who did not perform more than 700 repetitions of lower limb exercise were able to walk independently at 20 days. This study was designed to predict walking outcomes and should not be used to imply causation. Nonetheless, these results in combination with the other evidence point to a dose-response relationship between amount of repetitions of motor training and improvement in activity in the lower limb.

Summary

Together these studies do not provide specific amounts of repetitions required to improve individual upper and lower limb tasks such as reaching and manipulation, sitting, or walking. To do this, many larger randomised controlled trials testing different amounts of training with different sub-groups of people (i.e. weak versus very weak) after stroke are needed. However, when making decisions regarding amount of motor training clinicians need to take into consideration the costs involved in providing an intervention, harms, and inconvenience to a person (therapist providing or person receiving the intervention). There is a difference between the amount of motor training needed to reduce activity limitation and what is clinically feasible or safe for a person after stroke. For example, in the case of upper limb training, 3 hours of CIMT per day or 300 repetitions of upper limb motor training per session in addition to other therapies (such as speech or lower limb motor training) may not be feasible. Furthermore, the potential benefits of larger amounts of upper limb motor training may be too small to be meaningful to people who have other impairments and activity limitations that they want to improve. None-the-less, these studies of dosage indicate that large amounts (hundreds per day) of repetitions are required to improve functional tasks, and possibly larger amounts of repetitions of motor training are required to improve the upper limb tasks than lower limb tasks. The conflicting results between observational studies and randomised controlled trials of the upper limb may be due to study design. That is, cohort studies are not the appropriate research

designs for investigating causal links unless they are large and have appropriately controlled for confounding factors.

Chapter 3 Interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke: a systematic review

Published manuscript

This project is presented as a published manuscript:

de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Glinsky JV. Interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke: a systematic review. Journal of Physiotherapy. 2018;64(4):210-221.

Conference proceedings

This study has been presented at two conferences. It appears in the conference proceedings as:

- de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Glinsky JV. Do interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke? A systematic review. Proceedings of the World Confederation for Physical Therapy, Geneva, Switzerland, 2019.
- 2. **de Sousa DG**, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Glinsky JV. Do interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke? A systematic review. Smart Strokes, Hunter Valley, Australia, 2019.

Publication statement

Statement from co-authors confirming the authorship contribution of the PhD candidate. As co-authors of the manuscript:

de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Glinsky JV. Interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke: a systematic review. Journal of Physiotherapy. 2018;64(4):210-221.

We confirm that Davide de Sousa has made the following contributions:

- Conception and design of the research including literature search
- Collection of data
- Analysis and interpretation of the findings
- Writing the manuscript, critical appraisal of content and response to reviewers

Name	Signature	Date
Lisa Anne Harvey		30-Aug-2019
Simone Dorsch		30-Aug-2019
Joanne Valentina Glinsky		30-Aug-2019



Journal of PHYSIOTHERAPY

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jphys

Research

Interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke: a systematic review

Davide G de Sousa^{a,b,c}, Lisa A Harvey^{b,c}, Simone Dorsch^d, Joanne V Glinsky^{b,c}

^a Graythwaite Rehabilitation Centre, Ryde Hospital; ^b John Walsh Centre for Rehabilitation Research, Kolling Institute; ^c Sydney Medical School Northern, University of Sydney; ^d Faculty of Health Sciences, Australian Catholic University, Sydney, Australia

KEY WORDS

Repetitive practice

Systematic review

Meta-analysis

Stroke

Strength

ABSTRACT

Questions: Do interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke? Are any improvements in strength accompanied by improvements in activity? Design: Systematic review of randomised trials with meta-analysis. **Participants**: Adults who have had a stroke. **Intervention**: Any intervention involving repetitive practice compared with no intervention or a sham intervention. Outcome measures: The primary outcome was voluntary strength in muscles trained as part of the intervention. The secondary outcomes were measures of lower limb and upper limb activity. Results: Fifty-two studies were included. The overall SMD of repetitive practice on strength was examined by pooling post-intervention scores from 46 studies involving 1928 participants. The SMD of repetitive practice on strength when the upper and lower limb studies were combined was 0.25 (95% CI 0.16 to 0.34, I^2 = 44%) in favour of repetitive practice. Twenty-four studies with a total of 912 participants investigated the effects of repetitive practice on upper limb activity after stroke. The SMD was 0.15 (95% CI 0.02 to 0.29, I^2 = 50%) in favour of repetitive practice on upper limb activity. Twenty studies with a total of 952 participants investigated the effects of repetitive practice on lower limb activity after stroke. The SMD was 0.25 (95% CI 0.12 to 0.38, $I^2 = 36\%$) in favour of repetitive practice on lower limb activity. Conclusion: Interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke, and these improvements are accompanied by improvements in activity. Review registration: PROSPERO CRD42017068658. [de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Glinsky JV (2018) Interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke: a systematic review. Journal of Physiotherapy 64: 210-2211

© 2018 Australian Physiotherapy Association. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Introduction

The loss of strength after stroke is a common and important impairment. The average strength of the affected upper and lower limb in people who have had a significant stroke ranges from 30 to 50% of age-matched controls.^{1–4} This loss of strength can result in profound activity limitations⁵⁻⁷ and participation restrictions.⁸ Therefore, it is important to know which interventions are effective for improving strength after stroke. Progressive resistance training is commonly used to improve strength in people without disability9 and can be used to improve strength in people after stroke.¹⁰ Progressive resistance training is characterised by muscles working at high loads with low repetitions, that is, a load of 8 to 12 repetitions maximum (RM) for at least two sets with a progressive increase in the load.⁹ However, progressive resistance training is not commonly used after stroke, and often when strengthening programs claim to be using progressive resistance training they are not adhering to the guidelines.¹¹ This may be because progressive resistance training is time-consuming to set up and difficult to implement in people with very weak muscles. In contrast, repetitive practice of tasks can be set up with minimal

equipment and modified so that even people with very weak muscles can do some form of training.

Repetitive practice of tasks, such as walking, reaching and manipulation of objects, is a major component of rehabilitation after stroke. Some interventions used to promote repetitive practice include constraint-induced movement therapy, treadmill walking with body-weight support, or robotic devices. These interventions are typically performed with an emphasis on high repetitions and no added resistance to movement; hence, the principles of repetitive practice are very different to the principles of progressive resistance training. Repetitive practice is known to be effective for reducing activity limitations, with many systematic reviews confirming this.¹²⁻¹⁵ However, less is known about the effects of repetitive practice on strength after stroke, and no systematic reviews have specifically investigated this issue. Eight systematic reviews with meta-analyses have investigated the effects of strengthening interventions on strength after stroke. These reviews included studies that used progressive resistance training^{10,16–20} or an artificial drive of muscle contraction^{21,22} (ie, electrical stimulation without attempts to move a limb) as an intervention and did not focus specifically on repetitive practice.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2018.08.004

^{1836-9553/© 2018} Australian Physiotherapy Association. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Box 1. Inclusion criteria.

Since repetitive practice is widely used and recommended in rehabilitation after stroke,²³ it is important to understand if interventions involving repetitive practice are effective for improving strength.

Therefore, the research questions for this systematic review were:

- 1. Do interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke?
- 2. Are any improvements in strength accompanied by improvements in activity?

Method

Identification and selection of studies

Participants

Studies involving adult participants of either gender at any time after stroke were included. Studies that also involved participants with other types of acquired brain injury (eg, trauma) were excluded unless > 80% of participants had a diagnosis of stroke.

Intervention

Studies that examined the effectiveness of interventions that involved repetitive practice on land or in water (ie, hydrotherapy or aquatic physiotherapy) were included. Repetitive practice was defined as repetitive voluntary contraction of muscles of the affected upper or lower limb and included repetitive practice of a whole task (eg, sitting, standing up, walking) or components of a task (eg, elbow extension/flexion as a component of reaching and manipulation). Where constraint-induced movement therapy was used, studies that merely constrained the unaffected upper limb without active practice using the affected upper limb were excluded. Studies were excluded if: the intervention only included an artificial drive of muscle contraction (eg, passive robotics or electrical stimulation without attempts to move a limb), the intervention did not require voluntary muscle contraction (eg, mental practice, massage, passive movement), or the intervention involved progressive resistance strength training (ie, 1 to 3 sets, 8 to 12 repetitions of 60 to 70% 1RM with progression of resistance).

Comparison

The comparisons of interest were no intervention or a sham intervention. Studies with co-interventions were included provided the co-intervention was delivered to both groups (eg, repetitive practice plus usual therapy versus usual therapy).

Outcome measures

The primary outcome for this systematic review was strength. Studies were included if one of their outcomes was strength of the affected upper or lower limb in muscles that were trained. Strength could be measured in a number of ways, including: maximum force, maximum torque, manual muscle testing using the Medical Research Council (MRC) scale, or composite scales of multiple muscle groups such as the Motricity Index. Where multiple measures of strength were reported, the measure that best reflected the training was used. For example, if upper limb training primarily involved manipulation tasks, then hand grip strength was chosen rather than elbow extension strength. If studies reported outcomes at multiple time-points, then data collected at the time-point closest to the end of the intervention were extracted.

The secondary outcomes for this systematic review were activity of the affected upper and lower limb, measured using any continuous or ordinal measure of activity. These secondary outcomes were only collected from studies that met the inclusion criteria for the review. That is, studies that measured activity were only included if they also measured strength, because the analysis

Design
Randomised
Participants
 Adults (> 18 years old)
 Diagnosis of stroke
Intervention
Repetitive practice
Comparisons
 Repetitive practice versus no intervention
 Repetitive practice versus a sham intervention
Outcome measures
 Muscle strength measured as maximum force/torque, or
composite scales of multiple muscle groups, or manual
muscle testing, measured immediately after the interven-
tion in the muscles that were trained

of activity was a secondary analysis used to determine whether improvements in strength were accompanied by improvements in activity. Where multiple measures of activity were reported, the measure that best reflected the training was used. For example, if the repetitive practice targeted the lower limb, a lower limb measure such as the 10-m walk test was used rather than a measure of upper limb activity. Priority for the upper and lower limb measures of activity were given to the Action Research Arm Test and the 10-m walk test, respectively, because these outcome measures have been recommended for use in clinical studies by the international research community.²⁴

Searches were conducted of MEDLINE (Ovid) (1946 to 24 January 2017), EMBASE (Ovid) (1947 to 24 January 2017), AMED (1985 to 24 January 2017), CINAHL (Ebsco) (1982 to 24 January 2017), SCOPUS (inception to 24 January 2017), SPORTDiscus (Ebsco) (inception to 24 January 2017), Web of Science (inception to 24 January 2017), Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (1986 to 24 January 2017) and PEDro (inception to 13 February 2017) for relevant studies written in English with no date restrictions. Search terms included words related to stroke, randomised trials, repetitive practice and muscle strength (see Appendix 1 on the eAddenda). Hand searching of the reference lists of the included studies and relevant systematic reviews was undertaken. Authors of conference abstracts were contacted for full reports of unpublished studies. One reviewer independently screened all titles and abstracts to identify relevant studies. All titles and abstracts were also equally divided and independently screened by three other reviewers, ensuring that all titles and abstracts were screened by two people. Full-text copies of relevant studies were retrieved and reviewed independently by each reviewer using predetermined eligibility criteria (Box 1). If two reviewers disagreed about the eligibility of a study, a third reviewer arbitrated until a consensus was reached.

Assessment of risk of bias

One reviewer independently assessed risk of bias of the included studies using the Cochrane Risk of Bias Tool. Each study was rated as high risk, unclear risk or low risk on the following domains: sequence generation; concealed allocation; blinding of participants and therapists; blinding of outcome assessors; incomplete outcome data; selective outcome reporting; and other bias. Studies were checked online against published PEDro scores to assist with decisions regarding bias, and disagreements were resolved by a second reviewer. Studies that reported incomplete data in more than 15% of participants were deemed to have high risk of bias from incomplete outcome data. Studies that did not report a clinical trial registration number or registered the protocol retrospectively were deemed to have unclear risk of bias in the category of 'other bias'.

Data extraction and analysis

Two reviewers independently extracted outcome data and details of the experimental and control interventions. The number of participants, age and time since stroke were recorded to describe the participants. Post-intervention data were retrieved in preference to change data because these were the most commonly provided data and the data needed to be in the same format for meta-analyses expressed as standardised mean differences (SMD). Authors were contacted if there were missing outcome data or post-intervention data were not provided. Differences between the two reviewers were resolved by discussion, and when necessary, arbitrated by a third reviewer.

Separate meta-analyses were performed on studies involving the same intervention for strength, upper limb activity and lower limb activity. Meta-analyses were only considered if there were sufficient data to pool and there was not excessive between-trial heterogeneity (ie, I² values were not \geq 75%). A fixed-effect model was used if there was no apparent clinical heterogeneity and the I² value was \leq 50%. A random-effects model was used if there was no apparent clinical heterogeneity and the I² value was > 50%. Pooled estimates were reported as SMD (95% CI) for all analyses because outcomes were measured in different ways. If post-intervention data were not available, separate meta-analyses were conducted of studies that only provided change data. This was done to avoid pooling of post-intervention data with change data, given that the results of all analyses were reported as SMD.

Sensitivity analyses

Sensitivity analyses were conducted to examine the robustness of the primary meta-analysis for strength. The sensitivity analyses explored the effects of various methodological aspects of the included studies, including: methods for generating the randomisation sequence (only trials with adequate methods); effects of allocation concealment (only trials with concealed allocation); blinding of assessors (only trials with blinded assessors); selective outcome reporting (only trials without selective outcome reporting); incomplete outcome data (only trials with $\leq 15\%$ missing data); and other bias (only trials without other bias).

Subgroup analyses

Subgroup analyses on the strength data were performed to explore four factors. The first subgroup comparison was based on the limbs that were trained (upper limb versus lower limb) because the upper limb may respond differently to repetitive practice than the lower limb. The second comparison related to time since stroke (< 6 months versus > 6 months) because people early after stroke may respond differently to people late after stroke. The third comparison was based on dosage (\leq 24 hours versus > 24 hours of repetitive practice) because people may respond differently to higher doses of repetitive practice than lower doses. If actual dosage (frequency plus duration of therapy sessions) was reported, these data were used in preference to scheduled therapy time. The last subgroup comparison was based on initial strength (weak ie, $\leq 3/5$ MRC versus strong ie, $\geq 4/5$ MRC) since people who are weaker may respond differently to repetitive practice than those who are stronger.

All data were analysed using Review Manager software^a.

Results

Flow of studies through the review

The electronic search strategy identified 4533 studies (excluding duplicates). After screening titles, abstracts, and reference lists, 129 full reports of studies were retrieved. After inspecting the full reports, 52 studies were included. Seventy-seven studies were excluded and the reasons for exclusion are summarised in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Flow of studies through the review.

^a Studies may have been excluded for failing to meet more than one inclusion criterion.

Characteristics of included trials

Fifty-two studies investigated the effect of repetitive practice on strength after stroke, and some of these studies also included measures of activity (see Table 1). Additional information was requested from the authors for 15 studies^{25–39} and received from eight authors.^{26,29–31,33,34,38,39} Two studies met the inclusion criteria; however, strength measures were either not reported or authors were unable to provide the data.^{25,40} These studies were included in the review but excluded from all meta-analyses. Four studies only reported change data for strength, and authors were unable to provide post-intervention data.^{27,28,35,38} These studies were included in the review but data were analysed separately. Forty-six studies reported post-intervention data and were used to determine the overall SMD of repetitive practice on strength.

Risk of bias

The risk of bias in the 52 included studies in this systematic review was variable (see Figure 2 for details). Thirty-six studies (69%) used adequate methods for generating the randomisation sequence. Sixteen studies (31%) used adequate methods to conceal allocation. No studies were able to blind participants or therapists due to the nature of the intervention. Thirty-seven studies (71%) blinded assessors of outcomes to group allocation. Forty-three studies (83%) had complete outcome data. Forty-six studies (89%) were free of selective outcome reporting, and twelve studies (23%) were free of other bias.

Participants

The mean age of participants across the studies ranged from 47 to 79 years. The mean time since stroke ranged from 6 days to

Table 1

Characteristics of included studies (n = 52).

Study	Participants ^a	Comparison	Outcome measures ^b	
Alberts (2004) ²⁵	n = $10/10$ Exp age (yr)=65 (8) Con age (yr)=63 (16) Exp time since stroke (mth)=6.4 (1.1) Con time since stroke (mth)=5.6 (1.5)	Exp = CIMT 360 min × 5/wk × 2 wk Con = no intervention	Strength = hand grip – force (N) Activity = WMFT (sec) Endpoint: 2 wk	
Almhdawi (2016) ²⁶	n=20/20 Exp age (yr)=61 (10) Con age (yr)=63 (9) Exp time since stroke (mth)=62.3 (45.2) Con time since stroke (mth)=61.9 (49.4)	Exp = task-specific UL training 90 min \times 2/wk \times 6 wk Con = no intervention	Strength = EE – isometric force (<i>lb</i>) Activity = WMFT (<i>sec</i>) Endpoint: 7 wk	
An (2016) ⁶⁷	n = 18/38 Exp age (yr)=51 (10) Con age (yr)=47 (11) Exp time since stroke (mth)=50.6 (34.6) Con time since stroke (mth)=62.7 (41.0)	Exp = weight-bearing exercise + cycling 30 min × 3/wk × 5 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = KE – isokinetic torque (<i>Nm/kg</i>) Activity = self-selected walking speed (<i>m/s</i>) Endpoint: 5 wk	
Atteya (2004) ⁶⁰	n=4/4 Exp age (yr) =55 (3) Con age (yr) =56 (16) Exp time since stroke (mth) =5.6 (0.3) Con time since stroke (mth) =4.7 (1.2)	Exp = CIMT 60 min × 3/wk × 10 wk Con = no intervention	Strength = hand grip – force (kg) Activity = ARAT (/57 points) Endpoint: 10 wk	
Barker (2008) ⁶⁸	n = 23/33 Exp age (yr) = 67 (8) Con age (yr) = 69 (11) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 40.8 (31.2) Con time since stroke (mth) = 36.0 (30.0)	Exp=SMART arm training 60 min × 3/wk × 4 wk Con = no intervention	Strength = UL reaching – force (N) Activity = MAS (/7 points) Endpoint: 4 wk	
Bi (2008) ⁴¹	n=37/77 Exp age (yr)=58 (9) Con age (yr)=60 (7) Exp time since stroke (mth)=45.5 (30.1) Con time since stroke (mth)=42.9 (34.7)	Exp = task-specific UL training + placebo-TENS 60 min × 5/wk × 8 wk Con = no intervention	Strength = hand grip – force (N) Activity = WMFT (sec) Endpoint: 8 wk	
Bowman (1979) ⁴⁰	n=30/30 Exp age (yr)=NR Con age (yr)=NR Exp time since stroke (<i>mth</i>)=NR Con time since stroke (<i>mth</i>)=NR	Exp = position-triggered FES 30 min × 2/day × 5/wk × 4 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = WE – isometric torque (Nm) Activity = nil Endpoint: 4 wk	
Burgar (2011) ²⁷	n = $36/54$ Exp age (yr) = 59 (10) Con age (yr) = 63 (9) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 0.5 (0.3) Con time since stroke (mth) = 0.6 (0.4)	Exp=high-dose robotic training 60 min × 30 over 3 wk Con=low-dose robotic training ^c Both=usual therapy	Strength = composite UL (14 muscle groups) – MMT (/70 points) Activity = WMFT (sec) Endpoint: 3 wk	
Chan (2015) ²⁸	n=25/37 Exp age (yr)=56 (7) Con age (yr)=59 (10) Exp time since stroke (mth)=41.8 (28.7) Con time since stroke (mth)=47.3 (29.8)	Exp = task-specific trunk training + placebo TENS 60 min \times 5/wk \times 6 wk Con = health education on measuring BP and monitoring falls ^c	Strength=TE – isometric torque (Nm) Activity=lateral seated reach affected (cm) Endpoint: 6 wk	
Chu (2004) ⁷⁶	n=12/13 Exp age (yr)=62 (9) Con age (yr)=63 (8) Exp time since stroke (mth)=36.0 (24.0) Con time since stroke (mth)=50.4 (25.2)	Exp = water-based endurance program 60 min × 3/wk × 8 wk Con = arm function program ^c	Strength = composite LL (HF/HE/KF/KE) – isokinetic torque (<i>Nm/kg</i>) Activity = self-selected walking speed (<i>m/s</i>) Endpoint: 8 wk	
Cooke (2010) ²⁹	n = 54/109 Exp age (yr) = 71 (11) Con age (yr) = 66 (14) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 1.1 (0.5) Con time since stroke (mth) = 1.2 (0.7)	Exp = functional strength training 60 min \times 4/wk \times 6 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = KE – isokinetic torque (Nm) Activity = walking speed (m/s) Endpoint: 6 wk	
Cowles (2013) ⁴²	n=22/29 Exp age (yr)=79 (8) Con age (yr)=76 (12) Exp time since stroke (mth)=0.6 (0.2) Con time since stroke (mth)=0.6 (0.2)	Exp = observation-to-imitate + physical practice 60 min × 5/wk × 3 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = UL – Motricity Index (/100 points) Activity = ARAT (/57 points) Endpoint: 3 wk	
de Sousa (2016) ⁵²	n=39/40 Exp age (yr)=62 (15) Con age (yr)=60 (16) Exp time since stroke (mth)=1.4 (1.1) Con time since stroke (mth)=1.7 (1.4)	Exp = FES cycling 17 to 32 min × 5/wk × 4 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = KE – isometric torque (Nm) Activity = FIM – mobility (/21 points) Endpoint: 4 wk	
Dean (2000) ⁴³	n=9/12 Exp age (yr)=66 (8) Con age (yr)=62 (7) Exp time since stroke (<i>mth</i>)=27.6 (8.4) Con time since stroke (<i>mth</i>)=15.6 (10.8)	Exp = UL exercise class 60 min × 3/wk × 4 wk Con = lower limb exercise class ^c	Strength = hand grip – force (kg) Activity = Unimanual Purdue Pegboard (no. of pegs) Endpoint: 4 wk	

Study	Participants ^a	Comparison	Outcome measures ^b
Dean (2012) ⁴⁴	n=133/151 Exp age (yr)=67 (14) Con age (yr)=68 (10) Exp time since stroke (mth)=80.4 (80.4) Con time since stroke (mth)=62.4 (64.8)	Exp = LL exercise class 45 min × 40 over 52 wk Con = upper limb exercise class ^c	Strength = KE – isometric force (kg) Activity = fast walking speed (m/s) Endpoint: 52 wk
Donaldson (2009) ³⁰	n = 18/30 Exp age (yr)=73 (12) Con age (yr)=73 (15) Exp time since stroke (mth)=0.7 (0.6) Con time since stroke (mth)=0.4 (0.2)	Exp = functional strength training 60 min \times 4/wk \times 6 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = EE – isometric force (N) Activity = ARAT (/57 points) Endpoint: 6 wk
Dorsch (2014) ⁵³	n = $33/33$ Exp age (yr)=66 (12) Con age (yr)=69 (13) Exp time since stroke (mth)=0.5 (0.2) Con time since stroke (mth)=0.6 (0.2)	Exp = EMG-triggered FES 4 UL muscle groups × 30 reps × 5/wk × 4 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = composite UL (SF/EE/WE/TA) – MMT (/20 points) Activity = MAS (/19 points) Endpoint: 4 wk
GAPS (2004) ⁶²	n = 65/70 Exp age (yr)=68 (11) Con age (yr)=67 (10) Exp time since stroke (mth)=0.7 (0.5) Con time since stroke (mth)=0.8 (0.6)	Exp = additional physiotherapy 60 to 80 min × 5/wk (duration NR) Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength=composite (UL/LL) – MI (/200 points) Activity=RMI (/15 points) Endpoint: 12 wk
Gordon (2013) ⁴⁵	n = 116/128 Exp age (yr) =63 (9) Con age (yr) =65 (11) Exp time since stroke (mth) =12.8 (3.6) Con time since stroke (mth) =11.8 (3.6)	Exp = overground walking 15 to 30 min × 3/wk × 12 wk Con = massage ^c	Strength=LL – Motricity Index (/100 points) Activity=6MWT (m) Endpoint: 12 wk
Harris (2009) ⁴⁶	n = 103/103 Exp age (yr) = 69 (12) Con age (yr) = 69 (15) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 0.7 (0.2) Con time since stroke (mth) = 0.7 (0.2)	Exp = GRASP 60 min × 6/wk × 4 wk Con = education book on stroke recovery and general health ^c Both = usual therapy	Strength = hand grip – force (kg) Activity = ARAT (/57 points) Endpoint: 4 wk
Heckmann (1997) ⁵⁴	n = 28/28 Exp age (yr) = 50 (14) Con age (yr) = 54 (11) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 1.8 (0.8) Con time since stroke (mth) = 2.0 (1.3)	Exp = EMG-triggered FES 4 UL/LL muscle groups × 15 reps × 5/wk × 4 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = DF – MMT (/6 points) Activity = BI (/100 points) Endpoint: 4 wk
Higgins (2006) ⁴⁷	n=91/91 Exp age (yr)=73 (8) Con age (yr)=71 (12) Exp time since stroke (mth)=7.1 (2.4) Con time since stroke (mth)=7.9 (2.7)	Exp = task-specific UL training $\approx 90 \text{ min} \times 3/\text{wk} \times 6 \text{ wk}$ Con = walking training ^c	Strength=hand grip – force (kg) Activity=Box and Block (no. of blocks) Endpoint: 6 wk
Hsieh (2011) ⁵⁷	n = $12/18$ Exp age (yr)=56 (14) Con age (yr)=52 (2) Exp time since stroke (mth)=21.3 (7.2) Con time since stroke (mth)=13.0 (7.0)	Exp = high-intensity robotic training 90 to 105 min × 5/wk × 4 wk Con = low-intensity robotic training ^c	Strength = average UL (eight muscle groups) – MMT (/48 points) Activity = FMA (UL) (/66 points) Endpoint: 4 wk
Hsieh (2012) ³¹	n=36/54 Exp age (yr)=57 (10) Con age (yr)=52 (12) Exp time since stroke (mth)=28.7 (13.7) Con time since stroke (mth)=23.3 (15.4)	Exp = high-intensity robotic training 90 to 105 min × 5/wk × 4 wk Con = low-intensity robotic training ^c	Strength = UL – MMT (/6 points) Activity = FMA (UL) (/66 points) Endpoint: 4 wk
Hwang (2012) ⁵⁸	n = 15/17 Exp age (yr) = 50 (4) Con age (yr) = 51 (3) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 7.3 (6.3) Con time since stroke (mth) = 5.3 (5.9)	Exp = active robotic hand training 40 min x 5/wk × 4 wk Con = passive/active robotic hand training ^c	Strength = hand grip – force (kg) Activity = Jebsen Taylor Test (sec) Endpoint: 4 wk
Kim (2015) ⁷⁴	n = 19/29 Exp age (yr) = 58 (8) Con age (yr) = 62 (1) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 10.1 (5.6) Con time since stroke (mth) = 13.7 (7.1)	Exp = mirror therapy + BF-FES 30 min × 5/wk × 4 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = hand grip – force (kg) Activity = Jebsen Taylor Test (sec) Endpoint: 4 wk
Kwakkel (1999) ^{32 d} Cooke (2010) ⁷⁸	n=60/101 Exp age (yr) =65 (10) Con age (yr) =64 (15) Exp time since stroke (mth) =0.2 (0.1) Con time since stroke (mth) =0.2 (0.1)	Exp = task-specific LL training 30 min × 5/wk × 20 wk Con = immobilisation of LL ^c Both = usual therapy	Strength=LL – Motricity Index (/100 points) Activity=fast walking speed (m/s) Endpoint: 20 wk
Lannin (2016) ⁶⁹	n=9/9 Exp age (yr) =63 (10) Con age (yr) =51 (21) Exp time since stroke (mth) =2.5 (1.7) Con time since stroke (mth) =4.7 (6.1)	Exp = Saebo-Flex 45 min × 5/wk × 8 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = hand grip – force (kg) Activity = Box and Block (no. of blocks) Endpoint: 8 wk
Lee (2008) ⁶⁵	n=24/52 Exp age (yr)=67 (11) Con age (yr)=65 (6) Exp time since stroke (mth)=52.4 (2.2) Con time since stroke (mth)=65.8 (42.3)	Exp = cycling 30 min × 3/wk × 10 to 12 wk Con = sham cycling ^c Both = sham PRT	Strength = composite LL (HE/KE/KF/PF/DF) – isometric force (N) Activity = fast walking speed (m/s) Endpoint: 12 wk

Study	Participants ^a	Comparison	Outcome measures ^b		
Lee $(2012)^{71}$ n=40/40 Exp age $(yr)=54$ (11) Con age $(yr)=54$ (11) Exp time since stroke $(mth)=13.3$ (5.9) Con time since stroke $(mth)=14.0$ (6.3)		Exp=standing balance training (video games) 20 min × 5/wk × 4 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = KE – MMT (/6 points) Activity = walking speed (s) Endpoint: 4 wk		
Lee (2013) ⁷⁰	n = $14/14$ Exp age (yr) = 72 (9) Con age (yr) = 76 (6) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 7.3 (1.4) Con time since stroke (mth) = 8.3 (3.4)	Exp = UL therapy (video games) 30 min × 3/wk × 6 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength=EE – MMT (/10 points) Activity=FIM (scale NR) Endpoint: 6 wk		
Lee (2016) ⁷⁵	n = 27/30 Exp age (yr) = 56 (7) Con age (yr) = 54 (6) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 36.8 (26.1) Con time since stroke (mth) = 42.5 (33.9)	Exp = mirror therapy + FES $5/wk \times 4 wk$ Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = DF – isometric force (<i>lb</i>) Activity = 6MWT (<i>sec</i>) Endpoint: 4 wk		
Lincoln (1999) ⁶³	n = 189/282 Exp age (yr) = 73 (12) Con age (yr) = 73 (12) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 0.4 (0.2) Con time since stroke (mth) = 0.4 (0.2)	$Exp = additional physiotherapy \approx 2 hrs/wk \times 5 wkCon = no interventionBoth = usual therapy$	Strength = hand grip – force (% of unaffected UL Activity = ARAT (/57 points) Endpoint: 5 wk		
Masiero (2007) ³³	n = 30/35 Exp age (yr) = 63 (12) Con age (yr) = 69 (11) Exp time since stroke (mth) = NR Con time since stroke (mth) = NR	Exp = robotic UL training 20 to 30 min \times 2/day \times 5/wk \times 5 wk Con = unaffected UL exposed to robot ^c Both = usual therapy	Strength = ShAbd – MMT (/6 points) Activity = FIM motor (/79 points) Endpoint: 5 wk		
Ng (2007) ⁴⁸	n = 40/88 Exp age (yr) = 57 (8) Con age (yr) = 57 (9) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 56.4 (49.2) Con time since stroke (mth) = 62.4 (34.8)	$Exp = task-specific LL training + placebo-TENS 60 min \times 5/wk \times 4 wk Con = no intervention$	Strength = PF – isometric torque (Nm) Activity = self-selected walking speed (cm/s) Endpoint: 4 wk		
Pang (2005) ³⁴	n = 60/63 Exp age (yr) = 66 (9) Con age (yr) = 65 (8) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 62.4 (60.0) Con time since stroke (mth) = 61.2 (43.2)	Exp = FAME program 60 min x 3/wk × 19 wk Con = seated UL program ^c	Strength = KE – isometric force (N) Activity = 6MWT (m) Endpoint: 19 wk		
Rodgers (2003) ⁶⁴	n = 105/123 Exp age (yr)=74 (NR) Con age (yr)=75 (NR) Exp time since stroke (mth)=0.2 (0.1) Con time since stroke (mth)=0.2 (0.1)	Exp = additional physiotherapy 30 min \times 5/wk \times 6 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength=UL – Motricity Index (/100 points) Activity=ARAT (/57 points) Endpoint: 3 mth		
Ross (2009) ⁴⁹	n = $37/40$ Exp age (yr) = 60 (21) Con age (yr) = 59 (19) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 2.3 (2.7) Con time since stroke (mth) = 0.7 (2.0)	Exp = task-specific UL training 60 min \times 5/wk \times 6 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength=composite UL (nine muscle groups) – MMT (/45 points) Activity=ARAT (/57 points) Endpoint: 6 wk		
Rydwik (2006) ⁵⁹	n = 9/18 Exp age (yr) =75 (9) Con age (yr) =75 (5) Exp time since stroke (mth) =42.6 (18.2) Con time since stroke (mth) =54.9 (20.0)	Exp = Stimulo robotic therapy 30 min × 3/wk × 6 wk Con = no intervention	Strength=PF – torque (Nm) Activity=fast walking speed (m/s) Endpoint: 6 wk		
Sanchez-Sanchez (2016) ⁵⁰	n = $15/15$ Exp age (yr) = 58 (12) Con age (yr) = 62 (11) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 41.3 (34.3) Con time since stroke (mth) = 33.8 (26.3)	Exp=UL exercise program 75 min × 33 over 12 wk Con=LL exercise program ^c	Strength=hand grip – force (<i>kg</i>) Activity=WMFT – average functional score (/6 points) Endpoint: 12 wk		
Shin (2008) ⁵⁵	n = $14/14$ Exp age (yr) = 61 (8) Con age (yr) = 54 (4) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 18.6 (4.2) Con time since stroke (mth) = 19.7 (7.7)	Exp = EMG-triggered FES 30 min × 2/day × 5/wk × 10 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = isometric MPJ extension force (kg) Activity = Box and Block (no. of blocks) Endpoint: 10 wk		
Sullivan et al (2007) ³⁵	n = 36/80 Exp age (yr) = 58 (15) Con age (yr) = 63 (9) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 23.1 (15.0) Con time since stroke (mth) = 28.4 (19.0)	Exp = BWSTT $60 \min \times 4/\text{wk} \times 6 \text{ wk}$ Con = UL ergometry ^c Both = cycling	Strength = composite LL (HE, KE, PF) – isometric torque (Nm) Activity = fast walking speed (m/s) Endpoint: 6 wk		
Sunderland (1992) ³⁶	n = $61/132$ Exp age (yr) = 67 (NR) Con age (yr) = 70 (NR) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 0.3 (NR) Con time since stroke (mth) = 0.3 (NR)	Exp = additional physiotherapy Intervention period = NR Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength=UL – Extended Motricity Index (scale NR) Activity=Frenchay Arm Test (/5 pass or fail) Endpoint: 4 wk		
Tankisheva (2014) ⁷²	n = 13/15 Exp age (yr) = 57 (13) Con age (yr) = 65 (4) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 92.5 (103.2) Con time since stroke (mth) = 63.4 (43.2)	Exp = whole body vibration training 30 min \times 3/wk \times 6 wk Con = no intervention	Strength=KE – isometric torque (Nm) Activity=Sensory Organisation Test (condition 6) Endpoint: 6 wk		

Table 1 (Continued)

Study	Participants ^a Comparis		Outcome measures ^b		
Tian (2007) ⁶⁶	n = 80/80 Exp age (yr) = 58 (NR) Con age (yr) = 58 (NR) Exp time since stroke (mth) = NR Con time since stroke (mth) = NR	Exp = THERA-vital cycling 30 min × 6/wk × 4 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = LL – MMT (/6 points) Activity = ADL (/8 grades) Endpoint: 4 wk		
Tihanyi (2010) ⁷³	n = 20/20 Exp age (yr) = 58 (5) Con age (yr) = 58 (8) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 0.9 (0.3) Con time since stroke (mth) = 0.8 (0.3)	Exp = whole body vibration training $3/wk \times 4 wk$ Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = KE – isometric torque (Nm) Activity = nil Endpoint: 4 wk		
Tung (2010) ³⁷	n = $32/32$ Exp age (yr)=51 (21) Con age (yr)=53 (14) Exp time since stroke (mth)=26.9 (16.0) Con time since stroke (mth)=12.8 (12.3)	Exp = STS training 15 min × 3/wk × 4 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = KE – force (% normalised to body-weight) Activity = Berg Balance Scale (/56 points) Endpoint: 4 wk		
Tyson (2015) ³⁸	n = 85/94 Exp age (yr) = 64 (15) Con age (yr) = 64 (13) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 0.9 (0.6) Con time since stroke (mth) = 1.2 (0.9)	Exp = patient-led mirror therapy 30 min × 7/wk × 4 wk Con = patient-led LL exercise ^c Both = usual therapy	Strength = hand grip – force (units NR) Activity = ARAT (/57 points) Endpoint: 4 wk		
Winchester (1983) ⁵⁶	n = 40/40 Exp age (yr) =57 (13) Con age (yr) =60 (10) Exp time since stroke (mth) =1.5 (1.2) Con time since stroke (mth) =1.9 (1.3)	Exp = position-triggered FES + ES 30 min \times 5/wk \times 4 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = KE – isometric torque (Nm) Activity = nil Endpoint: 4 wk		
Winstein (2004) ³⁹	n = 40/64 Exp age (yr) = 58 (10) Con age (yr) = 50 (10) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 0.5 (0.2) Con time since stroke (mth) = 0.5 (0.2)	Exp = task-specific UL training 60 min × 5/wk × 4 wk Con = no intervention Both = usual therapy	Strength = composite UL (ShE, ShF, EE, EF, WE, WF) – isometric torque (<i>kg/cm</i>) Activity = FTHUE (/18 points) Endpoint: 4 to 6 wk		
Yang (2006) ⁵¹	n = 48/48 Exp age (yr) = 57 (10) Con age (yr) = 60 (10) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 62.7 (27.4) Con time since stroke (mth) = 64 (40.4)	Exp = task-specific strength training 30 min × 3/wk × 4 wk Con = no intervention	Strength = KE – isometric force (<i>lb</i>) Activity = self-selected walking speed (<i>cm/s</i>) Endpoint: 4 wk		
Yoon (2014) ⁶¹	n = $18/26$ Exp age (yr) = 64 (9) Con age (yr) = 61 (17) Exp time since stroke (mth) = 0.6 (0.3) Con time since stroke (mth) = 0.8 (0.4)	Exp = CIMT 360 min × 5/wk × 2 wk Con = independent exercise program ^c Both = usual therapy + independent exercise program	Strength = hand grip – force (kg) Activity = WMFT (sec) Endpoint: 2 wk		

ARAT = Action Research Arm Test, ADL = activities of daily living, BI = Barthel Index, BP = blood pressure, BWSTT = body-weight-supported treadmill training, CIMT = constraintinduced movement therapy, Con = control group, DF = dorsiflexors, EE = elbow extensors, EF = elbow flexors, EMG = electromyography, ES = electrical stimulation, Exp = experimental group, FAME = Fitness and Mobility Exercise, FES = Functional Electrical Stimulation, FMA = Fugl-Meyer Assessment, FTHUE = Functional Test for the Hemiparetic Upper Extremity, GRASP = Graded Repetitive Arm Supplementary Program, HAbd = hip abductors, HE = hip extensors, HF = hip flexors, KE = knee extensors, KF = knee flexors, LL = lower limb, MAS = Motor Assessment Scale, MI = Motricity Index, MMT = Manual Muscle Test, MPJ = metacarpophalangeal joint, NR = not reported, PF = plantarflexors, RM = repetition maximum, RMI = Rivermead Mobility Index, ShAbd = shoulder abductors, ShAdd = shoulder adductors, ShE = shoulder extensors, ShER = shoulder extension, TENS = transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, UL = upper limb, WE = wrist extensors, WF = wrist flexors, WMFT = Wolf Motor Function Test.

^a n=number of participants analysed/number of participants randomised. Age (yr) and time since stroke (mth)=mean (SD).

^b Outcome measures and endpoint used in data analysis.

^c Considered to be equivalent to no intervention or of lower dosage when compared with the experimental group.

^d Data obtained from Kwakkel (1999) and Cooke et al (2010).

8 years, with 28 of the 52 studies including participants who were more than 6 months after their stroke.

Intervention

The experimental intervention, repetitive practice, was providin the following ways: task-specific training^{26,28-} ed ^{30,32,34,35,37,39,41-51} (provided in a group setting or on a one-toone basis) (20 studies); electromyography-triggered functional electrical stimulation (FES) or FES combined with active movement^{40,52–56} (six studies); robotics^{27,31,33,57–59} (six studies); constraint-induced movement therapy^{25,60,61} (three studies); Bobath^{62–64} (three studies); cycling^{65,66} (two studies); mixed therapies that included a number of interventions^{36,67} (two studies); assistive technology^{68,69} (SMART Arm & SAEBO) (two studies); video games^{70,71} (two studies); whole body vibration combined with active movement^{72,73} (two studies); mirror therapy and FES combined with active movement^{74,75} (two studies); mirror therapy³⁸ (one study); and water-based exercise⁷⁶ (one study). The frequency and duration of therapy sessions, and intensity and progression of practice was variable (see Appendix 2 on the eAddenda). The duration of therapy sessions ranged from 15 to

360 minutes including rest breaks. Overall average dosage (frequency plus duration of therapy sessions) ranged from 2.2 hours over 4 weeks to 60 hours over 2 weeks. Sixteen studies reported total repetitions of active practice ranging from five repetitions per exercise to 1800 repetitions per therapy session. These repetitions were counted throughout a session or specified prior to each therapy session. Thirty-three studies compared repetitive practice to no intervention^{25,26,29,30,36,37,39–42,48,49,51–56,59,60,62–64,66–75} and 19 studies compared repetitive practice to a

sham intervention.^{27,28,31–35,38,43–47,50,57,58,61,65,76}

Outcome measures

Strength of the affected upper or lower limb was measured in the following ways: maximum force^{25,26,30,34,38,41,43,44,46,47,50,51,55,58,60,61,65,68,69,74,75} (21 studies); torque^{28,29,35,39,40,48,52,56,59,67,72,73,76} (13 studies); Motricity In-dex^{32,42,45,62,64} (five studies); Extended Motricity Index³⁶ (one study); manual muscle testing^{27,31,33,49,53,54,57,66,70,71} (10 studies); and percentage of strength normalised to body-weight³⁷ or expressed as a percentage of the unaffected side⁶³ (two studies).



Figure 2. The risk of bias in the included studies (n = 52). Green = low risk of bias, yellow = unclear risk of bias, red = high risk of bias.

Activity of the upper and lower limb was measured using various scales (see Appendix 3 on the eAddenda).

Effects of repetitive practice

Strength

Forty-six studies with a total of 1928 participants investigated the effects of repetitive practice on strength after stroke. The overall SMD of repetitive practice on strength when the upper and lower limb studies were combined was 0.25 (95% CI 0.16 to 0.34, $I^2 = 44\%$) in favour of repetitive practice (Figure 3, see Figure 4 on the eAddenda for a detailed forest plot). These studies involved 12 different types of interventions that were analysed in separate meta-analyses. The most common intervention was task-specific training, with 18 studies and a total of 931 participants. The SMD was 0.21 (95% CI 0.08 to 0.34, $I^2 = 36\%$) in favour of task-specific training on strength. The intervention with the largest effect on strength was constraint-induced movement therapy, with two studies and a total of 22 participants. The SMD was 1.49 (95% CI 0.44 to 2.54, $I^2 = 57\%$) in favour of constraint-induced movement therapy on strength. The intervention with the next largest effect on strength was assistive technology, with two studies and a total of 32 participants. The SMD was 1.02 (95% CI 0.26 to 1.78, $I^2 = 29\%$) in favour of assistive technology on strength. Four studies^{27,28,35,38} with a total of 182 participants only reported change data for strength; however, statistical heterogeneity was too high to pool results in a meta-analysis.

Upper limb activity

Twenty-four studies with a total of 912 participants investigated the effects of repetitive practice on upper limb activity after stroke. The SMD was 0.15 (95% CI 0.02 to 0.29, $I^2 = 50\%$) in favour of repetitive practice on upper limb activity (Figure 5, see Figure 6 on the eAddenda for a detailed forest plot). This translates to an absolute mean increase of 3.1/57 points (95% CI 0.4 to 5.8) on the ARAT (upper limb activity) when the results are back converted using the largest, least biased and most representative study of those included in the analysis.⁴⁶ These studies involved eight different types of interventions that were analysed in separate meta-analyses. The most common intervention involving repetitive practice was task-specific training, with 10 studies and a total of 392 participants. The SMD was 0.21 (95% CI 0.01 to 0.41, $I^2 = 0\%$) in favour of task-specific training on upper limb activity. Two studies^{27,38} with a total of 121 participants only reported change data for upper limb activity after stroke. The SMD was -0.12 (95% CI -0.50 to 0.25, $I^2 = 0\%$) in favour of no intervention or a sham intervention.

Lower limb activity

Twenty studies with a total of 952 participants investigated the effects of repetitive practice on lower limb activity after stroke. The SMD was 0.25 (95% Cl 0.12 to 0.38, $l^2 = 36\%$) in favour of repetitive practice on lower limb activity (Figure 7, see Figure 8 on the eAddenda for a detailed forest plot). This translates to an absolute mean increase of 0.13 m/s (95% Cl 0.06 to 0.20) in walking speed

de Sousa et al: Repetitive practice after stroke



Figure 3. The effect of repetitive practice versus no intervention or sham on strength (n = 1928).

Effects are expressed as SMD (95% CI).

^a Means (SD) obtained from Cooke et al 2010.

when the results are back converted using the largest, least biased and most representative study of those included in the analysis.⁴⁴ These studies involved 10 different types of interventions that were analysed in separate meta-analyses. The most common intervention involving repetitive practice was task-specific training, with nine studies and a total of 593 participants. The SMD was 0.32 (95% CI 0.16 to 0.48, I² = 35%) in favour of task-specific training on lower limb activity. One study with a total of 25 participants only reported change data for lower limb activity after stroke.²⁸ The MD in lateral seated reach to the affected side was 4.30 cm (95% CI 1.57 to 7.03) in favour of repetitive practice on lower limb activity.



Figure 5. The effect of repetitive practice versus no intervention or sham on upper limb activity (n = 912).

Effects are expressed as SMD (95% CI).

A negative time score reflects improvement in speed on the Wolf Motor Function Test and Jebsen Taylor Test.

^a No subtotals are presented for FES or Robotics because the I^2 value was > 75%.

Subgroup analyses

When studies were grouped according to upper and lower limb, there were 25 studies with a total of 973 participants that investigated the effects of repetitive practice on upper limb strength and 21 studies with a total of 955 participants that investigated the effects of repetitive practice on lower limb strength. The SMD was 0.16 (95% Cl 0.03 to 0.29, $l^2 = 47\%$) in favour of repetitive practice on upper limb strength and 0.34 (95% Cl 0.22 to 0.47, $l^2 = 34\%$) in favour of repetitive practice on lower limb strength (see Figures 9 and 10 on the eAddenda for the detailed forest plots). This translates to an absolute mean increase of 1.28 kg (95% Cl 0.24 to 2.32) in hand grip strength and 5.75 Nm (95% Cl 3.72 to 7.94) in knee extensor strength when the results are back converted using the largest, least biased, and most representative study of those included in the analysis.^{29,46}

When the studies were grouped according to time after stroke, there were 21 studies with a total of 1054 participants that investigated the effects of repetitive practice on strength early after stroke and 25 studies with a total of 874 participants that examined the effects of repetitive practice on strength late after stroke. The SMD was 0.32 (95% CI 0.13 to 0.52, $I^2 = 53\%$) in favour of repetitive practice early after stroke and 0.31 (95% CI 0.13 to 0.49, $I^2 = 36\%$) in favour of repetitive practice late after stroke.

When studies were grouped according to dosage, there were 35 studies with a total of 1572 participants that provided repetitive practice for a total of ≤ 24 hours, and 11 studies with a total of 356 participants that provided repetitive practice for a total of > 24 hours. The SMD was 0.24 (95% CI 0.14 to 0.34, I² = 41%) in favour of repetitive practice provided for a total of ≤ 24 hours and 0.31 (95% CI 0.10 to 0.53, I² = 53%) in favour of repetitive practice provided for a total of > 24 hours.



Figure 7. The effect of repetitive practice versus no intervention or sham on lower limb activity (n = 952).

Effects are expressed as SMD (95% CI).

A negative time score reflects improvement in walking speed on the 6-m and 10-m walk tests.

A subgroup analysis was planned for the effects of repetitive practice on strength in people who are weaker versus people who are stronger; however, because most studies recruited both weaker and stronger participants, this analysis was not possible.

Post-hoc analysis

When studies were grouped according to limbs that were trained and time since stroke, there were 13 studies with a total of 668 participants that investigated the effects of repetitive practice on upper limb strength early after stroke, and 12 studies with 305 participants that investigated the effects of repetitive practice on upper limb strength late after stroke. The SMD was 0.22 (95% CI -0.06 to 0.49, $I^2 = 59\%$) in favour of repetitive practice on upper limb strength early after stroke and 0.23 (95% CI 0.00 to 0.46, $I^2 = 29\%$) in favour of repetitive practice on upper limb strength late after stroke. There were eight studies with a total of 386 participants that investigated the effects of repetitive practice on lower limb strength early after stroke and 13 studies with a total of 569 participants that investigated the effects of repetitive practice on lower limb strength late after stroke. The SMD was 0.48 (95% CI 0.28 to 0.69, $I^2 = 0\%$) in favour of repetitive practice on lower limb strength early after stroke and 0.25 (95% CI 0.08 to 0.42, $I^2 = 45\%$) in favour of repetitive practice on lower limb strength late after stroke (see Appendix 4 on the eAddenda).

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analyses were conducted on the primary metaanalysis for strength to explore the effects of various methodological aspects of the included studies. The only substantial difference on the estimate for strength was found in the analysis of eight studies with a total of 343 participants that were free from other bias. The SMD was 0.19 (95% CI -0.03 to 0.40) in favour of repetitive practice (see Appendix 5 on the eAddenda). This was a smaller and less precise estimate than the overall SMD on strength when the upper and lower limb studies were combined (0.25, 95% CI 0.16 to 0.34).

Discussion

This systematic review provides evidence that interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke. The pooled mean treatment effects for upper and lower limbs are 1.28 kg and 5.75 Nm, respectively. This represents a 15% relative increase in strength in the upper limb, and a 28% relative increase in strength in the lower limb when compared to mean baseline strength. These estimates are reasonably precise with the 95% CI spanning from 0.24 to 2.32 kg (equivalent to a 3 to 26% relative increase) in the upper limb and 3.72 to 7.94 Nm (equivalent to an 18 to 39% relative increase) in the lower limb. These results suggest that the effect of repetitive practice on strength is greater in the lower limb (knee extension) than the upper limb (hand grip). These findings are similar in the post-hoc analyses that restricted studies to early after stroke. That is, the effects of repetitive practice on strength are greater in the lower limb (8.11 Nm, 95% CI 4.73 to 11.66) compared to the upper limb (1.76 kg, 95% CI -0.48 to 3.92).

These results suggest that small improvements in strength with repetitive practice translate into small improvements in activity of the upper (SMD 0.15, 95% CI 0.02 to 0.29) and lower limb (SMD 0.25, 95% CI 0.12 to 0.38) after stroke. The results for activity need to be interpreted with caution because the aim of this review was not to determine the effect of repetitive practice on activity. Instead, this was a secondary analysis used to determine whether improvements in strength were accompanied by improvements in activity. Therefore, it did not include studies that measured activity unless they measured strength. Other reviews provide the best evidence about the effects of repetitive practice on activity.^{12,14,15,77} However, a unique feature of our review is that it provides insights into the possible mechanisms underlying the observed improvement in activity with repetitive practice. The accompanying improvement in activity with improvement in strength suggests that the observed improvement in activity may, at least in part, be due to improvement in strength.

Of course, not all of the observed improvements in activity can be attributed solely to improvements in strength. Repetitive practice typically involves practice of tasks, which demands the integration of strength, coordination and sensory input. Thus, improvements in strength with repetitive practice are more likely to translate into improvements in activity than interventions that involve isolated strength training of muscles (eg, progressive resistance training).

Our results suggest smaller improvements in strength with repetitive practice (SMD 0.25, 95% CI 0.16 to 0.34) than reviews of progressive resistance training (SMD 0.98, 95% CI 0.67 to 1.29)¹⁰ and electrical stimulation (SMD 0.47, 95% CI 0.26 to 0.68).22 However, we cannot conclude that these other interventions improve strength more than repetitive practice for two main reasons. Firstly, to answer questions about relative effectiveness, interventions need to be compared in a randomised controlled trial. Secondly, studies of progressive resistance training may not have included people who are very weak; therefore, the cohorts of the studies included in the review of progressive resistance training may be different to the cohorts of the studies in our review.

Some clinicians may disagree with our definition of repetitive practice. Repetitive practice was defined as voluntary contraction of muscles of the affected upper or lower limb, and could have included repetitive practice of a whole task or components of a task. This definition was intentionally broad because people after

stroke may be too weak to practise a whole task (eg, reaching and manipulation of objects). Therefore, repetitive practice of components of a task (eg, elbow extension and finger flexion/extension) are needed prior to, and in combination with, whole task practice.

There is some indication that an increased dosage of repetitive practice improves strength after stroke. In studies where the total dosage was \leq 24 hours, the SMD was 0.24 (95% CI 0.14 to 0.34) in favour of repetitive practice. When the total dosage of repetitive practice was > 24 hours, the SMD was slightly more, namely 0.31 (95% CI 0.10 to 0.53) in favour of repetitive practice. However, dosage was difficult to quantify in this review because most studies did not report actual duration of active practice, and only 16 studies reported total repetitions of active practice or specified the total amount of repetitions aimed for in each therapy session. For this reason, we were forced to rely on data about scheduled therapy time. Surprisingly, one study only provided 2.2 hours of active practice over 4 weeks (equivalent to 0.5 hour per week). At the other extreme, one study provided 60 hours of active practice over 2 weeks (equivalent to 30 hours per week). Clearly, the doseresponse relationship of repetitive practice is complex and requires further investigation in large randomised controlled trials.

This review is unique because it included all randomised trials that investigated the effects of repetitive practice on strength after stroke. This review also provides individual estimates of improvements in strength for 12 different types of interventions involving repetitive practice. No other systematic review has investigated these issues. This review provides meta-analyses of the effects of repetitive practice in the upper limb both early and late after stroke, and in the lower limb both early and late after stroke. These analyses are useful because there may be differences in the way the upper and lower limbs respond to repetitive practice at different times after stroke.

The main limitation of this review was that a minimum worthwhile treatment effect for strength was not defined a priori, making it difficult to determine if a statistically significant result was clinically worthwhile. However, data were converted to relative improvements in strength to help clinicians interpret the results (see Appendices 6 and 7 on the eAddenda). Another limitation was that post-intervention data were used instead of change data. Change data may have provided a more precise estimate of effect of repetitive practice on strength. Postintervention data were used in preference to change data because these were the most commonly provided data in studies.

The loss of strength is a common and important impairment after stroke. In addition, repetitive practice is widely used and recommended in rehabilitation after stroke to improve activity. However, prior to this review it was not known whether improvements in activity with repetitive practice are accompanied by improvements in strength. This systematic review provides evidence that interventions involving repetitive practice do improve strength after stroke, and these improvements are accompanied by improvements in activity. This suggests that repetitive practice should be prioritised as an intervention that can improve both strength and activity in people after stroke.

What was already known on this topic: Loss of strength after stroke is common, and causes profound limitations in activity and participation. Progressive resistance training can be used to increase strength after stroke but it can be timeconsuming to set up and monitor.

What this study adds: Interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke, and the improvement in strength is accompanied by improvements in activity. Repetitive practice should be prioritised as an intervention that can improve both strength and activity in people after stroke.

Footnote: ^a Review Manager Version 5.3, The Nordic Cochrane Centre, Copenhagen.

eAddenda: Figures 4, 6, 8, 9 and 10, and Appendices 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2018. 08.004

Competing interest: Nil.

Source of support: This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Acknowledgements: Nil.

Provenance: Not invited. Peer reviewed.

Correspondence: Davide G de Sousa, Graythwaite Rehabilitation Centre, Ryde Hospital, Sydney, Australia. Email: davidedesousa@ gmail.com

References

- Andrews AW, Bohannon RW. Short-term recovery of limb muscle strength after acute stroke. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2003;84:125–130.
- Andrews AW, Bohannon RW. Distribution of muscle strength impairments following stroke. Clin Rehabil. 2000;14:79–87.
- Neckel N, Pelliccio M, Nichols D, Hidler J. Quantification of functional weakness and abnormal synergy patterns in the lower limb of individuals with chronic stroke. J Neuroeng Rehabil. 2006;3:17.
- Horstman AM, Beltman MJ, Gerrits KH, Koppe P, Janssen TW, Elich P, et al. Intrinsic muscle strength and voluntary activation of both lower limbs and functional performance after stroke. *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging*. 2008;28:251–261.
- Faria-Fortini I, Michaelsen SM, Cassiano JG, Teixeira-Salmela LF. Upper extremity function in stroke subjects: relationships between the international classification of functioning, disability, and health domains. J Hand Ther. 2011;24:257–265.
- Canning CG, Ada L, Adams R, O'Dwyer NJ. Loss of strength contributes more to physical disability after stroke than loss of dexterity. *Clin Rehabil.* 2004;18:300– 308.
- Ada L, O'Dwyer N, O'Neill E. Relation between spasticity, weakness and contracture of the elbow flexors and upper limb activity after stroke: an observational study. *Disabil Rehabil.* 2006;28:891–897.
- Faria-Fortini I, Basílio ML, Polese JC, Faria CD, Teixeira-Salmela LF. Strength deficits of the paretic lower extremity muscles were the impairment variables that best explained restrictions in participation after stroke. *Disabil Rehabil*. 2017;39:2158– 2163.
- American College of Sports Medicine. Progression models in resistance training for healthy adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2009;41:687–708.
- Dorsch S, Ada L, Alloggia D. Progressive resistance training increases strength after stroke but this may not carry over to activity: a systematic review. J Physiother. 2018;64:84–90.
- Hendrey G, Holland AE, Mentiplay BF, Clark RA, Williams G. Do trials of resistance training to improve mobility after stroke adhere to the American College of Sports Medicine Guidelines? A Systematic Review. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2018;99:584– 597.
- Corbetta D, Sirtori V, Castellini G, Moja L, Gatti R. Constraint-induced movement therapy for upper extremities in people with stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015;10:CD004433.
- Veerbeek JM, van Wegen E, van Peppen R, van der Wees PJ, Hendriks E, Rietberg M, et al. What is the evidence for physical therapy poststroke? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One.* 2014;9:e87987.
- French B, Thomas LH, Coupe J, McMahon NE, Connell L, Harrison J, et al. Repetitive task training for improving functional ability after stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2016;11:CD006073.
- 15. Mehrholz J, Pohl M, Platz T, Kugler J, Elsner B. Electromechanical and robot-assisted arm training for improving activities of daily living, arm function, and arm muscle strength after stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015;11:CD006876.
- Ada L, Dorsch S, Canning CG. Strengthening interventions increase strength and improve activity after stroke: a systematic review. *Aust J Physiother*. 2006;52:241– 248.
- Harris JE, Eng JJ. Strength training improves upper-limb function in individuals with stroke: a meta-analysis. *Stroke*. 2010;41:136–140.
 Wist S, Clivaz J, Sattelmayer M. Muscle strengthening for hemiparesis after stroke:
- Wist S, Clivaz J, Sattelmayer M. Muscle strengthening for hemiparesis after stroke: A meta-analysis. Ann Phys Rehabil Med. 2016;59:114–124.
- Salter K, Musovic A, Taylor NF. In the first 3 months after stroke is progressive resistance training safe and does it improve activity? A systematic review. *Top Stroke Rehabil.* 2016;23:366–375.
- Saunders DH, Sanderson M, Hayes S, Kilrane M, Greig CA, Brazzelli M, et al. Physical fitness training for stroke patients. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2016;3:CD003316.
- Pomeroy VM, King L, Pollock A, Baily-Hallam A, Langhorne P. Electrostimulation for promoting recovery of movement or functional ability after stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2006;2:CD003241.
- Nascimento LR, Michaelsen SM, Ada L, Polese JC, Teixeira-Salmela LF. Cyclical electrical stimulation increases strength and improves activity after stroke: a systematic review. J Physiother. 2014;60:22–30.
- Stroke Foundation. Clinical Guidelines for Stroke Management 2017. Melbourne, Australia.
- 24. Kwakkel G, Lannin NA, Borschmann K, English C, Ali M, Churilov L, et al. Standardized measurement of sensorimotor recovery in stroke trials: Consensus-based core recommendations from the Stroke Recovery and Rehabilitation Roundtable. *Int J Stroke*. 2017;12:451–461.
- Alberts JL, Butler AJ, Wolf SL. The effects of constraint-induced therapy on precision grip: A preliminary study. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*. 2004;18:250–258.

- **26.** Almhdawi KA, Mathiowetz VG, White M, del Mas RC. Efficacy of occupational therapy task-oriented approach in upper extremity post-stroke rehabilitation. *Occup Ther Int.* **2016**;23:444–456.
- Burgar C, Lum P, Scremin E, Garber SL, Van der Loos HF, Kenney D, et al. Robot-assisted upper-limb therapy in acute rehabilitation setting following stroke: Department of Veterans Affairs multisite clinical trial. J Rehabil Res Dev. 2011;48:445–448.
- 28. Chan B, Ng S, Ng G. A home-based program of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation and, task-related trunk training improves trunk control in patients with stroke: A randomized controlled clinical trial. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*. 2015;29:70–79.
- Cooke E, Tallis R, Clark A, Pomeroy V. Efficacy of functional strength training on restoration of lower-limb motor function early after stroke: Phase 1 randomized controlled trial. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair.* 2010;24:88–96.
- 30. Donaldson C, Tallis R, Miller S, Sunderland A, Lemon R, Pomeroy V. Effects of conventional physical therapy and functional strength training on upper limb motor recovery after stroke: A randomized phase II study. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*. 2009;23:389–397.
- Hsieh YW, Wu CY, Lin KC, Yao G, Wu KY, Chang YJ. Dose-response relationship of robot-assisted stroke motor rehabilitation: the impact of initial motor status. *Stroke*. 2012;43:2729–2734.
- Kwakkel G, Wagenaar RC, Twisk JW, Lankhorst GJ, Koetsier JC. Intensity of leg and arm training after primary middle-cerebral-artery stroke: a randomised trial. *Lancet*. 1999;354:191–196.
- Masiero S, Celia A, Rosati G, Armani M. Robotic-assisted rehabilitation of the upper limb after acute stroke. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2007;88:142–149.
- 34. Pang M, Eng J, Dawson A, McKay H, Harris J. A community-based fitness and mobility exercise program for older adults with chronic stroke: a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2005;53:1667–1674.
- 35. Sullivan KJ, Brown DA, Klassen T, Mulroy S, Ge T, Azen SP, et al. Effects of task-specific locomotor and strength training in adults who were ambulatory after stroke: results of the STEPS randomized clinical trial. *Phys Ther.* 2007;87:1580–1607.
- 36. Sunderland A, Tinson DJ, Bradley EL, Fletcher D, Langton Hewer R, Wade DT. Enhanced physical therapy improves recovery of arm function after stroke. A randomised controlled trial. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1992;55:530–535.
- **37.** Tung FL, Yang YR, Lee CC, Wang RY. Balance outcomes after additional sit-to-stand training in subjects with stroke: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin Rehabil.* 2010;24:533–542.
- 38. Tyson S, Wilkinson J, Thomas N, Selles R, McCabe C, Tyrrell P, et al. Phase II pragmatic randomized controlled trial of patient-led therapies (mirror therapy and lower-limb exercises) during inpatient stroke rehabilitation. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*. 2015;29:818–826.
- 39. Winstein C, Rose D, Tan S, Lewthwaite R, Chui H, Azen S. A randomized controlled comparison of upper-extremity rehabilitation strategies in acute stroke: A pilot study of immediate and long-term outcomes. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2004;85:620– 628.
- Bowman BR, Baker LL, Waters RL. Positional feedback and electrical stimulation: an automated treatment for the hemiplegic wrist. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1979;60:497–502.
- Bi S. Treatment of upper limb paresis by transcutanenous electrical nerve stimulation and task-related training during chronic stroke. [PhD Thesis], Hong Kong: Hong Kong Polytechnic University; 2008.
- 42. Cowles T, Clark A, Mares K, Peryer G, Stuck R, Pomeroy V. Observation-to-imitate plus practice could add little to physical therapy benefits within 31 days of stroke: Translational randomized controlled trial. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*. 2013;27:173–182.
- Dean C, Richards C, Malouin F. Task-related circuit training improves performance of locomotor tasks in chronic stroke: a randomized, controlled pilot trial. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2000;81:409–417.
- 44. Dean CM, Rissel C, Sherrington C, Sharkey M, Cumming RG, Lord SR, et al. Exercise to enhance mobility and prevent falls after stroke: the community stroke club randomized trial. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*. 2012;26:1046–1057.
- 45. Gordon CD, Wilks R, McCaw-Binns A. Effect of aerobic exercise (walking) training on functional status and health-related quality of life in chronic stroke survivors: A randomized controlled trial. *Stroke*. 2013;44:1179–1181.
- 46. Harris JE, Eng JJ, Miller WC, Dawson AS. A self-administered graded repetitive arm supplementary program (GRASP) improves arm function during inpatient stroke rehabilitation: A multi-site randomized controlled trial. *Stroke*. 2009;40:2123– 2128.
- Higgins J, Salbach N, Wood-Dauphinee S, Richards C, Cote R, Mayo N. The effect of a task-oriented intervention on arm function in people with stroke: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin Rehabil.* 2006;20:296–310.
- So RC, Ng JK, Ng GY. Effect of transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation on fatigue recovery of the quadriceps. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* 2007;100:693–700.
 Ross L, Harvey L, Lannin N. Do people with acquired brain impairment benefit from
- Ross L, Harvey L, Lannin N. Do people with acquired brain impairment benefit from additional therapy specifically directed at the hand? A randomized controlled trial. *Clin Rehabil.* 2009;23:492–503.
- 50. Sanchez-Sanchez ML, Ruescas-Nicolau MA, Perez-Miralles JA, Marques-Sule E, Espi-Lopez GV. Pilot randomized controlled trial to assess a physical therapy program on upper extremity function to counteract inactivity in chronic stroke. *Top Stroke Rehabil.* 2017;24:183–193.
- Yang Y, Wang R, Lin K, Chu M, Chan R. Task-oriented progressive resistance strength training improves muscle strength and functional performance in individuals with stroke. Clin Rehabil. 2006;20:860–870.
- **52.** de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Leung J, Harris W. Functional electrical stimulation cycling does not improve mobility in people with acquired brain injury

and its effects on strength are unclear: a randomised trial. J Physiother. 2016;62:203–208.

- 53. Dorsch S, Ada L, Canning CG. EMG-triggered electrical stimulation is a feasible intervention to apply to multiple arm muscles in people early after stroke, but does not improve strength and activity more than usual therapy: a randomized feasibility trial with consumer summary. *Clin Rehabil*. 2014;28:482–490.
- Heckmann J, Mokrusch T, Krockel A, Warnke S, von Stockert T, Neundorfer B. EMGtriggered electrical muscle stimulation in the treatment of central hemiparesis after a stroke. *Eur J Phys Med Rehabil.* 1997;7:138–141.
- 55. Shin HK, Cho SH, Jeon HS, Lee YH, Song JC, Jang SH, et al. Cortical effect and functional recovery by the electromyography-triggered neuromuscular stimulation in chronic stroke patients. *Neurosci Lett.* 2008;442:174–179.
- Winchester P, Montgomery J, Bowman B, Hislop H. Effects of feedback stimulation training and cyclical electrical stimulation on knee extension in hemiparetic patients. *Phys Ther.* 1983;63:1096–1103.
- Hsieh Y, Wu C, Liao W, Lin K, Wu K, Lee C. Effects of treatment intensity in upper limb robot-assisted therapy for chronic stroke: A pilot randomized controlled trial. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair.* 2011;25:503–511.
- Hwang CH, Seong JW, Son DS. Individual finger synchronized robot-assisted hand rehabilitation in subacute to chronic stroke: a prospective randomized clinical trial of efficacy. Clin Rehabil. 2012;26:696–704.
- Rydwik E, Eliasson S, Akner G. The effect of exercise of the affected foot in stroke patients – A randomized controlled pilot trial. *Clin Rehabil.* 2006;20:645– 655.
- Atteya AA. Effects of modified constraint induced therapy on upper limb function in subacute stroke patients. *Neurosci.* 2004;9:24–29.
- Yoon JA, Koo BI, Shin MJ, Shin YB, Ko HY, Shin YI. Effect of constraint-induced movement therapy and mirror therapy for patients with subacute stroke. *Ann Rehabil Med.* 2014;38:458–466.
- 62. Glasgow Augmented Physiotherapy Study. Can augmented physiotherapy input enhance recovery of mobility after stroke? A randomized controlled trial. *Clin Rehabil.* 2004;18:529–537.
- Lincoln NB, Parry RH, Vass CD. Randomized, controlled trial to evaluate increased intensity of physiotherapy treatment of arm function after stroke. *Stroke*. 1999;30:573–579.
- Rodgers H, Mackintosh J, Price C, Wood R, McNamee P, Fearon T, et al. Does an early increased-intensity interdisciplinary upper limb therapy programme following acute stroke improve outcome? *Clin Rehabil.* 2003;17:579–589.
- 65. Lee M, Kilbreath SL, Singh MF, Zeman B, Lord SR, Raymond J, et al. Comparison of effect of aerobic cycle training and progressive resistance training on walking ability after stroke: a randomized sham exercise-controlled study. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2008;56:976–985.
- 66. Tian Y, Shi L, Jing L, Li L, Chen B, Zhao K. Effects of active and passive training apparatus combined with rehabilitation training on lower limb function of stroke patients during recovery period. *Neural Regen Res.* 2007;2:636–640.
- 67. An C-M, Won J-I. Effects of ankle joint mobilization with movement and weightbearing exercise on knee strength, ankle range of motion, and gait velocity in patients with stroke: a pilot study. *J Phys Ther Sci.* 2016;28:689–694.
 68. Barker RN, Brauer SG, Carson RG. Training of reaching in stroke survivors with
- Barker RN, Brauer SG, Carson RG. Training of reaching in stroke survivors with severe and chronic upper limb paresis using a novel nonrobotic device: A randomized clinical trial. *Stroke*. 2008;39:1800–1807.
- 69. Lannin NA, Cusick A, Hills C. Upper limb motor training using a Saebo[™] orthosis is feasible for increasing task-specific practice in hospital after stroke. *Aust Occup Ther* J. 2016;63:364–372.
- Lee G. Effects of training using video games on the muscle strength, muscle tone, and activities of daily living of chronic stroke patients. J Phys Ther Sci. 2013;25:595– 597.
- Lee SH, Byun SD, Kim CH, Go JY, Nam HU, Huh JS, et al. Feasibility and effects of newly developed balance control trainer for mobility and balance in chronic stroke patients: a randomized controlled trial. *Ann Rehabil Med.* 2012;36:521–529.
- 72. Tankisheva E, Bogaerts A, Boonen S, Feys H, Verschueren S. Effects of intensive whole-body vibration training on muscle strength and balance in adults with chronic stroke: A randomized controlled pilot study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2014;95:439–446.
- 73. Tihanyi J, Di Giminiani R, Tihanyi T, Gyulai G, Trzaskoma L, Horvath M. Low resonance frequency vibration affects strength of paretic and non-paretic leg differently in patients with stroke. *Acta Physiol Hung.* 2010;97:172–182.
- 74. Kim JH, Lee BH. Mirror therapy combined with biofeedback functional electrical stimulation for motor recovery of upper extremities after stroke: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Occup Ther Int. 2015;22:51–60.
- Lee DG, Lee GC, Jeong JS. Mirror therapy with neuromuscular electrical stimulation for improving motor function of stroke survivors: a pilot randomized clinical study. *Technol Health Care*. 2016;24:503–511.
- 76. Chu K, Eng J, Dawson A, Harris J, Ozkaplan A, Gylfadottir S. Water-based exercise for cardiovascular fitness in people with chronic stroke: a randomized controlled trial. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2004;85:870–874.
- Mehrholz J, Thomas S, Werner C, Kugler J, Pohl M, Elsner B. Electromechanicalassisted training for walking after stroke: a major update of the evidence. *Stroke*. 2017.
- Cooke EV, Mares K, Clark A, Tallis RC, Pomeroy VM. The effects of increased dose of exercise-based therapies to enhance motor recovery after stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Med.* 2010;8:60.

Websites

PEDro www.pedro.org.au

Chapter 4 Functional electrical stimulation cycling does not improve mobility in people with acquired brain injury and its effects on strength are unclear: a randomised trial

Published manuscript

This project is presented as a published manuscript:

de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Leung J, Harris W. Functional electrical stimulation cycling does not improve mobility in people with acquired brain injury and its effects on strength are unclear: a randomised trial. Journal of Physiotherapy. 2016;62(4):203-208.

Published abstract

de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S. Does cycling with electrical stimulation (ES) improve strength and walking ability in people with an acquired brain injury? A randomised controlled trial. International Journal of Stroke, 2013;8(2):1-34

Conference proceedings

This study has been presented at two conferences. It appears in the conference proceedings as:

- de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S. Does cycling with electrical stimulation (ES) improve strength and walking ability in people with an acquired brain injury? A randomised controlled trial. Smart Strokes, Brisbane, Australia, 2013.
- de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Leung J, Harris W. Does functional electrical stimulation (FES) cycling improve mobility and strength in people with acquired brain injury? World Confederation for Physical Therapy Congress, Cape Town, South Africa, 2017.

Publication statement

Statement from co-authors confirming the authorship contribution of the PhD candidate. As co-authors of the manuscript:

de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Leung J, Harris W. Functional electrical stimulation cycling does not improve mobility in people with acquired brain injury and its effects on strength are unclear: a randomised trial. Journal of Physiotherapy. 2016;62(4):203-208.

We confirm that Davide de Sousa has made the following contributions:

- Conception and design of the research including literature search
- Collection of data
- Analysis and interpretation of the findings
- Writing the manuscript, critical appraisal of content and response to reviewers

Name	Signature	Date
Lisa Anne Harvey		30-Aug-2019
Simone Dorsch		30-Aug-2019
Joan Leung		30-Aug-2019
Whitney Harris		30-Aug-2019



Journal of PHYSIOTHERAPY

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jphys

Research

Functional electrical stimulation cycling does not improve mobility in people with acquired brain injury and its effects on strength are unclear: a randomised trial

Davide G de Sousa^{a,b,c}, Lisa A Harvey^{b,c}, Simone Dorsch^d, Joan Leung^e, Whitney Harris^f

^a Graythwaite Rehabilitation Centre, Ryde Hospital; ^b John Walsh Centre for Rehabilitation Research, Kolling Institute, Northern Sydney Local Health District; ^c Sydney Medical School Northern, University of Sydney; ^d School of Physiotherapy, Australian Catholic University; ^e Royal Rehab, Ryde; ^f Prince of Wales Hospital, South Eastern Sydney Local Health District, Sydney, Australia

KEY WORDS

Functional electrical stimulation Stroke Acquired brain injury Physical therapy FES cycling



ABSTRACT

Question: Does 4 weeks of active functional electrical stimulation (FES) cycling in addition to usual care improve mobility and strength more than usual care alone in people with a sub-acute acquired brain injury caused by stroke or trauma? Design: Multi centre, randomised, controlled trial. Participants: Forty patients from three Sydney hospitals with recently acquired brain injury and a mean composite strength score in the affected lower limb of 7 (SD 5) out of 20 points. Intervention: Participants in the experimental group received an incremental, progressive, FES cycling program five times a week over a 4-week period. All participants received usual care. Outcome measures: Outcome measures were taken at baseline and at 4 weeks. Primary outcomes were mobility and strength of the knee extensors of the affected lower limb. Mobility was measured with three mobility items of the Functional Independence Measure and strength was measured with a hand-held dynamometer. Secondary outcomes were strength of the knee extensors of the unaffected lower limb, strength of key muscles of the affected lower limb and spasticity of the affected plantar flexors. Results: All but one participant completed the study. The mean between-group differences for mobility and strength of the knee extensors of the affected lower limb were -0.3/21 points (95% CI -3.2 to 2.7) and 7.5 Nm (95% CI -5.1 to 20.2), where positive values favoured the experimental group. The only secondary outcome that suggested a possible treatment effect was strength of key muscles of the affected lower limb with a mean between-group difference of 3.0/20 points (95% CI 1.3 to 4.8). Conclusion: Functional electrical stimulation cycling does not improve mobility in people with acquired brain injury and its effects on strength are unclear. Trial registration: ACTRN12612001163897. [de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Leung J, Harris W (2016) Functional electrical stimulation cycling does not improve mobility in people with acquired brain injury and its effects on strength are unclear: a randomised controlled trial. Journal of Physiotherapy 62: 203–208]

© 2016 Australian Physiotherapy Association. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Introduction

Walking and moving around are some of the most important goals for people with acquired brain injury caused by stroke or trauma. Often, however, these goals are not achieved. For example, one estimate indicates that 40% of stroke survivors who are unable to walk on admission to rehabilitation are still unable to walk at 3 months.¹ To improve the ability to walk and move around, people with acquired brain injury require intensive repetitive practice^{2,3} in combination with interventions that address impairments such as weakness.^{4,5} However, many patients in rehabilitation spend only 1 hour per day with a physiotherapist and are inactive for as much as 70% of the day.^{6–8} One reason for this inactivity following acquired brain injury is that those who are very immobile and weak have few options for exercising independently; they often require assistance from two or more physiotherapists, which is costly and time consuming.

Functional electrical stimulation (FES) cycling may help overcome this problem because patients can cycle without physical assistance from physiotherapists. Functional electrical stimulation cycling involves the application of a small electrical current through the skin to stimulate muscle contractions in synchrony with the pedalling motion of a lower limb ergometer. If used in addition to routine face-to-face physiotherapy, FES cycling may increase strength in the lower limbs, which may have carryover effects on the patient's ability to walk and move around.

There are two recent systematic reviews of electrical stimulation (ES) and FES on the upper and lower limbs in people with stroke.^{9,10} Both indicated improvements in function, including mobility, and one also showed increases in strength. However, neither of these two reviews looked at the effect of FES cycling. There are four studies that have specifically looked at FES cycling in sub-acute hemi-paretic patients.^{11–14} Two of these studies did not measure strength^{13,14} or mobility, ¹³ and had small sample sizes (n \leq 20). The

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2016.08.004

1836-9553/© 2016 Australian Physiotherapy Association. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

other two studies are relevant to the question of whether FES cycling has therapeutic effects. The first study suggested increases in lower limb strength but not walking,¹¹ and the second suggested the opposite, namely: improvements in walking but not lower limb strength.¹² It is therefore unclear whether FES cycling is therapeutic. Interestingly, in the study that showed a treatment effect on strength, participants were instructed to remain passive and not actively contribute to the cycling.¹¹ Remaining passive while cycling is not in keeping with current research on neural plasticity, which suggests that purposeful active movement is essential.^{15,16} It would seem more likely that FES cycling would need to be combined with maximal voluntary effort from patients to see carryover effects on mobility and strength. It is worth trying to better understand whether FES cycling is potentially therapeutic because it is a relatively inexpensive intervention that does not require direct assistance from a physiotherapist.

Therefore, the research question for this multi centre, randomised, controlled trial was:

Does 4 weeks of active FES cycling in addition to usual care improve mobility and strength more than usual care alone in people with a sub-acute acquired brain injury caused by stroke or trauma?

Method

Design

An assessor-blinded, randomised, controlled trial was undertaken (Figure 1). Using computer software,^a a person not involved in the trial created a blocked random allocation schedule for 40 participants. The blocking ensured equal numbers of participants in the two groups. Participants' allocations were placed in opaque, sequentially numbered and sealed envelopes that were held off-site by a person not otherwise involved in the trial. Once a participant passed the screening process and completed the initial assessment, trial staff contacted the independent person, who opened the next envelope and revealed the group allocation. The participant was considered to have entered the trial at this point. The trial was registered with the Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (ANZCTR: 12612001163897), however, one of the secondary outcomes was erroneously omitted from the trial registry, although it was included in the protocol and is reported here. The authors certify that all applicable institutional and governmental regulations concerning the ethical use of human volunteers were followed.

Participants

All patients admitted to three sub-acute adult rehabilitation units between 11 February 2013 and 21 October 2015 were screened for inclusion. The inclusion criteria were: first time stroke or any other non-progressive acquired brain injury; hemiparesis with composite strength in the affected lower limb < 19/20 points; less than 6 months after acquired brain injury; ability to sit supported for 40 minutes; and sufficient communication skills to indicate yes/no verbally or via gestures. Patients were excluded for the following reasons: limited joint range of movement or a musculoskeletal condition preventing use of the lower limb cycle; cardiac pacemakers; inability to tolerate the ES; pregnancy; absence of notable contraction of lower limb muscles with ES; or unstable medical conditions.

Interventions

Participants allocated to the experimental group received an incremental progressive, individualised FES cycling program,



Figure 1. Flow diagram.

which was undertaken five times a week for 4 weeks. In the first week, they cycled for 17 minutes per day on a FES cycle lower limb ergometer.^b This was increased by at least 5 minutes per week, and more if tolerated, up to a maximum of 32 minutes per day. The FES was applied through pads placed on the skin and over four muscle groups: knee extensors, knee flexors, ankle dorsiflexors and plantar flexors of the affected lower limb. Knee extensors and ankle dorsiflexors were stimulated between 35 and 56%, and knee flexors and ankle plantar flexors between 81 and 98% of one complete revolution of the FES cycle pedal. Photographs and instructions were given to the physiotherapists administering the intervention to provide general guidance on electrode placement, although physiotherapists had some freedom to slightly move the electrodes to where they achieved a strong contraction. Cycle cadence was set at 30 repetitions per minute for all participants. Frequency and wavelength was set at 50 Hz and 450 λ , respectively. The participants were instructed to actively cycle as hard as possible and in synchrony with the FES. The intensity of the FES was adjusted progressively to provide strong muscle contractions or the maximal tolerated stimulation. Resistance was increased to ensure the participants worked as hard as they could tolerate. In addition, the experimental group received usual care as provided to the control group. All participants were supervised by a physiotherapist.

The control group received usual care, which consisted of at least 1 hour a day of one-to-one therapy with a physiotherapist. This therapy involved strength, endurance, balance and coordination exercises, as well as task-specific practice of sitting, sitting-tostanding, standing, and walking. In addition to this, participants were able to join group exercise classes or receive another session of one-to-one therapy, if available. All three rehabilitation units were similar. Participants received multi disciplinary care from occupational therapists, speech pathologists and nurses.

Outcome measures

Blinded assessors assessed all participants before randomisation and at the end of the 4-week intervention period. Participants were asked not to discuss their training or group allocation with the assessors. The success of blinding was verified at the end of each participant's assessment by asking assessors to reveal whether they had become un-blinded. All assessors received training prior to assessment and were given assessment protocols to improve inter-rater reliability. Where possible, the same assessor was used to perform the initial and final assessments. Additional demographic data to describe the sample were collected prior to randomisation. These included Modified Rankin Scores, age, gender, time since injury, type of acquired brain injury, and affected side.

The primary outcomes were mobility and strength of the knee extensors of the affected lower limb. The secondary outcomes were strength of key muscles of the affected lower limb, strength of the knee extensors of the unaffected lower limb, and spasticity of the affected plantar flexors.

Mobility

Mobility was assessed using three items of the Functional Independence Measure: bed-chair transfer, walking and stairs. These three items were used to reflect participants' ability to walk and move around. Each item was rated on a 7-point scale based on level of assistance required to complete the task, with a score of 1 denoting total assistance and a score of 7 denoting complete independence. Scores for the three items were tallied for a total possible score of 21 points. Prior to the commencement of the study a mean between-group difference of 3 points was deemed clinically important for this outcome because an added benefit of 3 points could potentially alter the discharge destination for patients who require full assistance for transfers and walking.

Maximal force was measured in Nm with a hand-held dynamometer. Each participant sat in his/her wheelchair or standardised armchair with feet clear off the floor facing a wall. A wooden wedge was placed under the thigh and the knee was placed in 90 deg flexion. The assessor identified the knee joint line and marked it with a pen. A line was drawn from just above the medial malleolus to just above the lateral malleolus on the affected lower limb. The distance from the knee joint line to the middle of the line around the ankle was measured. The pad of the dynamometer was placed perpendicular to the limb directly on top of the horizontal ankle line with the assessor's elbow firmly against the wall and wrist in a neutral position. The assessor did not push, but acted as a 'wall' for the participant to push against. Participants were given six maximal attempts with a 1-minute rest between each attempt. Each maximal attempt lasted 3 to 4 seconds and began with the assessor saying 'ready, steady, push'. The assessor provided the participant with strong verbal encouragement. The highest of the six maximal attempts was used as the measurement of strength. Torque was then calculated by multiplying force by the distance between the knee and point of application of the dynamometer. This method of measuring strength was tested prior to commencement of the study on 12 patients who were similar to those recruited to the study, and showed good inter-rater reliability with an intra-class correlation coefficient (3,1) of 0.91 (95% CI 0.62 to 0.98). Furthermore, handheld dynamometry has been shown to have very good inter-rater reliability in rehabilitation patients,¹⁷ as well as very good intrarater reliability for measurements of strength in patients with neurological conditions.¹⁸ Prior to the commencement of the study, a mean between-group difference equivalent to 20% of mean baseline strength was deemed clinically important for this outcome.

Strength of key muscles of the affected lower limb

The strength of the knee flexors and extensors, ankle dorsiflexors and plantar flexors were assessed using manual muscle testing.¹⁹ Scores for the four muscle groups were combined and treated as a composite measure of lower limb strength, with 20 points representing the maximum score.

Strength of the knee extensors of the unaffected lower limb

The strength of the knee extensors of the unaffected lower limb was measured in Nm with a hand-held dynamometer using the same method as described for the affected lower limb.

Spasticity of the ankle plantar flexors of the affected lower limb

Spasticity of the ankle plantar flexors of the affected lower limb was assessed using the quality of the muscle reaction item of the Tardieu Scale where 0 indicates 'no resistance' and 4 indicates 'unfatigable clonus'.²⁰

Data analysis

The sample size was calculated a priori. It was based on an 80% probability of detecting a mean between-group difference equivalent to 20% of mean initial strength. For the purposes of the power calculation, we needed to estimate the likely mean initial strength in raw units but on the understanding that this value would be adjusted post hoc. Mean initial strength was estimated to be 50 Nm,²¹ with 20% equivalent to 10 Nm. The power calculation assumed a dropout rate of 5%, power of 80%, a significance level of 0.05, and a strong correlation (0.8) between initial and final values. It was based on an estimated SD of 18 Nm. The SD was derived from data collected prior to the study from 12 patients similar to those recruited to the study.

Data were analysed with a factorial analysis of covariance (baseline data) using a linear regression approach. The purpose of this analysis was to determine the effect of FES cycling versus no FES cycling on outcomes. All data were analysed according to the

206

 Table 1

 Baseline characteristics of participants.

Characteristic	Exp (n=20)	Con (n=20)
Age (yr), mean (SD)	62 (15)	60 (16)
Gender, n male (%)	14 (70)	13 (65)
Time since ABI (d), median (IQR)	34 (22 to 49)	38 (24 to 72)
Type of ABI, n		
haemorrhage	4	5
infarct	13	9
traumatic brain injury	2	5
arteriovenous malformation	1	0
tumour	0	0
cerebral abscess	0	1
Affected side, n right (%)	11 (55)	12 (60)
Modified Rankin Scale (points), mean (SD)	4.5 (0.6)	4.5 (0.5)

ABI = acquired brain injury, Con = control group, Exp = experimental group.

principle of 'intention to treat'. The results for the primary analyses were interpreted with respect to the pre-defined minimum clinically worthwhile treatment effects. Minimum clinically worthwhile treatment effects were not set for the secondary outcomes, so these results were only interpreted with respect to statistical significance (p < 0.05).

Results

Flow of participants through the study

A total of 341 patients with acquired brain injury were screened over the trial period. Forty patients were randomised. The flow of the participants through the study is illustrated in Figure 1. Table 1 outlines the participants' demographics and baseline characteristics. The experimental and control groups were similar at baseline. On admission to the study most participants could not walk or needed a high level of assistance to walk/transfer. Only two participants were able to walk without assistance: they either had a score of \leq 3 on the Modified Rankin Scale or \geq 5 on the Functional Independence Measure. These scores reflect the severity of participants' disability. The mean composite score for the affected lower limb strength was 7 (SD 5) out of 20 points, reflecting severe weakness.

Adherence to the study protocol

Adherence to the intervention was good. Experimental participants received a median of 486 minutes (IQR 462 to 526) of FES cycling over a median of 20 sessions (IQR 19 to 20). This equated to a median of 25 minutes per session (IQR 24 to 25). Three

participants deviated from the protocol. One participant in the experimental group became temporarily unwell and was transferred to an acute ward for some time during the intervention period. A second participant in the experimental group fell (not during a physiotherapy session) and sustained a fractured neck of femur, which required a total hip replacement; he was unable to continue the FES cycling. Both of these participants participant in the experimental group died after randomisation; data were not imputed for this participant. Therefore 39/40 participants were included in the final analysis. The assessors remained blinded for all but one assessment.

Effect of FES cycling

The mean between-group difference for mobility was -0.3/21 points (95% CI -3.2 to 2.7). The upper bound of the 95% CI associated with the mean between-group difference for this outcome was less than the minimum worthwhile treatment effect of 3 points, indicating that the treatment was ineffective. The mean between-group difference for strength of the knee extensors of the affected lower limb was 7.5 Nm (95% CI -5.1 to 20.2). The 95% CI associated with the mean between-group difference for this outcome spanned the minimum worthwhile treatment effect (namely, 20% of mean initial strength, which was equivalent to 5.8 Nm), failing to rule in or rule out a clinically worthwhile treatment effect. The results for the secondary outcomes are in Table 2. Individual participant data are presented in Table 3 (see eAddenda for Table 3). There were no statistically significant between-group differences for spasticity of the plantar flexors of the affected lower limb or strength of the knee extensors of the unaffected lower limb. In contrast, there was a statistically significant between-group difference for the strength of key muscles of the affected lower limb, with a mean between-group difference of 3.0/20 points (95% CI 1.3 to 4.8).

Discussion

The results of this study indicate that 4 weeks of FES cycling in addition to usual care does not improve mobility in people with a sub-acute acquired brain injury (Table 2). These results are conclusive and cannot be explained by an insufficient sample size. The effects of FES cycling on strength of the knee extensors of the affected lower limb are unclear, with the results failing to determine whether or not there is a clinically worthwhile treatment effect. Unlike the results for mobility, these results may reflect an insufficient sample size.

Table 2

Mean (SD) of groups, mean (SD) difference within groups, and mean (95% CI) difference between groups. A positive mean between-group difference favours the experimental group for all outcomes except spasticity.

Outcome		Gro	oups		Differenc gro	ce within ups	Difference between groups
	Week 0 Week 4		ek 4	Week 4 minus Week 0		Week 4 minus Week 0	
	Exp (n=20)	Con (n=20)	Exp (n=19)	Con (n=20)	Exp (n=19)	Con (n=20)	Exp minus Con
Mobility (points/21)	5.5	6.2	10.4	11.4	4.8	5.2	-0.3
	(3.8)	(4.5)	(6.5)	(7.4)	(4.2)	(5.0)	(-3.2 to 2.7)
Strength of the knee extensors of the	28.4	29.9	43.1	36.8	14.6	6.9	7.5
affected lower limb (Nm)	(27.0)	(26.2)	(29.2)	(32.0)	(23.0)	(15.2)	(-5.1 to 20.2)
Strength of key muscles of the affected	6.5	7.6	10.5	8.5	4.1	1.0	3.0
lower limb (points/20)	(4.4)	(5.3)	(5.4)	(5.0)	(3.3)	(2.0)	(1.3 to 4.8)
Strength of the knee extensors of the	63.9	58.7	70.9	64.7	5.5	6.0	0.9
unaffected lower limb (Nm)	(27.6)	(28.8)	(30.4)	(23.7)	(20.4)	(11.8)	(-9.4 to 11.2)
Spasticity of the ankle plantar flexors	1.8	0.9	2.1	1.3	0.2	0.4	0.3
of the affected lower limb (points/5) ^a	(1.4)	(1.1)	(1.4)	(1.0)	(1.0)	(1.3)	(-0.5 to 1.0)

^a A positive mean between-group difference favours the control group.

Con = control group, Exp = experimental group, Nm = Newton meters.

Small anomalies in subtraction are due to the effect of rounding.

Our failure to demonstrate a treatment effect on mobility contrasts with the results of the most relevant trial on FES cycling;¹² that trial demonstrated a treatment effect on walking. This is surprising because our training was more intensive (a median of 25 minutes five times a week for 4 weeks). It is possible that the difference in results may be due to the way we measured mobility. We did not solely focus on walking but instead used a composite Functional Independence Measure score that captured walking, transferring and negotiating stairs. Alternatively, perhaps there was an important difference between our participants and those of the previous trial. Many of our participants were cognitively impaired; this may have limited their ability to fully cooperate and to synchronise their lower limb movements in time with the FES cycle. We did not exclude those with poor cognition because we were interested in generalising our results to the typical population seen in the clinical setting. Perhaps future trials should consider using EMG-triggered FES cycling to help ensure that participants maximally contract their muscles in synchronisation with the cycle. However, the FES cycle used in this study did not provide this option.

We failed to determine whether or not FES cycling has clinically important effects on knee extensor strength of the affected lower limb (a primary outcome). This is most likely due to an insufficient sample size. Interestingly, we found a statistically significant between-group difference on our secondary outcome of strength of key muscles of the affected lower limb, with a mean between-group difference of 3.0/20 points (95% CI 1.3 to 4.8). Ambrosini et al also reported a statistically significant betweengroup difference on strength of key muscles of the affected lower limb in a study similar to ours, with a mean between-group difference of 19 points (95% CI 8 to 30) on a 100-point scale.¹¹ The results of their study are comparable to ours. Both sets of results are difficult to interpret without reference to a minimum clinically worthwhile treatment effect. If clinicians consider an added benefit of 1 point on a 20-point scale or 8 points on a 100-point scale as clinically worthwhile, then both sets of results would indicate that FES cycling has a clinically important effect on overall strength in the affected lower limb. However, presumably most clinicians and patients would want to see a larger added benefit than just 1 point (on a 20-point scale) or 8 points (on a 100point scale) to justify the time, cost and effort of FES cycling. If this is the case, then our results and those of Ambrosini et al do not give a clear answer, despite the statistically significant between-group differences. To clarify this issue, a much larger study is required. However, any possible therapeutic effects of FES cycling on strength are of limited value unless accompanied by improvements in mobility.

Perhaps larger dosages of FES cycling are required to see changes in strength and mobility. That is, perhaps 60 minutes of FES cycling daily over 6 months with much higher (mA) intensities or increased resistance are required. However, it would be difficult to provide a higher dosage of FES cycling than provided in our study, given the constraints on healthcare systems. For example, few patients remain in hospital for 6 months following acquired brain injury, so FES cycling would have to be provided on an outpatient basis, which is logistically difficult. It is also unlikely that patients would tolerate more than 30 minutes a day of FES or FES administered at higher intensities or resistance.

A limitation of our study was that the initial strength of participants was highly variable. For example, composite strength in the affected lower limb ranged from 0/20 to 17/20 points. We included all participants that could potentially benefit from FES cycling in the clinical setting. In addition, participants who were both very weak and very disabled were also included. For example, the mean composite score for the affected lower limb strength was just 7/20 points (SD 5) and only two participants were able to walk without assistance. If those who are weaker and more disabled benefit more than those who are stronger and less disabled, then our inclusion of people with such a diverse range of strength and disabilities may have diluted a possible treatment effect. It is also

possible that FES cycling has therapeutic effects on other variables not captured in our study, such as cardiovascular fitness.

The results of our trial are difficult to reconcile with the results of a recent systematic review on ES administered in various ways (excluding in conjunction with active cycling).⁹ This review showed a small-to-moderate immediate treatment effect on strength (11 trials) and function (six trials) of ES versus no intervention. However, the results of this review need to be interpreted with caution because the median PEDro score for the trials included in the strength and functional analyses were 5 (IQR 4 to 6) and 6 (IQR 5 to 7) points with six (of 11 trials) and two (of six trials) failing to blind assessors, respectively. This indicates high susceptibility to bias, which may have inflated treatment effects. In contrast, we paid considerable attention to minimising all sources of bias. Our results, in combination with the results of this recent systematic review, make it difficult to recommend FES cycling to clinicians.

In summary, we found that 4 weeks of FES cycling in addition to usual care does not improve mobility in people with a sub-acute acquired brain injury. Future studies could clarify the effects of FES cycling on strength, although the clinical significance may be limited without accompanying effects on mobility.

What is already known on this topic: People with difficulty walking or moving around after acquired brain injury improve with intensive repetitive practice. Functional electrical stimulation cycling may assist further by stimulating muscle contractions in synchrony with the pedalling motion of a lower limb ergometer.

What this study adds: Functional electrical stimulation cycling does not improve mobility in people with acquired brain injury. The effects of functional electrical stimulation cycling on strength are unclear.

Footnotes: ^aMicrosoft Excel, Microsoft, Redmond, USA; ^bRT300 cycle, Restorative Therapies, Baltimore, USA.

eAddenda: Table 3 can be found online at doi:10.1016/j.jphys. 2016.08.004.

Ethics approval: Northern Sydney Local Health District Human Research Ethics Committee, South Eastern Sydney Local Health District Human Research Ethics Committee, Royal Rehab and The University of Sydney. Written consent was obtained from all participants or their next of kin before data collection began.

Competing interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest. The FES cycle used in this study was on loan from Restorative Therapies. The authors have no affiliation to Restorative Therapies and did not receive financial support from the company.

Source of support: This research was funded by a research grant from the National Stroke Foundation – Australia.

Acknowledgement: We thank the staff of Royal Rehab, Graythwaite Rehabilitation Centre, Prince of Wales Hospital and John Walsh Centre for Rehabilitation Research, in particular: Charis Tse, Marsha Ben, Victoria Podmore, Amanda Haber, Clare Conroy, Bridget Sticpewich, Peter Zhu, Pamela Wong, Jillian Chua, Claire Boswell-Ruys, Julia Batty, Stephanie Potts, and Joanne Glinsky. We also thank Restorative Therapies for loaning the FES cycle and the National Stroke Foundation – Australia for the research grant.

Provenance: Not invited. Peer reviewed.

Correspondence: Lisa Harvey, John Walsh Centre for Rehabilitation Research, Kolling Institute, Northern Sydney Local Health District, Sydney, Australia. Email: lisa.harvey@sydney.edu.au

References

- Preston E, Ada L, Dean CM, Stanton R, Waddington G. What is the probability of patients who are nonambulatory after stroke regaining independent walking? A systematic review. *Int J Stroke*. 2011;6:531–540.
- French B, Thomas L, Leathley M, Sutton C, McAdam J, Forster A, et al. Does repetitive task training improve functional activity after stroke? A Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. J Rehabil Med. 2010;42:9–14.
- French B, Thomas LH, Leathley MJ, Sutton CJ, McAdam J, Forster A, et al. Repetitive task training for improving functional ability after stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2007;4:CD006073.
- Ada L, Dorsch S, Canning CG. Strengthening interventions increase strength and improve activity after stroke: a systematic review. *Aust J Physiother*. 2006;52:241–248.
- 5. Pak S, Patten C. Strengthening to promote functional recovery post stroke: an evidence-based review. *Topics Stroke Rehabil.* 2008;15:177–199.
- 6. West T, Bernhardt J. Physical activity in hospitalised stroke patients. *Stroke Res Treat.* 2012;2012:813765.
- Sjoholm A, Skarin M, Churilov L, Nilsson M, Bernhardt J, Linden T. Sedentary behaviour and physical activity of people with stroke in rehabilitation hospitals. *Stroke Res Treat.* 2014;2014:591897.
- Skarin M, Sjoholm A, Nilsson A, Nilsson M, Bernhardt J, Linden T. A mapping study on physical activity in stroke rehabilitation: establishing the baseline. J Rehabil Med. 2013;45:997–1003.
- Nascimento LR, Michaelsen SM, Ada L, Polese JC, Teixeira-Salmela LF. Cyclical electrical stimulation increases strength and improves activity after stroke: a systematic review. J Physiother. 2014;60:22–30.
- Howlett OA, Lannin NA, Ada L, McKinstry C. Functional electrical stimulation improves activity after stroke: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2015;96:934–943.
- Ambrosini E, Ferrante S, Pedrocchi A, Ferrigno G, Molteni F. Cycling induced by electrical stimulation improves motor recovery in postacute hemiparetic patients: A randomized controlled trial. *Stroke*. 2011;42:1068–1073.
- 12. Bauer P, Krewer C, Golaszewski S, Koenig E, Muller F. Functional electrical stimulation-assisted active cycling-therapeutic effects in patients with hemiparesis

from 7 days to 6 months after stroke: a randomized controlled pilot study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2015;96:188–196.

- **13.** Lo HC, Hsu YC, Hsueh YH, Yeh CY. Cycling exercise with functional electrical stimulation improves postural control in stroke patients. *Gait Posture*. 2012;35:506–510.
- 14. Lee SY, Kang SY, Im SH, Kim BR, Kim SM, Yoon HM, et al. The effects of assisted ergometer training with a functional electrical stimulation on exercise capacity and functional ability in subacute stroke patients. *Ann Rehabil Med.* 2013;37: 619–627.
- Adkins DL, Boychuk J, Remple MS, Kleim JA. Motor training induces experiencespecific patterns of plasticity across motor cortex and spinal cord. J Appl Physiol. 2006;101:1776–1782.
- **16.** Kleim JA. Neural plasticity and neurorehabilitation: teaching the new brain old tricks. *J Commun Disord*. 2011;44:521–528.
- Bohannon RW. Manual muscle test scores and dynamometer test scores of knee extension strength. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1986;67:390–392.
- Bohannon RW. Test-retest reliability of hand-held dynamometry during a single session of strength assessment. *Phys Ther.* 1986;66:206–209.
- Hislop HJ, Montgomery J. Daniels and Worthingham's Muscle Testing: Techniques of Manual Examination. 6 ed. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders Company; 1995.
- 20. Mehrholz J, Wagner K, Meissner D, Grundmann K, Zange C, Koch R, et al. Reliability of the Modified Tardieu Scale and the Modified Ashworth Scale in adult patients with severe brain injury: a comparison study. *Clin Rehabil.* 2005;19:751–759.
- **21.** Horstman AM, Beltman MJ, Gerrits KH, Koppe P, Janssen TW, Elich P, et al. Intrinsic muscle strength and voluntary activation of both lower limbs and functional performance after stroke. *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging.* 2008;282:251–261.

Chapter 5 Two weeks of intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke: a randomised trial

Published manuscript

This project is presented as a published manuscript:

de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Varettas B, Jamieson S, Murphy A, Giaccari S. Two weeks of intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand ability in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke: a randomised trial. Journal of Physiotherapy. 2019;65(3):152-158.

Conference proceedings

This study has been presented at two conferences. It appears in the conference proceedings as:

- de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Jamieson S, Murphy A, Varettas B, Giaccari S. Strategies to increase amount and intensity of repetitive sit-to-stand training after stroke: insights from the REPS trial. World Confederation for Physical Therapy, Geneva, Switzerland, 2019.
- de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Jamieson S, Murphy A, Varettas B, Giaccari S. Strategies to increase amount and intensity of repetitive sit-to-stand training after stroke: the REPS trial. Smart Strokes, Hunter Valley, Australia, 2019.

Publication statement

Statement from co-authors confirming the authorship contribution of the PhD candidate. As co-authors of the manuscript:

de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Varettas B, Jamieson S, Murphy A, Giaccari S. Two weeks of intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand ability in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke: a randomised trial. Journal of Physiotherapy. 2019;65(3):152-158.

We confirm that Davide de Sousa has made the following contributions:

- Conception and design of the research including literature search
- Collection of data
- Analysis and interpretation of the findings
- Writing the manuscript, critical appraisal of content and response to reviewers

Name	Signature	Date
Lisa Anne Harvey		30-Aug-2019
Simone Dorsch		30-Aug-2019
Bronwyn Varettas		30-Aug-2019
Serena Jamieson		30-Aug-2019
Abby Murphy		30-Aug-2019
Sarah Giaccari		30-Aug-2019

Page 75 of 118



Journal of PHYSIOTHERAPY

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jphys

Research

Two weeks of intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand ability in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke: a randomised trial

Davide G de Sousa ^{a,b}, Lisa A Harvey ^b, Simone Dorsch ^{c,d}, Bronwyn Varettas ^e, Serena Jamieson ^e, Abby Murphy ^e, Sarah Giaccari ^e

^a Graythwaite Rehabilitation Centre, Ryde Hospital, Northern Sydney Local Health District; ^b John Walsh Centre for Rehabilitation Research, Kolling Institute, Sydney Medical School Northern, University of Sydney; ^c Faculty of Health Sciences, Australian Catholic University; ^d StrokeEd Collaboration; ^e Physiotherapy Department, Royal North Shore Hospital, Northern Sydney Local Health District, Sydney, Australia

KEY WORDS

Stroke Sit-to-stand Repetitive training Physical therapy Randomised trial

ABSTRACT

Ouestion: Does intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improve sit-to-stand ability in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke? Design: A multi-centre randomised controlled trial with concealed allocation, assessor blinding and intention-to-treat analysis. Participants: Thirty patients from two Sydney hospitals, < 3 months after stroke, with a mean Modified Rankin Scale score of 4 points (SD 0.5). Intervention: All participants received usual care. Participants in the experimental group attended two additional sessions of physiotherapy per day for 2 weeks. These sessions were individualised to the needs of each participant in order to increase the amount and intensity of sit-to-stand training. **Outcome measures:** Outcome measures were taken at baseline and at 2 weeks. The primary outcome was clinicians' impressions of sit-to-stand change, measured using videos and a 15-point Global Impressions of Change Scale. Secondary outcomes were sit-to-stand ability, composite strength of key muscles of the affected lower limb, gross lower limb extension strength, the Goal Attainment Scale, and ranking of change in ability to move from sitting to standing. Results: All participants completed the trial. The mean between-group difference for clinicians' impressions of sit-to-stand change was 1.57/15 points (95% CI 0.02 to 3.11). The secondary outcomes that indicated a treatment effect were gross lower limb extension strength and ranking of change in ability to move from sitting to standing, with mean between-group differences of 6.2 deg (95% CI 0.5 to 11.8) and -7 (95% CI -1 to -13), respectively. **Conclusion**: Two weeks of intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand ability in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke. Trial registration: ANZCTR 12616001288415. [de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Varettas B, Jamieson S, Murphy A, Giaccari S (2019) Two weeks of intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand ability in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke: a randomised trial. Journal of Physiotherapy 65:152–158]

Crown Copyright © 2019 Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Australian Physiotherapy Association. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Introduction

After stroke, many people have difficulty standing up and walking independently, due to motor impairments such as weakness and poor co-ordination. Loss of the ability to stand up can result in profound disability¹ and increased burden of care.² There is strong evidence that repetitive training of sitting,³ standing up,⁴ standing,⁵ and walking⁵ after stroke improves these functional tasks. There is also evidence that large amounts (more than triple the usual amount) of additional training improves functional outcomes after stroke.⁶ However, it cannot be assumed that the effects of additional training are the same for all tasks because individual tasks may require different amounts of training. For example, tasks involving the upper limb appear to require more training than tasks involving the lower limb.⁷ Since standing up independently is essential for reducing disability and burden of care, it is important to understand if additional repetitive sit-to-stand training improves the ability to stand up independently after stroke. Five clinical trials have investigated the effects of additional repetitive sit-to-stand training after stroke.⁸⁻¹² Three of the five trials are not relevant for people who are very disabled and unable to stand up independently because these trials only recruited people who could stand up without assistance.^{9,10,12} Another trial recruited a mix of people who could and could not stand up independently, and only provided a very imprecise estimate of the treatment effect.¹¹ The only remaining relevant trial, which specifically recruited people who could not stand up independently, had methodological issues affecting the validity of the results and did not provide intensive sit-to-stand training to participants.⁸ Overall, these five trials do not provide clear evidence

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2019.05.007

1836-9553/Crown Copyright © 2019 Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Australian Physiotherapy Association. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Research



Figure 1. Design and flow of participants through the trial.

of the effectiveness of additional repetitive sit-to-stand training in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke.

The primary aim of this trial was to determine if intensive sit-tostand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand ability in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke.

Therefore, the research question for this multi-centre randomised controlled trial was:

Does intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improve sit-to-stand ability in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke?

Methods

Design

An assessor-blinded randomised controlled trial was undertaken (Figure 1). A person not involved in the trial created a blocked random allocation schedule for 30 participants using Microsoft Excel. The blocking ensured equal numbers of participants in the experimental and control groups. Participants' allocations were placed in opaque, sequentially numbered and sealed envelopes that were held offsite by a person not involved in the trial. Once participants passed the screening process and completed the initial assessment, trial staff contacted the independent person who opened an envelope and revealed the group allocation. Participants were re-assessed at the end of the 2-week intervention period. All applicable institutional and governmental regulations concerning the ethical use of human volunteers were followed.

Participants

All patients admitted to two hospitals between 21 June 2016 and 16 October 2018 were screened for inclusion. The inclusion criteria were as follows: first-time stroke or any other non-progressive acquired brain injury; < 6 months after stroke or brain injury; difficulty standing up due to the effects of stroke or brain injury; and sufficient communication skills to indicate yes/no verbally or via gestures. Patients were excluded for any of the following reasons: limited passive joint range of movement or musculoskeletal conditions that would prevent participation; inability to participate in exercise (ie, medically unwell or unable to tolerate usual physiotherapy); and expected length of stay < 2 weeks.

Experimental group

Participants allocated to the experimental group participated in two additional sessions of physiotherapy per day for 2 weeks in addition to usual care. Each additional session was at least 30 minutes during the week (hence, an additional 1 hour per day) and 1 hour on the weekend (2 hours per day). However, the sessions were sometimes longer than this if tolerated by the participants. The sessions were individualised to the needs of each participant in order to increase the amount and intensity of sit-to-stand training (see Box 1). All sit-to-stand training was based on the principles of task-specific motor training, with an emphasis on repetition, and the use of visual targets to provide an external focus to the movement. Training also incorporated verbal feedback. Intensity of training was increased by increasing the number of repetitions performed in a specified time. Training was also steadily progressed by lowering the

Box 1. Protocol and progression of sit-to-stand training.

Participants who could perform the whole sit-to-stand task from raised treatment beds with supervision were set up with a wall on their unaffected side and chairs or tables around them so they could practise moving from sitting to standing repetitively and safely.

If participants were unable to perform the whole sit-to-stand task, they performed part-practice of components of the sit-to-stand task until they were able to move from sitting to standing with assistance. For example, if participants could not move from sitting to standing due to weakness and poor co-ordination of their affected lower limb extensors, they performed many repetitions of squats on a sliding tilt-table.

If participants could not move from sitting to standing due to weakness and poor co-ordination of their affected lower limb hip flexors and extensors, they performed many repetitions of reaching beyond their arms' length for targets whilst loading their affected lower limb.

Participants were encouraged to achieve a daily target of sit-to-stand repetitions. If they could not reach this target, they were encouraged to perform as many repetitions of the sit-to-stand task per day as they could tolerate.

Participants were provided with visual targets (ie, tape on a wall to provide a visual target for shoulder alignment, or tape on a chair corresponding with tape on the knee of their affected lower limb to provide a target for knee alignment prior to moving from sitting to standing).

Verbal feedback about the quality of participants' movements were also provided.

Intensity of training was increased by increasing the amount of repetitions performed in a specified time.

Progression of sit-to-stand training followed these general principles:

Training was made progressively more difficult to continue to challenge each participant's motor ability.

If participants could achieve more than 50 repetitions in < 15 minutes, the exercise was made more difficult.

If participants were unable to achieve 25 repetitions within 15 minutes, the exercise was made easier.

The new version of the exercise was adopted until more than 100 repetitions were achieved following the method above.

If participants could not perform a previously tolerated exercise on a specific day for any reason (ie, they were medically unwell) but were stable enough to participate in therapy, the task was made easier so that the day's repetition target could be achieved.

Training was also steadily progressed by lowering the height of treatment beds, altering foot position to increase weight-bearing through the affected lower limb, and standing up with a foam mat under the feet. All these strategies were used to ensure that each participant trained at his/her maximal capacity.

height of treatment beds, altering foot position to increase weight-bearing through the affected lower limb, and standing up with a foam mat under the feet. All these strategies were used to ensure that each participant trained at his/her maximal capacity. Additional strategies were used to facilitate extra sit-to-stand training during therapy hours and after hours (Table 1). Both the experimental and control groups received usual care, namely two 1-hour sessions of physiotherapy each weekday.

One therapist with over 10 years of experience in neurological physiotherapy was responsible for treating all experimental participants and did not treat any of the control participants. Attempts were made to keep the therapists responsible for treating the control participants naïve to the purpose of the trial. That is: they were not told the purpose of the trial or the details of the intervention. Similarly, all participants were kept naïve to the purpose of the trial. For example, the participant information sheets and consent forms did not disclose the specific experimental intervention, and experimental participants were not told that they were specifically focusing on sit-to-stand.

Control group

Participants allocated to the control group received usual care only. A detailed description of usual care is presented in the next section.

Table 1

Strategies individualised to the needs of each participant to increase the amount of sit-to-stand training.

Strategies	Exp	Con
Physiotherapy gym \geq 3 hours/weekday	Provided	Not provided
Semi-supervised practice	Provided	Ad hoc
Therapy on weekend days	Provided	Not provided
Exercise diary	Provided	Not provided
Structured training for carers/family	Provided	Ad hoc and unstructured
Individualised after-hours exercise program	Provided	Ad hoc

Con = control group, Exp = experimental group.

Usual care

Usual care consisted of two 1-hour sessions of physiotherapy each weekday. This therapy involved strength, endurance, balance and co-ordination exercises as well as task-specific training of sitting, sit-to-stand, standing, and walking. Exercise repetitions for both groups were counted using a hand-held counter. The time that participants participated in therapy was recorded. The two hospitals were similar and participants received multi-disciplinary care from occupational therapists, speech pathologists and nurses.

Outcome measures

All participants were assessed by a blinded assessor before randomisation and at the end of the 2-week intervention period. Participants were asked not to discuss their training or group allocation with the assessors. The success of blinding was verified at the end of each participant's assessment by asking assessors to reveal whether they had become un-blinded. All assessors received training prior to commencement of the trial and were given assessment protocols to improve inter-rater reliability. Where possible, the same assessor was used to perform the initial and final assessments. Additional demographic data to describe the sample were collected prior to randomisation. This included Modified Rankin Scale scores, age, gender, time since injury, type of acquired brain injury, and affected side.

The primary outcome was clinicians' impressions of sit-to-stand change. The secondary outcomes were sit-to-stand ability using the sit-to-stand item of the Mobility Scale for Acute Stroke Patients, composite strength of key muscles of the affected lower limb, gross lower limb extension strength, the Goal Attainment Scale, and ranking of change in ability to move from sitting to standing.

Clinicians' impressions of sit-to-stand change

Change in sit-to-stand ability was assessed using a 15-point Global Impressions of Change Scale.¹³ This involved taking short video recordings of participants attempting or performing an independent sit-to-stand at baseline and again at 2 weeks. Each video was between 2 and 5 minutes in duration and the angle of the camera and distance between the camera and participant were standardised. Participants were permitted to wear shoes but lower limb aids and orthoses were removed and standardised for both assessments. Participants were positioned in the middle of a treatment bed set at a height of 60 cm, with their ankles in dorsiflexion and their heels on the ground. Participants were asked to stand up with their arms crossed over their chests. If participants could not stand up independently, they were permitted to place their arm/s on their thigh/s to assist. If participants still could not stand up independently, they were permitted to push through their hands on the bed to assist with standing up. If participants still could not stand up independently, assistance was provided by a physiotherapist not involved in the trial and blinded to group allocation. If necessary, a second person provided assistance for participants to stand up. If participants could stand up independently from 60 cm, the bed height was incrementally lowered by 5 cm, and then a further 5 cm after every successful attempt at standing up. The assessment ceased when participants could no longer stand up independently, or could not stand up safely with maximal assistance of two people. If participants were initially unable to stand up with assistance of two people from a height of 60 cm, they were challenged to reach beyond their arms' length to the limits of their abilities whilst seated.

All videos were collated into pairs corresponding with the initial and final assessment of each participant. Thirty pairs of videos were generated (60 videos in total) and viewed on two separate adjoining screens. The video taken at the time of a participant's initial assessment always appeared on the left screen and the final assessment on the right. Two blinded assessors (one with > 20 years and one with 4 years neurological physiotherapy experience) were asked to separately view the pairs of videos and rate the change in the ability of participants to move from sitting to standing independently, using a Global Impressions of Change Scale. Assessors were asked to take into consideration the severity of participants' disabilities and the amount of change expected over a 2-week period. The Global Impressions of Change Scale is a 15-point scale with -7 representing 'very much worse', 0 representing 'no difference', and +7 representing 'very much better'. A mean between-group difference of 2/15 points was considered clinically important for this outcome prior to the commencement of the trial.

Sit-to-stand ability

Sit-to-stand ability was also assessed using the sit-to-stand item of the Mobility Scale for Acute Stroke Patients.¹⁴ This item is rated on a 6-point scale based on level of assistance required to move from sitting to standing. A score of 1 denotes inability to move from sitting to standing and a score of 6 denotes the ability to move from sitting to standing unassisted, safely, and with no verbal input.

Composite strength of key muscles of the affected lower limb

The strength of the hip extensors, knee extensors, and plantar flexors of the affected lower limb were assessed using the Manual Muscle Test, consisting of 6 grades (ie, 0 = no muscle contraction to 5 = moves joint through full available range and holds against maximal resistance).¹⁵ Scores for the three muscle groups were combined and treated as a composite measure of lower limb extensor strength, with 15 points representing the maximum score.

Gross lower limb extension strength

Gross lower limb extension strength of the affected lower limb was assessed using an inclinometer on a sliding tilt table. Each participant was transferred to a sliding tilt table. The participant was positioned with the affected lower limb on the foot plate and the knee in 70 deg of flexion. The unaffected lower limb was not weight-bearing. The tilt table was raised and the participant was instructed to extend the affected lower limb. The highest degree of incline against which the participant could extend the affected lower limb was recorded, where zero degrees indicated that the tilt table was horizontal and 90 degrees indicated that the tilt table was vertical. Table 2

Baseline characteristics of participants.

Characteristic	Exp (n = 15)	Con (n = 15)
Age (yr), mean (SD) Gender, n male (%) Time since ABI (d), median (IQR)	62 (17) 9 (60) 16 (13 to 57)	69 (16) 8 (53) 18 (10 to 34)
Affected side, n right (%)	5 10 5 (33)	1 14 6 (40)
Modified Rankin Scale (points/7), mean (SD)	4.2 (0.4)	4.1 (0.6)

ABI = acquired brain injury, Con = control group, Exp = experimental group.

The Goal Attainment Scale

The original intention was to ask participants to identify one personal goal related to their sit-to-stand ability. However, preliminary testing of this scale indicated that patients with cognitive or verbal impairments had great difficulty setting specific goals. Therefore, the Goal Attainment Scale was modified prior to beginning the trial.¹⁶ Prior to randomisation, a blinded assessor set one goal related to sit-to-stand ability, which was based on their predictions of expected gains in participants' ability to move from sitting to standing over the 2-week intervention period. The assessor who set the initial goal considered the severity of the participant's disabilities and the expected ability of the participant to tolerate therapy. The goal was set according to the SMART principle, that is: the goal was specific, measurable, attainable, realistic and timely. A blinded assessor rated attainment of the goal at the 2-week assessment. The goal was rated on a 5-point scale, where '0' denoted the expected level of achievement; '+1' and '+2' were respectively 'a little' and 'a lot' better than expected, whilst '-1' and '-2' were correspondingly 'a little' and 'a lot' less than expected. A higher score reflected better achievement of goals than a lower score.

Ranking of change in ability to move from sitting to standing

Two blinded assessors separately ranked the change in the participants' abilities to move from sitting to standing in order from most improved to least improved. The assessors used the videos collected as part of the primary outcome to determine each participant's ranking. Scores were combined and averaged to minimise the impact of extreme scores.

Data analysis

The sample size was calculated a priori. It was based on an 80% probability of detecting a mean between-group difference of 2/15 on the primary outcome: clinicians' impressions of sit-to-stand change. The power calculation assumed a drop-out rate of 15%, a power of 80%, an alpha of 0.05, and a strong correlation (0.8) between initial and final values. It was based on an estimated SD of 1.5 derived from a previous study.¹⁷

Each outcome was analysed using a linear regression approach with baseline data as a covariate. The purpose of these analyses was to determine the effect of the intensive sit-to-stand training versus usual care on all outcomes. All data were analysed according to the principle of 'intention to treat'. The result for the primary analysis was analysed with respect to the pre-defined minimum worthwhile treatment effects. Minimum worthwhile treatment effects were not set for the secondary outcomes.

Results

Flow of participants through the trial

A total of 478 patients with acquired brain injury were screened from the two hospitals over the trial period. Thirty patients were randomised. The flow of the participants through the trial is illustrated in Figure 1. Table 2 summarises the demographic and clinical characteristics of the participants at baseline. The

Table 3

Mean (SD) of groups, mean (SD) difference within groups, and mean (95% CI) difference between groups.

Outcome		oups		Difference within groups		Difference between groups		
	Week 0		Week 2		Week 2 minus Week 0		Week 2 minus Week 0	
	Exp (n = 15)	Con (n = 15)	Exp (n = 15)	Con (n = 15)	Exp	Con	Exp minus Con	
Clinicians' impressions of sit-to-stand change (points/15)			4.9 (1.6)	3.3 (2.5)			1.57 (0.02 to 3.11)	
Sit-to-stand ability (points/6)	2.2 (1.1)	3.2 (1.5)	3.9 (1.7)	4.3 (1.9)	1.7 (1.3)	1.1 (0.7)	0.6 (-0.2 to 1.5)	
Composite strength of key muscles of the affected lower limb (points/15)	6.9 (3.5)	7.1 (3.0)	8.0 (4.2)	8.1 (3.2)	1.1 (2.2)	1.1 (1.6)	0.1 (-1.4 to 1.5)	
Gross lower limb extension strength (deg)	21.3 (14.9)	21.7 (10.6)	30.5 (15.3)	24.7 (12.8)	9.2 (7.5)	3.0 (7.5)	6.2 (0.5 to 11.8)	
Goal Attainment Scale (points/5)			0.7 (1.4)	-0.1 (1.1)			0.7 (-0.2 to 1.7)	
Ranking of change in ability to move from sitting to standing ^a			12 (8)	19 (8)			-7 (-1 to -13)	

Shaded row = primary outcome. Small anomalies in subtraction are due to the effects of rounding. A positive between-group difference favours the experimental group, except where indicated.

Con = control group, Exp = experimental group.

^a A negative between-group difference favours the experimental group.

experimental and control groups were similar at baseline. Most participants could not walk or needed a high level of assistance to transfer or walk on admission to the trial.

Adherence to the trial protocol

Adherence to the intervention was good. Experimental participants participated in a median (IQR) of 1920 minutes (1690 to 2273) of physiotherapy over the 2-week intervention period. This equated to a median (IQR) of 137 minutes (121 to 162) per day. Control participants participated in a median (IQR) of 970 minutes (948 to 1088) of physiotherapy over the 2-week intervention period. This equated to a median (IQR) of 97 minutes (95 to 109) per day.

Experimental participants completed a median (IQR) 1252 sit-to-stand repetitions (763 to 1773) over the 2-week intervention period. This equated to a median (IQR) 89 sit-to-stand repetitions (55 to 127) per day. Control participants completed a median (IQR) 365 sit-to-stand repetitions (164 to 514) over the 2-week intervention period. This equated to a median (IQR) 37 sit-to-stand repetitions (16 to 51) per day. The assessors remained blinded for all assessments. There were no adverse events.

Effect of sit-to-stand training

Primary outcome

The mean between-group difference for clinicians' impressions of sit-to-stand change was 1.57/15 points (95% CI 0.02 to 3.11) (Table 3). The upper end of the 95% CI associated with the mean between-group difference for this outcome exceeded the minimum worthwhile treatment effect of 2 points, indicating uncertainty as to whether the treatment effect was clinically worthwhile. Individual participant data for this and the secondary outcomes are presented in Table 4 on the eAddenda.

Secondary outcomes

The results for the secondary outcomes are presented in Table 3. The mean between-group difference for sit-to-stand ability was 0.6/6 points (95% CI -0.2 to 1.5). The mean between-group difference for composite strength of the key muscles of the affected lower limb was 0.1/15 points (95% CI -1.4 to 1.5). The mean between-group difference for gross lower limb extension strength was 6.2 deg (95% CI 0.5 to 11.8). The mean between-group difference for the Goal Attainment Scale was 0.7/5 points (95% CI -0.2 to 1.7). The mean between-group difference (95% CI) for ranking of change in ability to move from sitting to standing was -7 (95% CI -1 to -13) in favour of

the experimental group, supporting the results of the primary outcome.

Discussion

The results of this trial indicate that intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand ability in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke (Table 3). This trial provides the first evidence that as little as 2 weeks of additional repetitive sit-to-stand training in the early stages of stroke recovery may be worthwhile.

There have been trials investigating the effects of additional repetitive sit-to-stand training; however, some of these trials only recruited people who could stand up without assistance.^{9,10,12} Barreca et al specifically recruited people who could not stand up independently after stroke; however, this trial had methodological issues affecting the validity of the results.⁸ Interestingly, Barreca et al demonstrated a treatment effect with a small difference in daily sit-to-stand repetitions between their experimental and control groups: median 15 repetitions (IQR 12 to 20) versus 11 repetitions (IQR 8 to 17), respectively. This improvement with such a small difference in daily sit-to-stand repetitions between groups conflicts with recent evidence⁶ indicating that large amounts (more than triple the usual amount) of additional training are required to improve functional outcomes after stroke. In comparison, participants in the experimental and control groups in our trial performed a median of 89 (IQR 55 to 127) versus 37 (IQR 16 to 51) daily sit-to-stand repetitions, respectively. Overall, participants in our experimental group performed over three times more sit-to-stand repetitions than participants in our control group; median (IQR) 1252 repetitions (763 to 1773) versus 365 repetitions (164 to 514), respectively. It is unclear how Barreca et al demonstrated a treatment effect with such a small difference in sit-to-stand repetitions between their experimental and control groups. However, there are two possible explanations: they may have under-reported the total amount of sit-to-stand repetitions in their experimental group or it may be that less additional training is needed to improve sit-to-stand than other tasks (such as reaching and manipulation) in people after stroke. We developed our protocol on the hypothesis that large amounts of sit-to-stand repetitions are needed to improve sit-to-stand ability; however, we may have provided more training than is required. A further trial comparing different amounts of sit-to-stand repetitions is needed to further explore this issue.

While our trial demonstrated a treatment effect of additional sit-to-stand training, there is uncertainty as to whether the size of

around whether the treatment was worthwhile. It is possible that a larger treatment effect would have been found if there had been better control of contamination between groups. Physiotherapists may have unintentionally incorporated some of the experimental strategies to improve sit-to-stand ability with participants in the control group. This potential contamination may have increased the amount of training provided to control participants, thereby decreasing the difference between the two groups. Prior to the start of the trial, we considered treating experimental participants in a separate area to avoid contamination. However, this was not feasible. To minimise contamination, the same physiotherapist provided all the interventions to participants in the experimental group and great care was taken to keep experimental participants naïve to the purpose of the trial. Whilst experimental participants were clearly participating in the additional training, they were unaware that the content was different to usual care. Similarly, attempts were made to keep the therapists responsible for treating the control participants naïve to the purpose of the trial. Despite the potential contamination, a treatment effect was still demonstrated.

would have provided more precision and possibly more clarity

We administered intensive sit-to-stand training over 2 weeks. We chose 2 weeks because people often only remain in rehabilitation for this period and we were interested to know whether it is worth administering intensive sit-to-stand training if it can only be provided for such a short length of time. The results indicate that this intervention is effective for people who only receive 2 weeks of rehabilitation after stroke. It may be that larger amounts of sit-to-stand training over a longer period would have produced even greater results. The other reason we administered the treatment for 2 weeks was that we were concerned that participants would not tolerate such an intensive intervention each day for more than 2 weeks, particularly in the early stages of stroke recovery. However, we found that the experimental participants were able to tolerate large amounts of sit-to-stand repetitions, suggesting that our concerns were unfounded.

One of the challenges prior to the start of this trial was finding an outcome measure that would be appropriate for people with all levels of disability and particularly those who were very disabled. Most outcome measures of sit-to-stand ability are susceptible to floor effects in people who are too disabled to stand up. To overcome this problem, we used a novel method to assess sit-to-stand ability: clinicians' impressions of change of participants' ability to move from sitting to standing from videos. Two blinded assessors were asked to score the change in ability of participants to perform an independent sit-to-stand movement, taking into consideration the initial disability of the participant and the amount of change expected over a 2-week period assuming the participant received usual care. This way, small functional changes that are often missed by other outcome measures could be detected. A limitation of this outcome measure is that it is somewhat subjective and relies on the clinicians' understanding of likely change in ability to move from sitting to standing over a 2-week period after taking into account the severity of participants' disabilities. We used two assessors and averaged their scores to minimise the impact of extreme scores. Interestingly, the results of one of the secondary outcomes, which also relied on the scores from videos, gave similar results. Taken together, the results of these two outcomes add weight to the potential value of relying on clinicians' impressions of change of participants' ability to move from sitting to standing from videos.

This trial provides insights into the possible mechanisms underlying the observed improvements in sit-to-stand ability. That is: repetitive practice of sitting to standing improves lower limb strength, which in turn improves sit-to-stand ability. Interestingly, there was no suggestion of a between-group difference for composite strength of key muscles of the affected lower limb. In contrast, the between-group difference for gross lower limb extension strength of the affected lower limb suggested a treatment effect (6.2 deg, 95% Cl 0.5 to 11.8). These conflicting results of voluntary muscle strength may highlight the lack of sensitivity in the manual muscle test scale used to assess composite strength of key muscles of the affected lower limb. The improvements in gross lower limb extension strength of the affected lower limb suggest that the observed improvement in sit-to-stand ability may, in part, be explained by an improvement in lower limb extensor strength. This finding aligns with other studies of repetitive practice after stroke.¹⁸

We planned to use the Goal Attainment Scale to assess if participants could achieve personal goals related to sit-to-stand ability. However, preliminary testing of this scale indicated that patients with cognitive or verbal impairments had great difficulty setting specific goals. Therefore, we modified the goal-setting procedure for the Goal Attainment Scale prior to beginning the trial. Prior to randomisation, a blinded assessor set one goal related to sit-to-stand ability, which was based on his/her predictions of expected gains in participants' ability to move from sitting to standing over the 2-week intervention period. Similar to the primary outcome measure, the assessor who set the initial goal took into account the severity of the participants' disabilities and expected ability of participants to tolerate therapy. The results for the Goal Attainment Scale did not suggest a treatment effect; however, these findings may point to problems with the way the Goal Attainment Scale was used in this trial.

Some clinicians may view the inclusion of participants with varying levels of cognition, aphasia, and lower limb strength as a limitation. If those who are weaker and more disabled benefit more than those who are stronger and less disabled, then the inclusion of people who were less disabled may have reduced the treatment effect. However, we see this as a strength and not a limitation in our trial. Participation was not limited to a more disabled group of people because we were interested in generalising the results to typical patients admitted for rehabilitation after stroke. However, only participants who were unable to stand up independently were included in the trial.

The results of this trial are important because up until now there has been uncertainty regarding the effectiveness of additional repetitive sit-to-stand training in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke. Since standing up independently is essential for reducing disability and burden of care, attaining independence in sit-to-stand ability is a high priority. However, there can be many tasks to train after stroke, and it can be difficult for clinicians to prioritise which tasks to train first. One possible implication of our results is that 2 weeks of intensive repetitive sit-tostand training could be initially prioritised for people with difficulty standing up, allowing more time after this period to focus on other tasks requiring independent sit-to-stand ability, such as walking.

In summary, this trial provides evidence that as little as 2 weeks of intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand ability in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke. This trial also demonstrates that large amounts of sit-to-stand training is well tolerated in the early stages of stroke recovery. Future larger trials should clarify the effects of longer training periods or different amounts of sit-to-stand repetitions, and determine if the observed effects are clinically worthwhile.

What was already known on this topic: After stroke, many people have difficulty standing up independently. Repetitive training improves functional tasks, but existing trials of repetitive sit-to-stand training have important limitations.

What this study adds: Two weeks of intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand ability in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke. However, it is not clear whether the size of the treatment effect is clinically worthwhile. Large amounts of sit-to-stand training are well tolerated in the early stages of stroke recovery.

eAddenda: Table 4 can be found online at: https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jphys.2019.05.007.

Ethics Approval: The study was approved by the Northern Sydney Local Health District Human Research Ethics Committee. Written consent was obtained from all participants or their next of kin before data collection began.

Competing interests: Nil.

Source(s) of support: North Shore Ryde Hospital Service Rehabilitation Research Grant.

Acknowledgements: We thank the nursing and therapy staff of Graythwaite Rehabilitation Centre and Royal North Shore Hospital, in particular: Doris Ng, Sharon Fok, and Pamela Wong.

Provenance: Not invited. Peer reviewed.

Correspondence: Davide de Sousa, John Walsh Centre for Rehabilitation Research, Kolling Institute, Northern Sydney Local Health District, Sydney, Australia. Email: davidedesousa@gmail.com

References

- 1. Alexander NB, Galecki AT, Nyquist LV, Hofmeyer MR, Grunawalt JC, Grenier ML, et al. Chair and bed rise performance in ADL-impaired congregate housing residents. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2000;48:526–533.
- 2. McCullagh E, Brigstocke G, Donaldson N, Kalra L. Determinants of caregiving burden
- and quality of life in caregivers of stroke patients. Stroke. 2005;36:2181-2186. 3. Dean CM, Channon EF, Hall JM. Sitting training early after stroke improves sitting ability and quality and carries over to standing up but not to walking: a randomised trial. Aust J Physiother. 2007;53:97–102.
- 4. Pollock A, Gray C, Culham E, Durward BR, Langhorne P. Interventions for improving sit-to-stand ability following stroke. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014:CD007232.
- 5. French B, Thomas LH, Coupe J, McMahon NE, Connell L, Harrison J, et al. Repetitive task training for improving functional ability after stroke. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016:CD006073.

- 6. Schneider EJ, Lannin NA, Ada L, Schmidt J. Increasing the amount of usual rehabilitation improves activity after stroke: a systematic review. J Physiother. 2016:62:182-187
- 7. Lang CE, Strube MJ, Bland MD, Waddell KJ, Cherry-Allen KM, Nudo RJ, et al. Dose response of task-specific upper limb training in people at least 6 months poststroke: a phase II, single-blind, randomized, controlled trial. Ann Neurol. 2016:80:342-354.
- 8. Barreca S, Sigouin CS, Lambert C, Ansley B. Effects of extra training on the ability of stroke survivors to perform an independent sit-to-stand: a randomized controlled trial. J Geriatr Phys Ther. 2004;27:59–64.
- 9. Britton E, Harris N, Turton A. An exploratory randomized controlled trial of assisted practice for improving sit-to-stand in stroke patients in the hospital setting. Clin Rehabil. 2008:22:458-468.
- 10. Cheng PT, Wu SH, Liaw MY, Wong AMK, Tang FT. Symmetrical body-weight distribution training in stroke patients and its effect on fall prevention. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2001;82:1650-1654.
- 11. Kerr A, Clark A, Cooke EV, Rowe P, Pomeroy VM. Functional strength training and movement performance therapy produce analogous improvement in sit-to-stand early after stroke: early-phase randomised controlled trial. Physiotherapy. 2017;103:259-265.
- 12. Tung FL, Yang YR, Lee CC, Wang RY. Balance outcomes after additional sit-to-stand training in subjects with stroke: a randomized controlled trial. Clin Rehabil. 2010;24:533-542.
- Kamper S. Global rating of change scales. *Aust J Physiother*. 2009;55:289.
 Simondson J, Goldie P, Brock K, Nosworthy J. The Mobility Scale for Acute Stroke Patients: intra-rater and inter-rater reliability. Clin Rehabil. 1996;10: 295-300.
- 15. Hislop HJ, Montgomery J. Daniels and Worthingham's Muscle Testing: Techniques of Manual Examination. 6 ed. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders Company; 1995. 16. Turner-Stokes L. Goal attainment scaling (GAS) in rehabilitation: a practical guide.
- Clin Rehabil. 2009:23:362-370. 17. Harvey LA, Folpp H, Denis S, Barratt D, Quirk R, Allison GT, et al. Clinicians' and patients' impressions of change in motor performance as potential outcome
- measures for clinical trials. Spinal Cord. 2011;49:30-35. 18. de Sousa DG, Harvey LA, Dorsch S, Glinsky JV. Interventions involving repetitive
- practice improve strength after stroke: a systematic review. J Physiother. 2018;64:210-221.

Chapter 6 Discussion

This chapter is divided into the following sections:

- The primary objectives and key findings of this research program.
- An overview of each study conducted in this research program including results, strengths, limitations and implications for future research.

This chapter will not include a detailed discussion of the results of this research program. Each publication contained in chapters 3 to 5 of this thesis contains separate discussion sections where study results are discussed in detail and compared to other research.

Primary objectives of the research program

The primary objectives of the research program were:

- 1. To determine if interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke, and if any improvements in strength are accompanied by improvements in activity.
- 2. To determine if four weeks of FES cycling in addition to usual care improves mobility and strength in people with a sub-acute acquired brain injury caused by stroke or trauma.
- To determine if intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand ability and gross lower limb extension strength in people who are very weak and immobile after stroke.

Key findings of the research program

There were three key findings of the research program:

1. Interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke, and these improvements are accompanied by improvements in activity.

- 2. Functional electrical stimulation cycling does not improve mobility in people with acquired brain injury and its effects on strength are unclear.
- 3. Two weeks of intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-tostand in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke.

Overview of the research program

Study one: a systematic review

The aim of this systematic review was to determine if interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke, and if any improvements in strength are accompanied by improvements in activity.

Study one results

The results of the primary analysis on strength and the secondary analyses on upper and lower limb activity are presented below:

- Forty-six studies with a total of 1928 participants investigated the effects of repetitive practice on strength after stroke. The overall SMD of repetitive practice on strength when the upper and lower limb studies were combined was 0.25 SD (95% CI 0.16 to 0.34, $I^2 = 44\%$) in favour of repetitive practice (see Figure 3 in the publication for the detailed forest plot).
- Twenty-four studies with a total of 912 participants investigated the effects of repetitive practice on upper limb activity after stroke. The SMD was 0.15 SD (95% CI 0.02 to 0.29, $I^2 = 50\%$) in favour of repetitive practice on upper limb activity (see Figure 4 in the publication for the detailed forest plot).
- Twenty studies with a total of 952 participants investigated the effects of repetitive practice on lower limb activity after stroke. The SMD was 0.25 SD (95% CI 0.12 to 0.38, I² = 36%) in favour of repetitive practice on lower limb activity (see Figure 5 in the publication for the detailed forest plot).

Strengths of study one

The following are strengths of study one:

- Study one was a large systematic review of 52 studies with meta-analysis. Systematic reviews are considered the highest level of research evidence.
- We followed the Cochrane methodology for conducting systematic reviews. Special attention was given to assessing the risk of bias in the included studies.
- The systematic review protocol was prospectively registered with PROSPERO.
- A thorough search strategy was developed and several databases were searched.
- The manuscript was peer-reviewed and published in the highest-ranked physiotherapy journal.
- SMD were back-converted to provide results in clinically relevant measures, such as Newton metres or percentage of improvement from baseline strength.
- This systematic review is the only review to specifically investigate the effect of repetitive practice on strength after stroke. All other reviews combined studies that investigated other forms of strengthening interventions with studies investigating the effects of repetitive practice.
- This systematic review is the only review to provide individual estimates of improvements in strength for 12 different types of interventions involving repetitive practice.

Limitations of study one

The following are limitations of study one:

- A minimal worthwhile treatment effect was not defined a priori making it difficult to determine if a statistically significant result was clinically worthwhile.
- A SMD was used instead of MD making it difficult for clinicians to interpret the results.
- Post data were used instead of change data (since post data were most commonly reported in studies). Change data may have improved precision around the point

Page 86 of 118

estimate allowing for better conclusions to be made regarding the effectiveness of repetitive practice to improve strength.

There were insufficient data from the included studies to perform subgroup analyses on dosage (repetitions of active practice) and initial strength (weak i.e. ≤ 3/5 MRC versus strong i.e. ≥ 4/5 MRC). Therefore, an arbitrary amount of time was used for the dosage comparison (≤ 24 hours versus > 24 hours of repetitive practice) and scheduled therapy time was primarily used over actual therapy time, since these data were reported more often. The subgroup analysis on initial strength could not be performed.

Implications for future research

This systematic review highlighted significant gaps and limitations in the research evidence for interventions involving repetitive practice. The following points highlight the implications for future research:

- Clinical trialists should make every effort to minimise bias in randomised controlled trials and should prospectively register trials on a clinical trial registry.
- Many of the included studies in the systematic review had 'unclear' methods of minimising bias due to poor reporting. Randomised controlled trials need to be reported according to the CONSORT guidelines.
- All outcome data (i.e. post, change, and participant-level data) should be reported in clinical trials to facilitate more precise analyses and thus better conclusions on clinical effectiveness.
- Future clinical trials of repetitive practice should report dosage as repetitions of active practice rather than scheduled time or actual time in therapy. Data on repetitions of active practice are more accurate for understanding the effects of individual interventions on strength and activity after stroke.

• Further large clinical trials are needed to understand the impact of initial strength or severity of stroke on outcomes. These data will inform clinical practice and may change approaches to prescription of repetitive practice, and even rehabilitation programs.

Study two: a randomised controlled trial

The aim of this randomised controlled trial was to determine if four weeks of active FES cycling in addition to usual care improves mobility and strength more than usual care alone in people with a sub-acute acquired brain injury caused by stroke or trauma.

Study two results

The results of the primary outcomes for mobility and strength of the knee extensors of the paretic lower limb, and secondary outcome for strength of key muscles of the paretic lower limb are presented below:

- The mean between-group differences (95% CI) for mobility and strength of the knee extensors of the paretic lower limb were -0.3/21 points (-3.2 to 2.7) and 7.5Nm (-5.1 to 20.2), respectively, where positive values favour the experimental group.
- The only secondary outcome that suggested a possible treatment effect was strength of key muscles of the paretic lower limb with a mean between-group difference (95% CI) of 3.0/20 points (1.3 to 4.8).

Strengths of study two

The following are strengths of study two:

- Study two was a high quality randomised controlled trial with careful attention given to minimising bias (8/10 points on the PEDro scale).
- The randomised controlled trial protocol was prospectively registered on Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry.

- The manuscript was peer-reviewed and published in the highest-ranked physiotherapy journal.
- There was good adherence to the study protocol and participants received a median (IQR) of 25 minutes (24 to 25) of FES cycling per session.
- The study had broad inclusion criteria. Thus, the results can be generalised to typical patients admitted to sub-acute rehabilitation with acquired brain injury.
- The results clearly demonstrated that FES cycling does not improve mobility in people with acquired brain injury. These results are conclusive and cannot be explained by an insufficient sample size. That is, the upper bound of the 95% CI associated with the mean between-group difference failed to cross the minimally worthwhile treatment effect of 3 points.

Limitations of study two

The following are limitations of study two:

- The sample size may have been insufficient to determine the effects of FES cycling on strength of the knee extensors of the paretic lower limb. This was due to the wide 95% CI associated with the mean between-group difference spanning the minimally worthwhile treatment effect for this outcome.
- Participants in the study had a wide range of impairments (i.e. aphasia, poor cognition, varied levels of strength) which may have prevented them from fully cooperating with the intervention. Functional Electrical Stimulation is typically used on muscles that cannot generate sufficient force to move limbs against gravity. There may be differences in the way people with very weak muscles respond to FES cycling versus people with stronger muscles.

Implications for future research

This randomised controlled trial highlighted gaps and limitations in the research evidence for FES cycling in people with acquired brain injury. The following points highlight the implications for future research:

- Future larger clinical trials could clarify the effects of FES cycling on strength, although the clinical significance may be limited without accompanying effects on mobility.
- Future clinical trials could limit recruitment to participants who are very weak (i.e. ≤ 2/5 MRC) to clarify the effects of FES cycling on people who cannot easily participate in interventions that require higher levels of strength (i.e. whole task practice of standing up), however there is a large body of evidence indicating that motor training needs to be specific to the task being trained. Therefore, again, any improvements in strength may have limited carry-over to activities other than cycling. Still, there are too few studies of FES cycling in people who are very weak to conclusively rule out a treatment effect in this subgroup of people after acquired brain injury.

Study three: a randomised controlled trial

The aim of this randomised controlled trial was to determine if intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improves sit-to-stand in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke.

Study three results

The results of the primary outcome for clinicians' impression of sit-to-stand change and secondary outcomes for sit-to-stand ability, composite strength of the key muscles of the paretic lower limb, sit-to-stand ability, composite strength of the key muscles of the paretic lower limb,

gross lower limb extension strength, the Goal Attainment Scale and ranking of change in ability to move from sitting to standing are presented below:

- The mean between-group difference (95% CI) for clinicians' impression of sit-to-stand change over two weeks was 1.6/15 points (0.0 to 3.1). The upper end of the 95% CI associated with the mean between-group difference for this outcome exceeded the minimally worthwhile treatment effect of 2 points, indicating that the treatment was inconclusive.
- There were no statistically significant between-group differences for sit-to-stand ability, composite strength of the key muscles of the paretic lower limb, or the Goal Attainment Scale. In contrast, there was a statistically significant between-group difference for gross lower limb extension strength of the paretic lower limb (mean between-group difference (95% CI), 6.2 degrees, 0.5 to 11.9). There was also a statistically significant between-group difference for ranking of change in ability to move from sitting to standing (p = value 0.023), supporting the result of the primary outcome measure.

Strengths of study three

The following are strengths of study three:

- Study three was a high quality randomised controlled trial with careful attention given to minimising bias (8/10 points on the PEDro scale).
- The randomised controlled trial protocol was prospectively registered on Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry.
- The manuscript was peer-reviewed and published in the highest-ranked physiotherapy journal.
- There was good adherence to the study protocol and participants in our experimental group performed over three times more sit-to-stand repetitions than participants in our Page 91 of 118

control group with a median (IQR) of 1252 repetitions (763 to 1773) versus 365 repetitions (164 to 514), respectively.

- The study had broad inclusion criteria. Thus, the results can be generalised to typical patients admitted to sub-acute rehabilitation units after stroke.
- The results clearly demonstrated that an intensive package of sit-to-stand training improves sit-to-stand more than usual care in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke.
- Our results provide the first evidence from a trial with minimal bias that repetitive sitto-stand training after stroke maybe worthwhile. Previous trials investigating the effects of repetitive sit-to-stand training have included participants who could already stand up independently or had methodological issues that affected the validity of the results.

Limitations of study three

The following are limitations of study three:

- While we demonstrated that the treatment was statistically significant, the point estimate was imprecise with the upper end of the 95% CI associated with the mean between-group difference exceeding the minimally worthwhile treatment effect of 2 points, suggesting some uncertainty as to whether the treatment effect was clinically worthwhile. A larger sample size would have provided more precision and possibly more clarity around whether the treatment was worthwhile.
- Participants in the study had a wide range of impairments (i.e. aphasia, poor cognition, varied levels of strength) which may have influenced participation with the intervention.
- There was possible contamination between study groups. Physiotherapists may have unintentionally incorporated some of the experimental strategies to improve sit-to-stand into the treatment of control participants. This potential contamination may have

increased the amount of training provided to control participants; thereby decreasing the difference between the two groups.

Implications for future research

This randomised controlled trial highlighted gaps and limitations in the research evidence for intensive sit-to-stand training for people after stroke. The following points highlight the implications for future research:

- Larger clinical trials would provide more precision and possibly more clarity around whether intensive sit-to-stand training is clinically worthwhile.
- There is still uncertainty as to the minimum amount of repetitions of sit-to-stand training required to improve sit-to-stand in people who cannot stand up independently after stroke. Further clinical trials are needed to clarify the effects of different amounts of sit-to-stand training on people's ability to stand up.
- Future clinical trials should limit their recruitment to people who have difficulties standing up independently, thus providing specific data on this subgroup of people after stroke.

Chapter 7 Conclusion

Stroke is one of the leading causes of death and disability. Muscle weakness after stroke can lead to activity limitations and participation restrictions. This thesis contains a discussion of the causes of muscle weakness after stroke, highlighting implications on activity and participation for people who experience weakness. This thesis also contains a literature review of some common interventions used in stroke rehabilitation to improve strength and activity, highlighting the strengths and limitations of current evidence. The studies contained in this research program have answered some important questions. Namely:

- 1. Do interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke, and are any improvements in strength accompanied by improvements in activity?
- 2. Does four weeks of FES cycling in addition to usual care improve mobility and strength in people with a sub-acute acquired brain injury caused by stroke or trauma?
- 3. Does intensive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care improve sit-to-stand ability and gross lower limb extension strength in people who are unable to stand up independently after stroke?

These research questions are important to people who experience weakness after stroke because these people often spend weeks, months and years relearning basic tasks such as standing up and walking. Similarly, these research questions are important to therapists and healthcare providers who invest time, effort and resources into stroke rehabilitation programs. These healthcare providers need to know which interventions are the most effective to improve strength and activity after stroke, thus enabling more effective and efficient use of resources to assist people in rehabilitation programs.

The clinical implications of study one are that evidence is now available to therapists and healthcare providers that interventions involving repetitive practice improve strength after stroke, and that these improvements in strength are accompanied by improvements in activity. Study one also provided estimates for improvement in strength for 12 commonly used interventions after stroke. These estimates inform therapists and healthcare providers which interventions are more likely to improve strength and suggest that repetitive practice should be prioritised as an intervention that can improve both strength and activity in people after stroke. The clinical implications of study two are that FES cycling in addition to usual care may provide more opportunities to improve lower limb strength for people who are very weak and immobile after acquired brain injury caused by stroke or trauma, but there are no accompanied improvements in mobility. Therefore, FES cycling should not be prioritised in stroke

The clinical implications of study three are that for people with difficulty standing up after stroke, two weeks of intensive repetitive sit-to-stand training in addition to usual care could be initially prioritised, allowing more time after this period to focus on other tasks requiring independent sit-to-stand ability, such as walking.

Implications for future research

The main implications for future research from this thesis are:

- Further randomised controlled trials with minimal bias are needed. For example, clinical trials need to be prospectively registered on a clinical trial registry and reported according to the CONSORT guidelines.
- All outcome data (i.e. post, change, and participant-level data) should be reported in clinical trials to facilitate more precise analyses and thus better conclusions on clinical effectiveness.
- Future clinical trials of repetitive practice should report dosage as repetitions of active practice rather than scheduled time or time spent in therapy.

- Further clinical trials are needed to clarify the effects of different amounts of repetitive practice on activity limitations and participation restrictions.
- Further large clinical trials are needed to provide more precision around the estimates of treatment effect, thus providing more clarity around whether various strengthening interventions are clinically worthwhile.
- Future clinical trials could limit recruitment to different subgroups of people after stroke (i.e. weak versus very weak). This will clarify the effects of various strengthening interventions on people who cannot easily participate in interventions that require higher levels of strength or activity.
- Further clinical trials are needed to clarify the long-term effects of various strengthening interventions.

The following references are citations within the 'Introduction' and 'Discussion' sections of

the thesis. References contained within the published paper may be duplicated here.

- 1. Neckel N, Pelliccio M, Nichols D, Hidler J. Quantification of functional weakness and abnormal synergy patterns in the lower limb of individuals with chronic stroke. Journal of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation 2006;3(1):17 doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-3-17.
- 2. Andrews AW, Bohannon RW. Distribution of muscle strength impairments following stroke. Clinical Rehabilitation 2000;14(1):79-87.
- Andrews AW, Bohannon RW. Short-term recovery of limb muscle strength after acute stroke. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2003;84(1):125-130 doi: 10.1053/apmr.2003.50003.
- 4. Horstman AM, Beltman MJ, Gerrits KH, et al. Intrinsic muscle strength and voluntary activation of both lower limbs and functional performance after stroke. Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging 2008;28(4):251-261 doi: doi:10.1111/j.1475-097X.2008.00802.x.
- Canning CG, Ada L, Adams R, O'Dwyer NJ. Loss of strength contributes more to physical disability after stroke than loss of dexterity. Clinical Rehabilitation 2004;18(3):300-308.
- 6. Ada L, O'Dwyer N, O'Neill E. Relation between spasticity, weakness and contracture of the elbow flexors and upper limb activity after stroke: an observational study. Disability and Rehabilitation 2006;28(13-14):891-897 doi: 10.1080/09638280500535165.
- Faria-Fortini I, Michaelsen SM, Cassiano JG, Teixeira-Salmela LF. Upper Extremity Function in Stroke Subjects: Relationships between the International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health Domains. Journal of Hand Therapy 2011;24(3):257-265 doi: 10.1016/j.jht.2011.01.002.
- Faria-Fortini I, Basílio ML, Polese JC, et al. Strength deficits of the paretic lower extremity muscles were the impairment variables that best explained restrictions in participation after stroke. Disability and Rehabilitation 2017;39(21):2158-2163 doi: 10.1080/09638288.2016.1219397.
- French B, Thomas LH, Coupe J, et al. Repetitive task training for improving functional ability after stroke. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2016(11) doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006073.pub3.
- 10. Clinical Guidelines for Stroke Management. Melbourne, Australia: Stroke Foundation, 2017.
- Mehrholz J, Thomas S, Werner C, Kugler J, Pohl M, Elsner B. Electromechanical-assisted training for walking after stroke. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2017;5 doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006185.pub4.
- Mehrholz J, Pohl M, Platz T, Kugler J, Elsner B. Electromechanical and robot-assisted arm training for improving activities of daily living, arm function, and arm muscle strength after stroke. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2018(9) doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006876.pub5.

- Corbetta D, Sirtori V, Castellini G, Moja L, Gatti R. Constraint-induced movement therapy for upper extremities in people with stroke. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2015(10) doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004433.pub3.
- Mehrholz J, Thomas S, Elsner B. Treadmill training and body weight support for walking after stroke. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2017;8:CD002840 doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002840.pub4.
- 15. Preston E, Ada L, Dean CM, Stanton R, Waddington G. What is the probability of patients who are nonambulatory after stroke regaining independent walking? A systematic review. International Journal of Stroke 2011;6(6):531-540 doi: 10.1111/j.1747-4949.2011.00668.x.
- 16. West T, Bernhardt J. Physical activity in hospitalised stroke patients. Stroke Research and Treatment 2012;2012:813765 doi: 10.1155/2012/813765.
- 17. Skarin M, Sjoholm A, Nilsson A, Nilsson M, Bernhardt J, Linden T. A mapping study on physical activity in stroke rehabilitation: establishing the baseline. Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine 2013;45(10):997-1003 doi: 10.2340/16501977-1214.
- Sjoholm A, Skarin M, Churilov L, Nilsson M, Bernhardt J, Linden T. Sedentary behaviour and physical activity of people with stroke in rehabilitation hospitals. Stroke Research and Treatment 2014;2014:591897 doi: 10.1155/2014/591897.
- 19. Howlett OA, Lannin NA, Ada L, McKinstry C. Functional electrical stimulation improves activity after stroke: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2015 doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2015.01.013.
- 20. Nascimento LR, Michaelsen SM, Ada L, Polese JC, Teixeira-Salmela LF. Cyclical electrical stimulation increases strength and improves activity after stroke: a systematic review. Journal of Physiotherapy 2014;60(1):22-30 doi: 10.1016/j.jphys.2013.12.002.
- 21. Ambrosini E, Ferrante S, Pedrocchi A, Ferrigno G, Molteni F. Cycling induced by electrical stimulation improves motor recovery in postacute hemiparetic patients: A randomized controlled trial. Stroke 2011;42(4):1068-1073.
- 22. Bauer P, Krewer C, Golaszewski S, Koenig E, Muller F. Functional electrical stimulationassisted active cycling--therapeutic effects in patients with hemiparesis from 7 days to 6 months after stroke: a randomized controlled pilot study. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2015;96(2):188-196 doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2014.09.033.
- 23. Alexander NB, Galecki AT, Nyquist LV, et al. Chair and bed rise performance in ADLimpaired congregate housing residents. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 2000;48(5):526-533.
- 24. McCullagh E, Brigstocke G, Donaldson N, Kalra L. Determinants of caregiving burden and quality of life in caregivers of stroke patients. Stroke 2005;36(10):2181-2186 doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000181755.23914.53.
- 25. Kwakkel G, van Peppen R, Wagenaar RC, et al. Effects of augmented exercise therapy time after stroke: a meta-analysis. Stroke 2004;35(11):2529-2539 doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000143153.76460.7d.
- 26. Cooke EV, Mares K, Clark A, Tallis RC, Pomeroy VM. The effects of increased dose of exercise-based therapies to enhance motor recovery after stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Medicine 2010;8:60 doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-8-60.
- 27. Lohse KR, Lang CE, Boyd LA. Is more better? Using meta-data to explore dose-response relationships in stroke rehabilitation. Stroke 2014;45(7):2053-2058 doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.114.004695.
- 28. Schneider EJ, Lannin NA, Ada L, Schmidt J. Increasing the amount of usual rehabilitation improves activity after stroke: a systematic review. Journal of Physiotherapy 2016;62(4):182-187 doi: 10.1016/j.jphys.2016.08.006.

- 29. Cheng P-T, Wu S-H, Liaw M-Y, Wong AMK, Tang F-T. Symmetrical body-weight distribution training in stroke patients and its effect on fall prevention. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2001;82(12):1650-1654 doi: 10.1053/apmr.2001.26256.
- 30. Britton E, Harris N, Turton A. An exploratory randomized controlled trial of assisted practice for improving sit-to-stand in stroke patients in the hospital setting. Clinical Rehabilitation 2008;22(5):458-468.
- 31. Tung FL, Yang YR, Lee CC, Wang RY. Balance outcomes after additional sit-to-stand training in subjects with stroke: a randomized controlled trial with consumer summary. Clinical Rehabilitation 2010;24(6):533-542.
- 32. Kerr A, Clark A, Cooke EV, Rowe P, Pomeroy VM. Functional strength training and movement performance therapy produce analogous improvement in sit-to-stand early after stroke: early-phase randomised controlled trial. Physiotherapy 2017;103(3):259-265 doi: 10.1016/j.physio.2015.12.006.
- 33. Barreca S, Sigouin CS, Lambert C, Ansley B. Effects of extra training on the ability of stroke survivors to perform an independent sit-to-stand: a randomized controlled trial. Journal of Geriatric Physical Therapy 2004;27(2):59-64.
- 34. Brain injury. 2016. <u>https://www.braininjuryaustralia.org.au/brain-injury-2/</u> (accessed 08/07/2019).
- 35. Facts and figures about stroke. 2019. <u>https://strokefoundation.org.au/About-Stroke/Facts-and-figures-about-stroke</u> (accessed 08/07/2019).
- 36. Feigin VL, Vos T. Global burden of neurological disorders: from global burden of disease estimates to actions. Neuroepidemiology 2019;52:1-2 doi: 10.1159/000495197.
- 37. Hay SI, Abajobir AA, Abate KH, et al. Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 333 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. The Lancet 2017;390:1260-1344 doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32130-X.
- 38. Donnan GA, Fisher M, Macleod M, Davis SM. Stroke. The Lancet 2008;371:1612-1623 doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60694-7.
- 39. Bamford J, Sandercock P, Dennis M, Warlow C, Burn J. Classification and natural history of clinically identifiable subtypes of cerebral infarction. The Lancet 1991;337:1521-1526 doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(91)93206-O.
- 40. Auer RN, Sutherland GR. Primary intracerebral hemorrhage: pathophysiology. The Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences 2005;32 Suppl 2:S3.
- 41. Stroke Unit Trialists Collaboration. Organised inpatient (stroke unit) care for stroke. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2013(9) doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD000197.pub3.
- 42. Rehabilitation Stroke Services Framework. 2013. <u>https://strokefoundation.org.au/What-we-do/Treatment-programs/National-stroke-services-frameworks</u> (accessed 01/07/2019).
- 43. Landau WM, Sahrmann SA. Preservation of directly stimulated muscle strength in hemiplegia due to stroke. Archives of Neurology 2002;59(9):1453-1457.
- 44. Hsaio S-F, Newham D. The non-paretic side of stroke patients; extent of deficit in mechanical output. Clinical Rehabilitation 1999;13(1):80-81.
- 45. Newham DJ, Hsiao SF. Knee muscle isometric strength, voluntary activation and antagonist co-contraction in the first six months after stroke. Disability and Rehabilitation 2001;23 doi: 10.1080/0963828001006656.

- McComas AJ, Sica RE, Upton AR, Aguilera N. Functional changes in motoneurones of hemiparetic patients. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry 1973;36(2):183-193.
- 47. Tang A, Rymer WZ. Abnormal force--EMG relations in paretic limbs of hemiparetic human subjects. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry 1981;44(8):690-698.
- 48. Frontera WR, Grimby L, Larsson L. Firing rate of the lower motoneuron and contractile properties of its muscle fibers after upper motoneuron lesion in man. Muscle and Nerve 1997;20(8):938-947.
- 49. Rosenfalck A, Andreassen S. Impaired regulation of force and firing pattern of single motor units in patients with spasticity. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry 1980;43:907-916 doi: 10.1136/jnnp.43.10.907.
- 50. Hara Y, Akaboshi K, Masakado Y, Chino N. Physiologic decrease of single thenar motor units in the F-response in stroke patients. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2000;81(4):418-423 doi: 10.1053/mr.2000.3872.
- 51. Shepherd R. Exercise and training to optimize functional motor performance in stroke: driving neural reorganization? Neural Plasticity 2001;8(1-2):121-129 doi: 10.1155/NP.2001.121.
- Carin-Levy G, Greig C, Young A, Lewis S, Hannan J, Mead G. Longitudinal changes in muscle strength and mass after acute stroke. Cerebrovascular Diseases 2006;21(3):201-207 doi: 10.1159/000090792.
- 53. Jørgensen L, Jacobsen BK. Changes in muscle mass, fat mass, and bone mineral content in the legs after stroke: a 1 year prospective study. Bone 2001;28(6):655-659 doi: 10.1016/S8756-3282(01)00434-3.
- 54. Ramnemark A, Nyberg L, Lorentzon R, Olsson T, Gustafson Y. Hemiosteoporosis After Severe Stroke, Independent of Changes in Body Composition and Weight. Stroke: A Journal of Cerebral Circulation 1999;30(4):755-760 doi: 10.1161/01.STR.30.4.755.
- 55. English C, McLennan H, Thoirs K, Coates A, Bernhardt J. Loss of skeletal muscle mass after stroke: a systematic review. International Journal of Stroke 2010;5:395-402 doi: 10.1111/j.1747-4949.2010.00467.x.
- 56. Ryan AS, Buscemi A, Forrester L, Hafer-Macko CE, Ivey FM. Atrophy and intramuscular fat in specific muscles of the thigh: associated weakness and hyperinsulinemia in stroke survivors. Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair 2011;25(9):865-872 doi: 10.1177/1545968311408920.
- 57. Carda S, Cisari C, Invernizzi M. Sarcopenia or muscle modifications in neurologic diseases: a lexical or patophysiological difference? European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine 2013;49(1):119-130.
- 58. Williams PE, Goldspink G. Changes in sarcomere length and physiological properties in immobilized muscle. Journal of Anatomy 1978;127(3):459-468.
- 59. Gracies JM. Pathophysiology of spastic paresis. I: Paresis and soft tissue changes. Muscle and Nerve 2005;31(5):535-551 doi: 10.1002/mus.20284.
- 60. Gracies JM. Pathophysiology of spastic paresis. II: Emergence of muscle overactivity. Muscle and Nerve 2005;31(5):552-571 doi: 10.1002/mus.20285.
- 61. McComas AJ, Galea V, de Bruin H. Motor unit populations in healthy and diseased muscles. Physical Therapy 1993;73(12):868-877.
- 62. Farmer SF, Swash M, Ingram DA, Stephens JA. Changes in motor unit synchronization following central nervous lesions in man. Journal of Physiology 1993;463:83-105.
- Jackman RW, Kandarian SC. The molecular basis of skeletal muscle atrophy. American Journal of Physiology: Cell Physiology 2004;287(4):C834-843 doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00579.2003.

- 64. Adams RW, Gandevia SC, Skuse NF. The distribution of muscle weakness in upper motoneuron lesions affecting the lower limb. Brain 1990;113(5):1459-1476 doi: 10.1093/brain/113.5.1459.
- 65. Colebatch JG, Gandevia SC. The distribution of muscular weakness in upper motor neuron lesions affecting the arm. Brain 1989;112(3):749-763 doi: 10.1093/brain/112.3.749.
- 66. Dorsch S, Ada L, Canning CG. Lower Limb Strength Is Significantly Impaired in All Muscle Groups in Ambulatory People With Chronic Stroke: A Cross-Sectional Study. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2016;97(4):522-527 doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2015.10.106.
- 67. Tyson SF, Chillala J, Hanley M, Selley AB, Tallis RC. Distribution of weakness in the upper and lower limbs post-stroke. Disability and Rehabilitation 2006;28(11):715-719 doi: 10.1080/09638280500301584.
- 68. Buchner DM, Larson EB, Wagner EH, Koepsell TD, de Lateur BJ. Evidence for a nonlinear relationship between leg strength and gait speed. Age and Ageing 1996;25(5):386-391.
- 69. Bohannon RW. Muscle strength and muscle training after stroke. Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine 2007;39(1):14-20 doi: 10.2340/16501977-0018.
- 70. Nakamura R, Hosokawa T, Tsuji I. Relationship of muscle strength for knee extension to walking capacity in patients with spastic hemiparesis. Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine 1985;145(3):335-340.
- 71. Nakamura R, Watanabe S, Handa T, Morohashi I. The relationship between walking speed and muscle strength for knee extension in hemiparetic stroke patients: a follow-up study. Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine 1988;154(2):111-113.
- 72. Suzuki K, Nakamura R, Yamada Y, Handa T. Determinants of maximum walking speed in hemiparetic stroke patients. Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine 1990;162(4):337-344.
- 73. Dorsch S, Ada L, Canning CG, Al-Zharani M, Dean C. The strength of the ankle dorsiflexors has a significant contribution to walking speed in people who can walk independently after stroke: an observational study. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2012;93(6):1072-1076 doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2012.01.005.
- 74. Bohannon RW. Knee extension strength and body weight determine sit-to-stand independence after stroke. Physiotherapy Theory and Practice 2007;23(5):291-297 doi: 10.1080/09593980701209428.
- 75. Bohannon RW. Body weight-normalized knee extension strength explains sit-to-stand independence: a validation study. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research 2009;23(1):309-311 doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e31818eff0b.
- 76. Eriksrud O, Bohannon RW. Relationship of knee extension force to independence in sit-tostand performance in patients receiving acute rehabilitation. Physical Therapy 2003;83(6):544-551.
- 77. Mentiplay BF, Adair B, Bower KJ, Williams G, Tole G, Clark RA. Associations between lower limb strength and gait velocity following stroke: a systematic review. Brain Injury 2015;29(4):409-422 doi: 10.3109/02699052.2014.995231.
- 78. Sunderland A, Tinson D, Bradley L, Hewer RL. Arm function after stroke. An evaluation of grip strength as a measure of recovery and a prognostic indicator. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry 1989;52(11):1267-1272 doi: 10.1136/jnnp.52.11.1267.
- 79. Boissy P, Bourbonnais D, Carlotti MM, Gravel D, Arsenault BA. Maximal grip force in chronic stroke subjects and its relationship to global upper extremity function. Clinical Rehabilitation 1999;13(4):354-362.

- 80. Mercier C, Bourbonnais D. Relative shoulder flexor and handgrip strength is related to upper limb function after stroke. Clinical Rehabilitation 2004;18(2):215-221.
- 81. Bohannon RW. Make tests and break tests of elbow flexor muscle strength. Physical Therapy 1988;68(2):193-194.
- 82. Bohannon RW. Manual muscle test scores and dynamometer test scores of knee extension strength. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 1986;67(6):390-392.
- 83. Bohannon RW. Test-retest reliability of hand-held dynamometry during a single session of strength assessment. Physical Therapy 1986;66(2):206-209.
- 84. Wikholm JB, Bohannon RW. Hand-held dynamometer measurements: tester strength makes a difference. Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy 1991;13(4):191-198.
- 85. Hislop HJ, Montgomery J. Daniels and Worthingham's Muscle Testing: Techniques of Manual Examination. 6 ed. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders Company, 1995.
- 86. Bohannon RW. Manual muscle testing: does it meet the standards of an adequate screening test? Clinical Rehabilitation 2005;19(6):662-667.
- 87. Knepler C, Bohannon RW. Subjectivity of forces associated with manual-muscle test grades of 3+, 4-, and 4. Perceptual and Motor Skills 1998;87(3):1123-1128 doi: 10.2466/pms.1998.87.3f.1123.
- 88. Wikholm JB, Bohannon RW. Hand-held dynamometer measurements: tester strength makes a difference. Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy 1991;13(4):191-198 doi: 10.2519/jospt.1991.13.4.191.
- 89. Mulroy SJ, Lassen KD, Chambers SH, Perry J. The ability of male and female clinicians to effectively test knee extension strength using manual muscle testing. Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy 1997;26(4):192-199 doi: 10.2519/jospt.1997.26.4.192.
- 90. Gregson JM, Leathley MJ, Moore AP, Smith TL, Sharma AK, Watkins CL. Reliability of measurements of muscle tone and muscle power in stroke patients. Age and Ageing 2000;29(3):223-228.
- 91. Cohen J. *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences*. 2nd ed. USA: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 1988.
- 92. Low JL, Reed A. *Electrotherapy Explained: Principles and Practice*: Butterworth-Heinemann, 2000.
- 93. de Kroon JR, van der Lee JH, IJzerman MJ, Lankhorst GJ. Therapeutic electrical stimulation to improve motor control and functional abilities of the upper extremity after stroke: a systematic review. Clinical Rehabilitation 2002;16(4):350-360 doi: 10.1191/0269215502cr504oa.
- 94. Peckham PH, Knutson JS. Functional electrical stimulation for neuromuscular applications. Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering 2005;7(1):327-360 doi: 10.1146/annurev.bioeng.6.040803.140103.
- 95. Hesse S, Sarkodie-Gyan T, Uhlenbrock D. Development of an advanced mechanised gait trainer, controlling movement of the centre of mass, for restoring gait in non-ambulant subjects. Biomedizinische Technik/Biomedical Engineering 1999;44(7-8):194-201 doi: 10.1515/bmte.1999.44.7-8.194.
- 96. Morris DM, Taub E. Constraint-induced therapy approach to restoring function after neurological injury. Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation 2001;8(3):16-30 doi: 10.1310/BLJX-M89N-PTPY-JDKW.
- 97. Taub E, Miller NE, Novack TA, et al. Technique to improve chronic motor deficit after stroke. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 1993;74(4):347.

- 98. Miltner WH, Bauder H, Sommer M, Dettmers C, Taub E. Effects of constraint-induced movement therapy on patients with chronic motor deficits after stroke: a replication. Stroke 1999;30(3):586-592 doi: 10.1161/01.STR.30.3.586.
- 99. Page SJ, Levine P, Leonard AC. Modified constraint-induced therapy in acute stroke: a randomized controlled pilot study. Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair 2005;19(1):27-32 doi: 10.1177/1545968304272701.
- 100. Page SJ, Sisto SA, Levine P, Johnston MV, Hughes M. Modified constraint induced therapy: a randomized feasibility and efficacy study. Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development 2001;38(5):583-590.
- 101. Burns A, Burridge J, Pickering R. Does the use of a constraint mitten to encourage use of the hemiplegic upper limb improve arm function in adults with subacute stroke? Clinical Rehabilitation 2007;21(10):895-904 doi: 10.1177/0269215507079144.
- 102. Ploughman M, Corbett D. Can forced-use therapy be clinically applied after stroke? an exploratory randomized controlled trial. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2004;85(9):1417-1423 doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2004.01.018.
- 103. Yoon JA, Koo BI, Shin MJ, Shin YB, Ko HY, Shin YI. Effect of constraint-induced movement therapy and mirror therapy for patients with subacute stroke. Annals of Rehabilitation Medicine 2014;38(4):458-466.
- 104. Schmidt R, Lee T. Motor Control and Learning: A Behavioural Emphasis. 4th ed. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics, 2005.
- 105. Hubbard IJ, Parsons MW, Neilson C, Carey LM. Task-specific training: evidence for and translation to clinical practice. Occupational Therapy International 2009;16(3-4):175-189 doi: 10.1002/oti.275.
- 106. Carr J, Shepherd R. A Motor Relearning Programme for Stroke. Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann, 1987.
- 107. Carr J, Shepherd R. Movement Science: Foundations for Physical Therapy in Rehabilitation. 2nd ed: Aspen Publishers, 2000.
- 108. Ada L, Dorsch S, Canning CG. Strengthening interventions increase strength and improve activity after stroke: a systematic review. Australian Journal of Physiotherapy 2006;52(4):241-248 doi: 10.1016/s0004-9514(06)70003-4.
- 109. Harris JE, Eng JJ. Strength training improves upper-limb function in individuals with stroke: a meta-analysis. Stroke 2010;41(1):136-140 doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.567438.
- 110. Salter K, Musovic A, N FT. In the first 3 months after stroke is progressive resistance training safe and does it improve activity? a systematic review. Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation 2016;23(5):366-375 doi: 10.1080/10749357.2016.1160656.
- 111. Wist S, Clivaz J, Sattelmayer M. Muscle strengthening for hemiparesis after stroke: a meta-analysis. Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine 2016;59(2):114-124 doi: 10.1016/j.rehab.2016.02.001.
- 112. Saunders DH, Sanderson M, Hayes S, et al. Physical fitness training for stroke patients. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2016(3) doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003316.pub6.
- 113. Pomeroy VM, King L, Pollock A, Baily-Hallam A, Langhorne P. Electrostimulation for promoting recovery of movement or functional ability after stroke. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2006(2) doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003241.pub2.
- 114. Dean CM, Rissel C, Sherrington C, et al. Exercise to enhance mobility and prevent falls after stroke: the community stroke club randomized trial. Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair 2012;26(9):1046-1057.

- 115. Harris JE, Eng JJ, Miller WC, Dawson AS. A self-administered graded repetitive arm supplementary program (GRASP) improves arm function during inpatient stroke rehabilitation: a multi-site randomized controlled trial. Stroke 2009;40(6):2123-2128.
- 116. Pollock A, Gray C, Culham E, Durward BR, Langhorne P. Interventions for improving sit-to-stand ability following stroke. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2014(5) doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007232.pub4.
- 117. Garber CE, Blissmer B, Deschenes MR, et al. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 2011;43(7):1334-1359.
- 118. Progression models in resistance training for healthy adults. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 2009;41(3):687-708 doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181915670.
- 119. Liu CJ, Latham NK. Progressive resistance strength training for improving physical function in older adults. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2009(3) doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002759.pub2.
- 120. Borde R, Hortobágyi T, Granacher U. Dose-response relationships of resistance training in healthy old adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sports Medicine 2015;45(12):1693-1720 doi: 10.1007/s40279-015-0385-9.
- 121. Grgic J, Schoenfeld BJ, Davies TB, Lazinica B, Krieger JW, Pedisic Z. Effect of resistance training frequency on gains in muscular strength: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sports Medicine 2018;48(5):1207-1220 doi: 10.1007/s40279-018-0872-x.
- 122. Ralston GW, Kilgore L, Wyatt FB, Baker JS. The effect of weekly set volume on strength gain: a meta-analysis. Sports medicine 2017;47(12):2585-2601 doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0762-7.
- 123. Schoenfeld BJ, Ogborn D, Krieger JW. Dose-response relationship between weekly resistance training volume and increases in muscle mass: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Journal of Sports Sciences 2017;35(11):1073-1082 doi: 10.1080/02640414.2016.1210197.
- 124. Dorsch S, Ada L, Alloggia D. Progressive resistance training increases strength after stroke but this may not carry over to activity: a systematic review. Journal of Physiotherapy 2018;64(2):84-90 doi: 10.1016/j.jphys.2018.02.012.
- 125. Teixeira-Salmela LF, Olney SJ, Nadeau S, Brouwer B. Muscle strengthening and physical conditioning to reduce impairment and disability in chronic stroke survivors. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 1999;80(10):1211-1218 doi: 10.1016/S0003-9993(99)90018-7.
- 126. Zou J, Wang Z, Qu Q, Wang L. Resistance training improves hyperglycemia and dyslipidemia, highly prevalent among nonelderly, nondiabetic, chronically disabled stroke patients. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2015;96(7):1291-1296 doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2015.03.008.
- 127. Fernandez-Gonzalo R, Fernandez-Gonzalo S, Turon M, Prieto C, Tesch PA, García-Carreira MdC. Muscle, functional and cognitive adaptations after flywheel resistance training in stroke patients: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Journal of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation 2016;13(1):37 doi: 10.1186/s12984-016-0144-7.
- 128. Bobath B. *Adult Hemiplegia: Evaluation and Treatment*. William Heinnemann: London, 1978.
- 129. Kraemer WJ, Ratamess NA. Fundamentals of resistance training: progression and exercise prescription. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 2004;36(4):674-688.

- 130. Veerbeek JM, Koolstra M, Ket JC, van Wegen EE, Kwakkel G. Effects of augmented exercise therapy on outcome of gait and gait-related activities in the first 6 months after stroke: a meta-analysis. Stroke 2011;42(11):3311-3315 doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.623819.
- 131. Lang CE, Lohse KR, Birkenmeier RL. Dose and timing in neurorehabilitation: prescribing motor therapy after stroke. Current Opinion in Neurology 2015;28(6):549-555 doi: 10.1097/wco.0000000000256.
- 132. Scrivener K, Sherrington C, Schurr K, Treacy D. Many participants in inpatient rehabilitation can quantify their exercise dosage accurately: an observational study. Journal of Physiotherapy 2011;57(2):117-122 doi: 10.1016/S1836-9553(11)70022-4.
- 133. Kleim JA, Swain RA, Armstrong KA, Napper RM, Jones TA, Greenough WT. Selective synaptic plasticity within the cerebellar cortex following complex motor skill learning. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory 1998;69(3):274-289 doi: 10.1006/nlme.1998.3827.
- 134. Nudo R, Milliken G, Jenkins W, Merzenich M. Use-dependent alterations of movement representations in primary motor cortex of adult squirrel monkeys. Journal of Neuroscience 1996;16(2):785-807 doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.16-02-00785.1996.
- 135. Plautz EJ, Milliken GW, Nudo RJ. Effects of repetitive motor training on movement representations in adult squirrel monkeys: role of use versus learning. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory 2000;74(1):27-55 doi: 10.1006/nlme.1999.3934.
- 136. Carey JR, Kimberley TJ, Lewis SM, et al. Analysis of fMRI and finger tracking training in subjects with chronic stroke. Brain 2002;125(4):773-788 doi: 10.1093/brain/awf091.
- 137. Boyd L, Winstein C. Explicit information interferes with implicit motor learning of both continuous and discrete movement tasks after stroke. Journal of Neurologic Physical Therapy 2006;30(2):46-57.
- 138. Dromerick AW, Lang CE, Birkenmeier RL, et al. Very early constraint-induced movement during stroke rehabilitation (VECTORS): a single-center RCT. Neurology 2009;73(3):195-201 doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181ab2b27.
- 139. Lang CE, Strube MJ, Bland MD, et al. Dose response of task-specific upper limb training in people at least 6 months poststroke: a phase II, single-blind, randomized, controlled trial. Annals of Neurology 2016;80(3):342-354 doi: 10.1002/ana.24734.
- 140. Winstein C, Kim B, Kim S, Martinez C, Schweighofer N. Dosage matters: a randomized controlled trial of rehabilitation dose in the chronic phase after stroke. bioRxiv 2018 doi: 10.1101/441253.
- 141. Dean CM, Channon EF, Hall JM. Sitting training early after stroke improves sitting ability and quality and carries over to standing up but not to walking: a randomised trial. Australian Journal of Physiotherapy 2007;53(2):97-102.
- 142. Dean CM, Shepherd RB. Task-related training improves performance of seated reaching tasks after stroke: a randomized controlled trial. Stroke 1997;28(4):722-728 doi: 10.1161/01.str.28.4.722.
- 143. Scrivener K, Sherrington C, Schurr K. Amount of exercise in the first week after stroke predicts walking speed and unassisted walking. Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair 2012;26(8):932-938 doi: 10.1177/1545968312439628.

Medline

repetitive practice stroke strength.med.v12

medline_24.01.2017_15:20

1. exp Physical Therapy Modalities/ or Occupational Therapy/ or exp Rehabilitation/ or Motor Activity/ or exp Movement/ or exp Psychomotor Performance/ or "Recovery of Function"/ or "Activities of Daily Living"/

2. ((repetiti* or repeat*) adj5 (practi?e or skill or motor or movement or task or performance or train* or retrain* or relearn*)).tw.

3. (movement* adj4 joint*).tw.

4. (functional adj5 (task* or movement*)).tw.

5. (task* adj3 performance).tw.

6. ((repetiti* or repeat*) adj5 (schedule* or intervention or therap* or program* or regim* or protocol*)).tw.

7. (acquisition adj4 skill*).tw.

8. (muscle* adj5 re-educat*).tw.

9. (exercis* or physiotherapy or physical therapy or occupational therapy or rehabilitation or kinesiotherapy or kinesiology or hydrotherapy or physical performance or locomotion or walking or voluntary movement or psychomotor activity or motor activity or motor performance or (activities adj3 daily living)).tw.

10. (circuit class* or movement technique*).tw.

11. ((function* or motor) adj3 (retraining or re-training or training or relearning or relearning or learning or recovery)).tw.

12. 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11

13. exp stroke/ or brain infarction/ or brain stem infarctions/ or lateral medullary syndrome/ or cerebral infarction/ or infarction, anterior cerebral artery/ or infarction, middle cerebral artery/ or infarction, posterior cerebral artery/ or stroke, lacunar/

14. exp cerebrovascular accident/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or exp cerebrovascular disorders/ or basal ganglia cerebrovascular disease/ or basal ganglia hemorrhage/ or brain ischemia/ or brain infarction/ or brain stem infarctions/ or lateral medullary syndrome/ or cerebral infarction or infarction, anterior cerebral artery/ or infarction, middle cerebral artery/ or infarction, posterior cerebral artery/ or hypoxia-ischemia, brain/ or carotid artery diseases/ or carotid artery thrombosis/ or arteriovenous malformations/ or intracranial arteriovenous malformations/ or basal ganglia cerebrovascular disease/ or basal ganglia hemorrhage/ or putaminal hemorrhage/

15. (disease* adj5 carotid arter*).tw.

16. (stroke* or poststroke or post-stroke or apoplex* or cerebral vasc* or cerebralvasc* or cva or SAH).tw.

17. ((brain* or cerebr* or cerebell* or vertebrobasilar artery or intracerebral or intracran* or intra-cranial or basal gangli* or hemisphere* or subarachnoid or arteriovenous or arteriovenous) adj5 (h?emorrhag* or h?ematoma* or bleed* or isch?emi* or infarct* or thrombo* or embol* or occlus* or hypoxi* or lesion* or aneurysm* or insufficiency or malformation* or accident* or arterial disease* or disorder* or disease*)).tw.

18. Hemiplegia/

19. Paresis/

- 20. (hemiplegia* or hemi-paresis or hemiparesis).tw.
- 21. acquired brain injur*.tw.
- 22. 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20 or 21
- 23. muscle strength/ or hand strength/ or pinch strength/
- 24. (motor control or strength* or motricity index or dynamom* or manual muscle test*).tw.
- 25. ((muscle* adj4 (contraction* or voluntary activation or force* or power)) or maximal voluntary contraction*).tw.
- 26. muscle contraction/ or isometric contraction/ or isotonic contraction/
- 27. 23 or 24 or 25 or 26
- 28. 12 and 22 and 27
- 29. Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic/
- 30. randomized controlled trial/
- 31. Random Allocation/
- 32. Double Blind Method/
- 33. Single Blind Method/
- 34. clinical trial/
- 35. clinical trial, phase i.pt.
- 36. clinical trial, phase ii.pt.
- 37. clinical trial, phase iii.pt.
- 38. clinical trial, phase iv.pt.
- 39. controlled clinical trial.pt.
- 40. randomized controlled trial.pt.
- 41. multicenter study.pt.
- 42. clinical trial.pt.
- 43. exp Clinical Trials as topic/
- 44. or/29-43
- 45. (clinical adj trial\$).tw.
- 46. ((singl\$ or doubl\$ or treb\$ or tripl\$) adj (blind\$3 or mask\$3)).tw.
- 47. PLACEBOS/
- 48. placebo\$.tw.
- 49. randomly allocated.tw.
- 50. (allocated adj2 random\$).tw.
- 51. or/45-50
- 52. 44 or 51
- 53. case report.tw.
- 54. letter/
- 55. historical article/
- 56. 53 or 54 or 55
- 57. 52 not 56
- 58. 28 and 57

The Medline search was adapted for searches of all other databases.

PEDro Search strategy: Advanced Abstract and Title: 1st search: "stroke" AND "therapy"; 2nd search: "stroke" AND "physi" Method: Clinical trial

8											
Frequency of therapy sessions	2/wk ²² (one study)	3/wk ^{26,29,31,3} 4,37,39,49,50,55, 57,59,61,63,64,67 (15 studies)	4/wk ^{20,24,28} (three studies)	5/wk ^{16,17,19,} 23,25,32,33,35,3 8,40- 48,51,52,54,60,6 2,65,66 (25 studies)	6/wk ^{30,56} (two studies)	7/wk ²¹ participants were advised to administer the intervention independently for this period (one study)	Frequency not stated ⁵⁸ (one study)	Additional two hours per week over a five- week period ⁵³ (one study)	30 therapy sessions over three weeks ¹⁸ (one study)	33 therapy sessions over 12 weeks ³⁶ (one study)	40 therapy sessions over 52 weeks ²⁷ (one study)
Duration of therapy sessions	15- 32mins ^{29,37,40,4} 8,62 (five studies)	30mins ^{17,21,} 32,39,43,44,49,54 -57,61,63,65 (14 studies)	40- 45mins ^{27,47,60} (three studies)	60mins ¹⁸⁻ 20,23- 26,28,30,33- 35,38,41,50,59,6 ⁷ (17 studies)	60- 80mins ⁵² (one study)	75mins ³⁶ (one study)	90- 105mins ^{22,} 31,45,46 (four studies)	360mins ^{16,5} ¹ (two studies)	Not stated ^{42,53,} 58,64,66 (five studies)		

Appendix B Details of interventions of the included studies for study one

Page 108 of 118
Intensity of	Scheduled	Target	Graded to	Scheduled	Initially	Referred to a	Increased		
practice	therapy	heart-rate	individual	therapy	increased	threshold of	frequency		
(n = 29)	time ^{18,22,35,48,52}	reserve or	participants	time but	the speed	intensity for	and		
	,60	rate of	25,26,30,33,39	also used 5	and	FES to assist	amplitude		
	(six studies)	perceived	(five	RM to set	amount of	muscle	ofa		
		exertion ^{20,29}	studies)	intensity ^{24,2}	repetitions	contractions ^{17,4}	vibration		
		,34,36,55,67	í í	⁸ (two	in the	0-44,66	platform ⁶³		
		(six studies)		studies)	higher-	(seven studies)	(one study)		
					intensity				
					groups ^{45,46}				
					(two				
					studies)				
Progression	Increased	Adjusted	Increased						
of practice	amount of	the	target heart-						
(n = 35)	repetitions or	threshold of	rate reserve						
	time	intensity for	or rate of						
	performing a	FES to	perceived						
	task, difficulty	assist	exertion34,36						
	or speed, or	muscle	,55,67						
	various	contractions	(four						
	combinations	17,40-44,00	studies)						
	of all aspects	(seven							
	of	studies)							
	progression ¹⁸⁻ 22,24,26-								
	29,31,33,37-								
	39,45,46,48-								
	50,56,58,59,63								
	(24 studies)								

Appendix C Activity measures of the upper and lower limb for study one

Upper limb activity measures	Lower limb activity measures
ARAT ^{21,25,28,30,35,50,53,54} (eight studies)	Self-selected or fast walking speed ^{20,24,27,32,33,39,49,55,57,62,66,67} (12 studies)
Wolf Motor Function Test ^{16,18,22,23,36,51} (six studies)	6-minute walk test ^{29,34} (two studies)
Box and Block Test ^{31,43,60} (three studies)	Lateral Seated Reach Test - affected side ¹⁹ (one study)
Motor Assessment Scale ^{41,59} (two studies)	Functional Independence Measure - mobility section ⁴⁰ (one study)
Fugl-Meyer Assessment - upper limb section ^{45,46} (two studies)	ADL - eight point scale ⁵⁶ (one study)
Jebsen Taylor Test ^{47,65} (two studies)	Berg Balance Scale ³⁷ (one study)
Perdue Peg Board Test ²⁶ (one study)	Sensory Organisation Test ⁶³ (standing balance) (one study)
Functional Test for the Hemiparetic Upper Extremity ³⁸ (one study)	Rivermead Mobility Index ⁵² (one study)
Frenchay Arm Test ⁵⁸ (one study)	Barthel Index ⁴² (one study)
Functional Independence Measure - Activities of Daily Living or motor sections ^{48,61} (two studies)	No measure of activity ^{17,44,64} (three studies)

Appendix D Relative change from baseline strength for the upper and lower limb, early and late after stroke

for study one

	Studies (n)	Participants (n)	SMD	MD (back-converted)	Relative change from baseline
Upper limb	25	973	0.16	1.28 kg	15%
combined			(95% CI 0.03 to 0.29)	(95% CI 0.24 to 2.32)	(95% CI 3 to 26)
Lower limb	21	055	0.34	5.75 Nm	28%
combined	21	955	(95% CI 0.22 to 0.47)	(95% CI 3.72 to 7.94)	(95% CI 18 to 39)
Upper limb	12	669	0.22	1.76 kg	20%
early	15	008	(95% CI -0.06 to 0.49)	(95% CI -0.48 to 3.92)	(95% CI -5 to 45)
Upper limb	12	305	0.23	2.76 kg	16%
late	12	305	(95% CI 0.00 to 0.46)	(95% CI 0.00 to 5.52)	(95% CI 0 to 32)
Lower limb	0	386	0.48	8.11 Nm	40%
early	•	380	(95% CI 0.28 to 0.69)	(95% CI 4.73 to 11.66)	(95% CI 23 to 57)
Lower limb	13	560	0.25	2.20 kg	12%
late	15	509	(95% CI 0.08 to 0.42)	(95% CI 0.70 to 3.65)	(95% CI 4 to 20)

Appendix E Sensitivity analyses exploring the effects of various methodological aspects of the included studies

in the primary meta-analysis for strength for study one

Pooled SMD	Adequate	Concealed	Blinded assessors	Complete	Reported all	Free from other
(Strength)	randomisation	allocation		outcome data	outcomes	threats of bias
n = 46	n=30	n=14	n=31	n=40	n=42	n=8
0.25	0.24	0.27	0.20	0.24	0.33	0.19
(95% CI	(95% CI	(95% CI	(95% CI	(95% CI	(95% CI	(95% CI
0.16 to 0.34)	0.08 to 0.39)	0.11 to 0.44)	0.10 to 0.31)	0.14 to 0.33)	0.20 to 0.45)	-0.03 to 0.40)

Intervention	Studies (n)	Participants (n)	SMD	MD (back-converted)	Relative change from	
					baseline	
Assistive technology	2	32	1.02	60.18 N	59%	
			(95% CI 0.26 to 1.78)	(95% CI 15.34 to 105.02)	(95% CI 15 to 103)	
Bobath	2	294	-0.14	NA	NIA	
			(95% CI -0.37 to 0.09)	INA	INA	
CIMT	2	22	1.49	4.14 kg	138%	
			(95% CI 0.44 to 2.54)	(95% CI 1.2 to 7.06)	(95% CI 41 to 235)	
FES	2	47	0.36	NI A	274	
			(95% CI -0.23 to 0.96)	INA	INA	
Mirror therapy +	1	19	0.39	NTA .	214	
FES			(95% CI -0.52 to 1.30)	INA	NA	
Mixed therapies	1	61	0.38	NIA	NTA .	
-			(95% CI -0.13 to 0.89)	INA	INA	
Robotics	4	93	0.52	0.36/6 points	11%	
			(95% CI 0.10 to 0.94)	(95% 0.07 to 0.66)	(95% CI 2 to 20)	
Task-specific	10	391	0.13	NA	NIA	
training			(95% CI -0.07 to 0.33)	INA	INA	
Video games	1	14	0.17	NA	NA	
Ŭ			(95% CI -0.88 to 1.22)	INA		

NA: Not applicable - No back-conversion conducted due to change in baseline strength being non-significant.

Intervention	Studies (n)	Participants (n)	SMD	MD (back-converted)	Relative change from	
					baseline	
Bobath	1	65	0.23	NA	NIA	
			(95% CI -0.26 to 0.72)	NA	INA	
Cycling	2	104	0.49	137.54 N	20%	
			(95% CI 0.10 to 0.88)	(95% CI 28.07 to 247.02)	(95% CI 4 to 36)	
FES	3	107	0.45	11.79 Nm	39%	
			(95% CI 0.07 to 0.84)	(95% CI 1.83 to 22.01)	(95% CI 6 to 74)	
Mirror therapy +	1	27	0.79	NIA	NIA	
FES			(95% CI -0.00 to 1.57)	NA	INA	
Mixed therapies	1	18	0.25	NIA	NIA	
			(95% CI -0.69 to 1.18)	INA	INA	
Robotics	1	9	1.36	NIA	NIA	
			(95% CI -0.20 to 2.91)	NA	INA	
Task-specific	8	540	0.27	2.35 kg	13%	
training			(95% CI 0.09 to 0.44)	(95% CI 0.78 to 3.83)	(95% CI 4 to 21)	
Video games	1	40	0.00	NIA	NIA	
			(95% CI -0.62 to 0.62)	INA	INA	
Water-based	1	12	1.17	NIA	NIA	
exercise			(95% CI -0.11 to 2.45)	INA	INA	
Whole-body	2	33	0.84	18.82 Nm	21%	
vibration			(95% CI 0.10 to 1.58)	(95% CI 2.24 to 35.39)	(95% CI 3 to 39)	

NA: Not applicable - No back-conversion conducted due to change in baseline strength being non-significant.

Page 114 of 118

The effect of repetitive practice versus no intervention or

sham on upper limb strength for study one

		Control Experimental						Std. Nean Difference	Std. Mean Difference		
Study or Subgroup	Hean	50	Total	Nean	50	Total	Weight	N, Fixed, 95%-CI	N, Fixed, 95% C		
1.2.1 Assistive technology Barker 2008 Lannin 2016 Subtotal (95% CI) Helerogeneity: Chi*= 1.41,	158 4.34 df = 1 (P = 0.2	55 8.23 3); F = 29%	13 6 18	88 1.75	43 2.76	10 4 14	19% 09% 28%	1.34 (0.42, 2.27) 0.36 (-0.97, 1.69) 1.02 (0.26, 1.70)			
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2$	63 (P = 0.009)	1									
1.2.2 Bobath Lincoln 1999 Rodgers 2003 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogene by: Chi*= 5.80, Test for overall effect. Z = 1	0 85 df = 1 (P = 0.0 10 (P = 0.24)	25.18518519 20 2); #= 83%	54 54 140	11 78	36.2962963 36.2962963	95 51 145	198% 111% 318%	-0.35 (-0.64, -0.06) 0.24 (-0.15, 0.62) -0.14 (-0.37, 0.69)	•		
1.2.4 CNIT Atbrya 2004 Yoon 2014 Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogene by: Chi*= 2.32, Test for overall effect: Z = 2	4.15 8.7 df = 1 (P = 0.1 79 (P = 0.005	0.21213203 2.13 3); P= 57%	2 9 11	4.4 3.21	0.70710678 1.35	2 9 11	03% 12% 15%	-0.27 [-3.77, 3.22] 1.86 [0.71, 3.02] 1.49 [0.44, 2.54]			
1.2.6 FES Darsch 2014 Shin 2008 Subtotal (95% CI) Haterogeneity: Chi ² = 3.44, Test for merall effect: Z = 1	5 1.93 df = 1 (P = 0.0 .19 (P = 0.23)	4.0 0.37 8); P= 71%	16 7 23	4.8 1.51	4.3 0.18	17 7 24	25% 11% 48%	0.04 (-0.04, 0.73) 1.35 (0.15, 2.55) 8.36 (-0.23, 0.96)			
1.2.7 Illimor therapy + FES Kim 2015 Sabtotal (95% CI) Hatarogena ity. Not applica Test for overall effect: 2 = 0	9.42 Mite 184 (P = 0.40)	3.9	10 10	8.87	2.45	8	20%	0.3834.42, 1.30 0.39[-0.52, 1.30]			
1.2.9 Illived therapies Sunderland 1992 Sobtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity Not applica Tast for rearial affait: Z = 1	78.18 ble .47 (P = 0.14)	19.55	25 28	70.45	20.63	72 32	64% 64%	0.38 (-0.13, 0.89) 9.38 (-0.13, 0.89)	-		
1.2.10 Robotics Histoh 2011 Histoh 2012 Hwang 2012 Nasiero 2007 Sobtobal(95% CB Historogenety, Chi ^s = 1.78, Testfor neural) effect Z= 2	3.81 3.56 17.2 3.3 df = 3 (P = 0.6 44 (P = 0.01)	0.55 0.59 4.3 1.63 2); P=0%	6 19 19 19 19 48	3.35 3.42 14.1 2.2	0.55 2.5 1.75	6 18 6 15 45	11% 38% 14% 30% 83%	0.98 (4.25, 2.21) 0.20 (4.45, 0.86) 0.79 (4.30, 1.87) 0.63 (4.10, 1.37) 0.52 (0.10, 0.94)			
1.2.11 Task-specific train	ing										
Aimhdewi 2016 Bi 2008 Corwies 2013 Dewn 2009 Humis 2009 Humis 2009 Higgins 2009 Rose 2009 Sanches Sanchez 2016 Wangtein 2004	25.75 132 58.44444444 15.7 49.2 13.1 17 49 12 574.6	13.73 60.1 11.01261902 11 34.19 4.3536 11 36 6.0226 533	10 18 9 4 10 50 7 7 20	21.89 133.8 67.07692309 30.1 68.63 10.8 18 60 13.08 681.8	10.87 111.5 15.69683917 13.1 3.6167 12 37 7.6445 538.4	10 19 17 6 8 14 17 8 21	21% 39% 23% 18% 18% 30% 38% 18% 42%	$\begin{array}{c} 0.30 [0.58] 1.10]\\ -0.02 [0.66, 0.85]\\ 0.09 [0.76, 0.94]\\ -3.32 [0.46, 0.85]\\ -3.32 [0.46, 0.85]\\ -3.50 [1.45, 0.14]\\ -0.50 [1.45, 0.14]\\ -0.09 [0.46, 0.80]\\ -0.09 [0.46, 0.80]\\ -0.15 [1.16, 0.87]\\ 0.17 [1.45, 0.79]\\ 0.17 [1.45, 0.79]\\ \end{array}$			
Historogeneity Chi*= E.99 Tast for parall effect 7 = 4	df = 9 (P = 0.4	II); P= 0%				- 94	40.3%	ara [au, and	ľ		
A DADIESE CONTRACT AND A DATE	23.07 = 0.220										
1.2.12 video games Lao 2013 Subtotal (95% CI) Heteroprisety: Not applica Test for overall effect: Z = 0	6.71 ble .32 (P = 0.75)	2.93	77	6.14	0.24	7	15% 15%	0.17 [-0.88, 1.22] 0.17 [-0.88, 1.22]			
Total (95% Cl) Haterogeneity: Chi ³ = 45.6 Test for overall effect: Z = 2 Test for subsroup different	8, df= 24 (P = 1 44 (P = 0.01) sec ChP = 21 /	0.005); (*= 47%) 27. df = 8.6° = 0.1	491 0051. P	- 63.8%		482	105.0%	0.16 [0.03, 0.29]	Favours [control] Favours [experimental]		

Figure 6. The effect of repetitive practice versus no intervention or sham on *upper limb* strength (n = 973). Effects are expressed as SMD (95% CI).

Page 115 of 118

The effect of repetitive practice versus no intervention or

sham on lower limb strength for study one

	Ex	perimontal			Control			Sid Moan Difference	Std. Bean Difference			
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Fixed, 95% CI	IV, Fixed, 95% Cl			
1.3.2 Bobath GAPS 2004	130	44	32	120	42	33	7.0%	0.231-0.26.0.771				
Subtotal (95% CI)			32			33	7.0%	0.23 [-0.26, 0.72]	-			
Heterogeneity: Not ap Test for overall effect	plicable Z = 0.827	P = 0.360										
TESCIOLOGIE BIECK.	2-0.82 (1 - 0.50)										
1.3.5 Cycling	TEO	361.7	13	74 8 8	226.8	4.7	7 696	0.101052.000				
Tian 2007	2.85 (1.42667468	40	2.575	0.50064062	40	8.3%	0.59 [0.14, 1.03]				
Subtotal (95% CI)			52			52	10.9%	0.49 [0.10, 0.88]	•			
Test for overall effect.	u.76,01= Z= 2.45 ($1.0^{-9} = 0.380;$ P = 0.01)	P = 0.9	1								
138558												
de Sousa 2016	43.1	29.2	19	36.B	32	20	4.2%	0.201-0.43.0.831				
Heckmann 1997	4.1	1.1	14	3.1	1.2	14	2.8%	0.84 [0.07, 1.62]				
Winchester 1983 Subtotal (95% CD	45.2	28.3	20	31.9	29.4	20	4.2%	0.45 [-0.18, 1.08]				
Heterogeneity: Chi*=	1.58, df=	2 (P = 0.45);	P= 0%					aves forms, areal	-			
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.30$ (P = 0.02)												
1.3.7 Mirror therapy + FES												
Lee 2018	6.55	3.08	14	4.08	3.01	13	2.7%	0.79[-0.00, 1.67]				
Subtotal (95% CI)	eliantia		14			13	2.7%	0.79 [-0.00, 1.57]				
Test for overall effect:	pricatie Z = 1.95 (P = 0.05)										
1.1.0 Mixed therapier		-										
An 2015	91.7	42.5	в	80.5	42.B	10	1.9%	0.251-0.69.1.18				
Subtotal (95% CI)			8			10	1,9%	0.25 [-0.69, 1.18]				
Heterogeneity: Not ap Test for overall effect	plicable Z=0.5Z/	P - 0 500										
Test of digital press.	2-0.02 (r - 0.00j										
1.3.10 Robotics	27			4.0		-	0.7%	1 2010 20 2 041				
Subtotal (95% CI)	27	D	- 4	12		5	0.7%	1.36 [-0.20, 2.91]				
Heterogeneity: Not ep	plicable											
Lest for overall effect.	2=1.710	P = 0.09j										
1.3.11 Task-specific	training											
Cooke 2010 Deep 1012	35.9	28.5	29	27.B 40.B	26.3	25	6.8% 4.4.1%	0.29 [-0.25, 0.83] 0.22 60 42, 0.671				
Gordon 2013	73.7	16.8	57	73.7	16.8	-69	12.8%	0.00[-0.36, 0.36]	_			
Kwakkei 1999*	68.2	26.8	28	46.2	24.8	34	6.8%	0.90 [0.38, 1.44]				
Ng 2007 Pang 2005	20.3	15 99 9	20	18.3	10.5	20	4.3%	0.14 [-0.48, 0.17] 0.2060.34, 0.70				
Tung 2010	21.5	6.7	18	24.7	9.1	16	3.4%	-0.39 [-1.09, 0.31]				
Yang 2005	50.6	15.B	24	37.5	9.6	24	4.6%	0.98 [0.38, 1.58]				
Heterogenetic Chille	16.44. df:	= 7 (P = 0.02)	200	7%		214	57.1%	0.27 [0.09, 0.44]	-			
Test for overall effect:	Z = 3.04 (P = 0.002										
1.3.12 Video games												
Lee 2012	3.2	0.8	20	3.2	0.8	20	4.4%	0.00[-0.82, 0.62]				
Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity biotion	alicabla		20			20	4,4%	0.00 [-0.62, 0.62]				
Test for overall effect.	Z = 0.00 (P = 1.00)										
1313 Water-based a	sercise											
Chu 2004	2.97	0.91	7	1.95	0.59	5	1.0%	1.17 [-0.11, 2.45]				
Subtotal (95% CI)			7			5	1.0%	1.17 [-0.11, 2.45]				
Test for overall effect.	Z=1.79 (P = 0.07										
13.15 Whole body site	braffen	-										
Tankisheva 2014	120.5	9.2	в	87	23.1	7	0.9%	1.72/0.37.3.061				
Tihanyi 2010	54.1	38.1	10	39.9	17.B	10	2.1%	0.46 [-0.43, 1.35]				
Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity Chille	1.74 -41-	1/8 = 0.125	16 P= 47			17	3.0%	0.84 [0.10, 1.58]				
Test for overall effect:	Z= 2.22 (P = 0.03	- 31	al.								
Total (96% CB			472			493	100.0%	0.34 (0.22, 0.47)	•			
Heterogeneity: ChP=	30.34, d f:	= 20 (P = 0.0	6); F=	34%			1001078	area forcet area!	<u> </u>			
Test for overall effect:	Z= 5.22 (P < 0.00001)							Favours [control] Favours [experimental]			
Test for subarnup diff	erences: s	cni*= 9.72_d	$T \equiv R / F$	= 0.42	11*=74%							

Figure 7. The effect of repetitive practice versus no intervention or sham on *lower limb* strength (n = 955). Effects are expressed as SMD (95% CI). *Means (SD) obtained from Cooke et al 2010.

Page 116 of 118

-											
		Mol	oility	Strength o extenso affected l	of the knee rs of the ower limb	the kneeStrength of keyof themuscles of the affectedwer limblower limb			of the knee rs of the lower limb	Spasticity of the ankle plantar flexors of the affected lower limb	
		(0 te	o 21)	(N	m)	(0 to 20)		(N	m)	(0 to 5)	
ID	Group	Week 0	Week 4	Week 0	Week 4	Week 0	Week 4	Week 0	Week 4	Week 0	Week 4
1	Con	3	12	30.64	34.81	6	6	96.78	79.72	2	0
2	Con	9	20	16.78	28.44	10	14	26.45	39.25	3	3
3	Con	12	19	86.36	130.37	8	8	125.37	133.04	2	0
4	Con	3	3	11.18	23.83	8	9	42.07	48.25	0	1
5	Con	3	6	17.92	12.23	3	3	30.15	49.20	0	1
6	Con	3	3	0.00	0.00	0	0	37.01	51.35	0	1
7	Con	13	18	32.68	42.01	14	13	40.91	56.02	0	0
8	Con	14	19	63.55	66.49	17	15	48.84	63.55	2	3
9	Con	3	3	9.53	19.59	6	8	59.84	66.46	0	0
10	Con	3	3	0.00	9.61	0	1	22.65	32.95	0	2
11	Con	3	3	8.34	12.99	7	9	26.97	42.90	2	1
12	Con	5	17	64.02	71.55	13	13	87.55	87.87	0	2
13	Con	6	11	38.83	57.90	12	11	82.37	84.18	0	2
14	Con	17	20	71.14	43.60	15	16	84.52	65.02	1	0
15	Con	3	7	22.75	38.68	2	6	51.19	60.58	0	2
16	Con	8	20	47.07	28.24	14	12	60.31	51.78	0	1
17	Con	6	19	51.78	76.20	8	13	94.44	83.26	2	2
18	Con	4	18	20.59	39.47	5	8	57.66	81.35	0	0
19	Con	3	4	0.00	0.00	0	0	71.86	81.91	0	2
20	Con	3	3	5.15	0.00	3	2	27.21	36.04	3	2
1	Exp	5	8	0.00	50.48	0	3	71.20	84.46	3	2
2	Exp	12	18	0.00	69.20	4	8	70.96	98.50	3	3
3	Exp	3	7	9.10	22.59	5	11	52.72	72.18	0	1
4	Exp	12	18	64.53	68.37	12	14	/6.61	/6.88	3	4
2	Exp	3	2	38.25	28.83	10	/	40.31	34.72	0	0
6	Exp	3	9	33.54	34.13	6	6	70.90	65.90	3	4
/	Exp	3	4	0.00	0.00	0	2	30.60	37.95	0	2
8	Exp	2	12	61.11	56.18	11	18	105.46	86.40	3	3
9	Exp	9	20	90.69	117.57	2	15	114.80	153.45	3	3
10	Exp	3	3	0.00	17.59	0	4	31.25	49.97	0	0
11	Exp	3	9	21.02	00.24		15	24.37	80.84	2	1
12	Exp	3	20	0.00	31.00	1	0	21.48	37.73	3	4
13	Exp	0	20	15.93	24.44	11	19	24.99	25.54	0	2
14	Exp	3	0	22.30	42.07	4	15	40.17	82.07	2	3
15	Exp	16	21	24.40	20.08	9	15	40.17	104.24	3	,
10	Exp	10	21	21.29	84.22 49.25	14	10	52.04	52.22	2	2
1/	Exp	2	18	31.28	48.33	2	12	90.61	92.33	2	2
18	Exp	3	,	4.41	2.00	7	3	26.01	82.38	,	2
19	Exp	5	. 7	61.12	35.02	12	15	86.02	61.12	2	
20	Exp	2	/	01.12	33.03	15	15	80.85	01.12	2	U

Appendix J Individual participant data for study two

Page 117 of 118

		Clinic impressi to-stand	Clinicians' mpression of sit- to-stand change Sit-to-stand ability Composite strength of key muscles of the affected lower limb				Gross limb ex stre	lower tension ngth	Ge Attain Sc	oal nment ale	Ranking of change in participants'ability to move from sitting to standing		
		(/15 p	oints)	(/6 pc	oints)	(/15 points)		(deg)		(/5 points)		(rank)	
ю	Group	Week 0	Week 2	Week 0	Week 2	Week 0 Week 2		Week 0	Week 2	Week 0	Week 2	Week 0	Week 2
2	Exp	NA	3.5	2	4	9	9	25	22.5	NA	0	NA	-4.5
5	Exp	NA	6	1	2	2	3	5	30	NA	-1	NA	-4.5
6	Exp	NA	4	2	2	7	5	27.5	30	NA	1	NA	-7
9	Exp	NA	1	1	1	5	0	5	12.5	NA	-2	NA	-2.5
10	Exp	NA	7	2	5	6	9	17.5	25	NA	2	NA	0
12	Exp	NA	4	2	3	7	10	17.5	22.5	NA	1	NA	-3
13	Exp	NA	6	2	6	11	13	25	45	NA	-1	NA	2.5
20	Exp	NA	4	5	5	4	6	17	27.5	NA	2	NA	1
23	Exp	NA	6	2	5	6	10	17.5	25	NA	1	NA	-2
24	Exp	NA	4.5	3	6	10	12	27.5	40	NA	2	NA	-2.5
25	Exp	NA	5	2	5	9	11	32.5	30	NA	2	NA	3
26	Exp	NA	5.5	2	3	10	10	17.5	30	NA	-1	NA	6
27	Exp	NA	7	4	6	13	14	65	77.5	NA	2	NA	0
28	Exp	NA	3.5	1	2	4	6	17.5	22.5	NA	0	NA	1.5
30	Exp	NA	6	2	3	0	2	2.5	17.5	NA	2	NA	3
1	Con	NA	-1	5	6	10	10	27.5	30	NA	0	NA	1
3	Con	NA	5	2	2	5	6	7.5	17.5	NA	0	NA	-1
4	Con	NA	6.5	3	5	6	5	20	20	NA	1	NA	-0.5
<u>_</u>	Con	NA	-1.5	1	1	3	0	12.5	10	NA	-2	NA	-0.5
8	Con	NA	3	5	0	0	9	40	42.5	NA	2	NA	-0.5
11	Con	NA	4	4	0	0	3	17.5	0	NA	-1	NA	3.5
14	Con	NA	0.5	4	0	9	9	12.5	12.5	NA	2	NA	-0.5
15	Con	NA	2.5			6	6	12.5	12.5	NA	-1	NA	0.3
17	Con	NA	2.5	1	2	11	14	17.5	27.5	NA	-1	NA	-1.5
18	Con	NA	2.5		5	10	14	37.5	37.5	NA	1	NA	1
10	Con	NA	4		6	10	12	37.5	40	NA	-1	NA	-3.5
21	Con	NA	6	1	2	5	12	10	20	NA	0	NA	-1.5
22	Con	NA	5	3	3	10	8	32.5	45	NA	0	NA	4.5
29	Con	NA	3	5	6	9	11	15	17.5	NA	0	NA	3

Appendix K Individual participant data for study three

Page 118 of 118